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Financial Highlights

In a sustained strong market for Platinum Group Metals (PGMs)  
we achieved:

Record EBIT up 141% to US$842 million 

Underlying earnings per share up 163% to 312.1 cents per share 

Strong improvement in cash generation with free cash flow of 
US$290 million (203.4 cents per share) 

Record mine production of 1,017,137 ounces of Platinum in concentrate and 
sales of 952,682 ounces of Platinum and 1,817,624 ounces of total PGMs 

First Platinum major to convert old order mining rights to new order mining 
rights 

Growth target raised to around 1.4 million ounces of Platinum in 2012 

Effective conversion of US$215.8 million convertible bond 

Total dividend declarations of US$1.00 per share, an increase of 39%  
(final dividend 55 cents per share)

•

–

–

–

•

•

•

•

•

Notes:
1 EBIT is operating profit which is defined as revenue and other operating expenses before net finance costs and before share of profit of 

associate and joint venture.
2 Underlying earnings per share are calculated on profit for the year excluding movements in the fair value of the embedded derivative 

associated with the convertible bond, exchange on tax balances, profit on the sale of Marikana houses, an adjustment to the interest 
capitalised in prior years and, for 2005, the effect of a change in the South African tax rate on the opening deferred tax balance and 
reorganisation costs as disclosed in note 3 to the accounts.

3 Financials for the year 2002 to 2004 are as prepared under UK GAAP. For 2005 and 2006 the financials are prepared under IFRS. Details of 
the nature of the changes under IFRS can be found in Note 35 to the Accounts in the Annual Report.

4 EBIT for 2002 to 2004 has been restated to exclude profit or loss from associate and joint venture consistent with IFRS.
5 Free cash flow is presented in the Financial Review.
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Financial Review

Introduction
The financial information presented for 2006 has been 
prepared on an IFRS basis for the first time. The comparative 
information for 2005 has been restated based on the 
accounting policies and adjustments as set out in detail in note 
35 to the accounts. 

Analysis	of	results
Income Statement
A comparison of the 2006 total operating profit with the prior 
year is set out below:

  $m

Total operating profit – 2005  350
Reorganisation cost – 2005  12
Underlying operating profit – 2005  362
Smelter insurance recovery – 2005  (22)
Price   579
Volume  37
Cost changes  (126)
Underlying operating profit – 2006  830
Sale of houses – 2006  12
Total operating profit – 2006  842

The 2005 total operating profit of $350 million was adversely 
impacted by reorganisation costs of $12 million however this 
was offset by a non-recurring insurance recovery relating to the 
2004 smelter incident. The key feature impacting profit in 2006 
has been a very strong market with the average price realised 
for the basket of metals sold at $30,916/kg up 55% on the prior 
year. Sales volumes of PGMs increased from 1,692,517 ounces 
to 1,817,624 ounces and revenue amounted to $1,855 million. 
After other cost changes of $126 million, which are explained in 
more detail below, the resulting underlying operating profit was 
$830 million up 129% on the prior year. This, when combined 
with a $12 million gain resulting from the sales of company 
owned housing, has resulted in a total operating profit for 2006 
of $842 million.

Other cost changes (increase) / decrease:

  $m

Safety, health, environment and community (‘SHEC’) (26)
Exploration and technical development  (14)
Inflation/other  (59)
Remuneration restructuring and skills retention  (18)
Plant running  (15)
Change of costing basis  (8)
Royalties  (6)
Depreciation and amortisation  (17)
Foreign exchange impact  37
  (126)

Given the strong market conditions, and to meet our 
obligations under our new order mining licence, the Group has 
chosen to invest $40 million by developing the business in a 
number of areas. We have invested some $26 million in SHEC 
projects to improve the safety, health and environment in which 
our employees work and to enhance the communities in which 
they live. We are pleased to have made significant reductions in 
our injury rate. We have also made substantial investments in 
mechanisation to develop our new generation platinum mines 
which will become operational in 2007 and furthermore we 
have increased our exploration funding. 

During 2006 inflationary pressures have typically added some 
7% to our cost base. This together with abnormal increases in 
raw materials and other costs has adversely impacted 
operating profit by $59 million. Furthermore, the booming 
mining sector has created strong competition for skilled 
resources. We have made significant changes in our 
remuneration policy during 2006. This has involved 
implementing skills retention programmes via share schemes 
and adjusting the level of bonuses. This approach has also 
seen the closure of the UK defined benefit pension scheme to 
new members which therefore limits the Group’s future 
exposure. 
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Plant running costs increased in the year. This was partly 
caused by running the smaller capacity (and higher cost) 
Pyromet furnaces during the period of the smelter repair, but 
also reflected the introduction of new plant to reduce our 
environmental impact. As part of our implementation of SAP 
we have moved from a weekly to monthly costing basis. This 
resulted in a one-off catch-up of $8 million in 2006. Royalty 
payments have increased by $6 million reflecting the profit 
growth in the year. Depreciation and amortisation costs were 
up $17 million which effectively reflected the full year effect of 
the Limpopo mine following our acquisition of Southern 
Platinum Corporation on 15 June 2005.

The C1 cost per PGM ounce sold net of by-product credits on 
own production from the Marikana operations amounted to 
R2,441 for 2006 compared with R2,243 for 2005, an increase 
of 8.8%. However, as the South African Rand depreciated 
against the US Dollar during the year by some 7% this resulted 
in an increase in US$ unit costs of 2%. Further details of unit 
costs analysis can be found in the operating statistics table 
within the Annual Review.

Net finance costs in 2006 were $228 million compared with 
$34 million in 2005. In 2006 this includes a $227 million charge 
for the fair value movement of the embedded derivative in the 
convertible bond. Borrowing levels reduced towards the end of 
the year although interest rates on average were higher than in 
the previous year. Interest cover remained strong at 23.1 times 
(2005 – 15.1 times).

Profit before tax amounted to $633 million in 2006  
compared with $319 million in 2005. Included in 2006 was  
the $227 million fair value adjustment on the convertible  
bond noted above. 

The 2006 tax charge was $202 million compared with $118 
million in 2005. The corporate tax rate in South Africa has 
remained at 29% during the year. The effective tax rate, 
excluding the effects of exchange, and special items was 34% 
compared with 38% last year mainly due to the utilisation of 
brought forward losses in Limpopo. The overall tax charge 
includes a credit of $67 million on the translation adjustment of 
the deferred tax balance resulting from the 22% depreciation of 
the closing Rand/$ exchange rates at the respective year ends.

Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders amounted 
to $313 million (2005 – $158 million) and earnings per share 
were 219.5 cents compared with 111.5 cents in 2005. 
Underlying earnings per share, being earnings excluding 
special items, amounted to 312.1 cents (2005 – 118.5 cents). 

Balance sheet
Equity interests were $1,089 million at 30 September 2006 
compared with $838 million at 30 September 2005 principally 
reflecting the profit attributable to equity shareholders of 
Lonmin Plc of $313 million offset by dividends declared of 
$124 million and a fair value uplift in our investment in Platmin 
of $36 million.

Dividends are now recorded on a cash basis under IFRS and 
thus the $124 million includes $60 million for the 2005 final and 
$64 million for the 2006 interims.

Southern Platinum Corporation was acquired on 15 June 2005, 
with a compulsory acquisition of the remaining shares on 28 
July 2005. During the current financial year the 8.5% minority 
interest in Limpopo was acquired for $13 million. The fair value 
assessment on the acquisition of Southern Platinum 
Corporation was finalised during the year. This resulted in an 
allocation of $60 million to goodwill and a restatement of the 
relevant opening balances in accordance with IFRS.

Net debt amounted to $458 million at 30 September 2006 with 
the main components being the convertible bonds of $216 
million and bank loans of $288 million. Gearing was 27% 
compared with 41% at 30 September 2005, calculated on net 
borrowings attributable to the Group divided by those 
attributable net borrowings and the equity interests 
outstanding at the balance sheet date.

As at 15 November 2006 Lonmin Plc has given notice to force 
redemption of all outstanding convertible bonds at their 
principal amount. Given the expected differential between 
prevailing share prices and the conversion price of £12.33 it is 
expected that this will lead to the issue of 10,576,944 shares 
subsequent to the balance sheet date and a reduction in 
non-current financial liabilities of $211 million. This will further 
strengthen the Group balance sheet. 
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Financial Review
continued

Cash flow
The following table summarises the main components of the cash flow during the year:

       2006 2005
       Total Total
       $m $m

Cash flow from operations        722 377
Interest and finance costs       (31) (27)
Tax       (185) (79)
Trading cash flow       506 271
Capital expenditure       (182) (190)
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale     28 –
Dividends received from associate      – 2
Dividends paid to minority       (62) (27)
Free cash flow       290 56
Acquisitions*       (14) (212)
Financial investments       (36) 1
Shares issued       15 6
Equity dividends paid       (124) (102)
Cash inflow/(outflow)       131 (251)
Opening net debt       (585) (272)
Exchange       (4) (2)
Net debt in subsidiaries acquired      – (60)
Closing net debt       (458) (585)
Trading cash flow (cents per share)       354.9c 191.2c
Free cash flow (cents per share)       203.4c 39.5c

* 2005 comparative includes $15 million on intangible non-current assets acquired in 2005.

Cash flow from operations was $722 million during 2006, a 92% increase on last year’s figure of $377 million. Included was an 
outflow on working capital of $202 million compared with an outflow of $44 million last year. This was due to a build up in debtors 
resulting from price increases and the high volume of concentrate sales in the last quarter of the year which have significantly longer 
credit terms than spot metal sales. This will be reversed in the first half of the new financial year. After interest and finance costs of 
$31 million and tax payments of $185 million, trading cash flow amounted to $506 million in 2006 against $271 million in 2005, with 
trading cash flow per share of 354.9 cents in 2006 against 191.2 cents in 2005.

Capital expenditure of $182 million was incurred during the year, broadly in line with the prior year. Associate and minority dividends 
received and paid represented dividends from and to Incwala. Free cash flow amounted to $290 million with free cash flow per 
share at 203.4 cents (2005 – 39.5 cents). Acquisitions of $14 million in 2006 principally represented the buyout cost of the minority 
interest in Limpopo at $13 million. Financial investments primarily represented the purchase of a 22% stake in Platmin. After 
accounting for shares issued on the exercise of share options of $15 million and equity dividends paid of $124 million, the cash 
inflow was $131 million during 2006 and net debt amounted to $458 million at 30 September 2006.

Dividends
As dividends are now accounted for on a cash basis under IFRS the dividend shown in the accounts represents the 2005 final of 
42 cents and the 2006 interim of 45 cents making a total of 87 cents for the year. In addition the Board recommends a final dividend 
of 55.0 cents (2005 – 42.0 cents).

Financial	risk	management
The Group’s functional currency remains the US Dollar and the share capital of the Company is based in US Dollars.

The Group’s business is mining and it does not undertake trading activity in financial instruments. 
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Interest rate risk
Monetary assets and liabilities are subject to the risk of movements in interest rates. The borrowings at 30 September 2006 
represented $211 million of long-term borrowings in the form of US Dollar 3.75% convertible bonds due 2008 in the UK. In South 
Africa, a long-term bank loan of $288 million was drawn together with an overdraft of $18 million. Cash deposits represented 
balances of $47 million in the UK and $14 million in South Africa. 

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk measures the risk that the Group may not be able to meet its liabilities as they fall due and, therefore, its ability to 
continue trading. The Group’s policy on overall liquidity is to ensure that there are sufficient committed facilities in place which, 
when combined with available cash resources, are sufficient to meet the funding requirements in the foreseeable future. At the 
2006 year end, the Group had $1,411 million of committed facilities in place, of which $499 million were drawn down. 

Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk arises when movements in exchange rates, particularly the US Dollar against the South African Rand, affect 
the transactions the Group enters into, reported profits and net assets. Most of the Group’s operations are based in South Africa 
and the majority of the revenue stream is in US Dollars. However, the bulk of the Group’s costs, and taxes, are Rand driven. Most of 
the cash held in South Africa is in US Dollars and is normally remitted to the UK on a regular basis. Short-term working capital 
facilities required in South Africa are drawn primarily in US Dollars. 

Fluctuations in the Rand to US Dollar exchange rate can have a significant impact on the Group’s results. A strengthening of the 
Rand against the US Dollar has an adverse effect on profits due to the majority of costs being denominated in Rand. The 
approximate effect on the Group’s results of a 10% movement in the Rand to US Dollar 2006 year average exchange rate would be 
as follows:

EBIT        ± $87m
Profit for the year        ± $51m
EPS (cents)        ± 35.8c

These sensitivities are based on 2006 prices, costs and volumes and assume all other variables remain constant. They are 
estimated calculations only.

Commodity price risk
Commodities trade on worldwide commodities markets and are subject to price fluctuations. Therefore, the prices obtained are 
dependent upon the prevailing market prices. Any change in prices will have a direct effect on the Group’s trading results. Forward 
sales are undertaken where the Board determines that it is in the Group’s interest to secure a proportion of future cash flows. The 
Group has undertaken a limited number of forwards on Nickel and Copper by-product sales as disclosed in note 21 to the financial 
statements.

The approximate effects on the Group’s results of a 10% movement in the 2006 year average market prices for platinum (Pt), 
palladium (Pd) and rhodium (Rh) would be as follows:

      Pt  Pd Rh

EBIT      ± $103m ± $13m ± $53m
Profit for the year      ± $60m ± $8m ± $31m
EPS (cents)      ± 42.1c ± 5.4c ± 21.5c

The above sensitivities are based on 2006 volumes and assume all other variables remain constant. They are estimated  
calculations only.

John	Robinson
Chief Financial Officer
14 November 2006
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Principal	activities	of	the	Group
The principal activities of the Group during the year continued  
to be mining, refining and marketing of platinum group metals. 
Analyses of revenue, operating profit, principal activities and 
geographical origins appear in note 2 to the accounts and a  
list of the principal subsidiary undertakings, indicating their  
main activities, appears in note 36. This Directors’ Report  
should be read in conjunction with the chairman’s statement,  
the Chief Executive’s Review and the Review of Operations, 
each contained within the separately published Annual Review, 
which together give a fair review of historic and likely future 
developments in the business of the Company and the principal 
trading operations of the Group. There were no material changes 
from 30 September 2006 to the date of this report.

Lonmin Plc operates in South Africa as a branch, which is 
registered in that country as an overseas company, in addition 
to the business conducted by its subsidiary undertakings.

Scheme	of	arrangement	to	acquire	Messina	Limited	
minority	shareholding
As a result of the Company’s acquisition of Southern Platinum 
Corp. in July 2005, the Company acquired a 91.5% interest in 
Messina Limited, a company incorporated and listed in South 
Africa which operates PGM mines in the Limpopo province. 
The Company made a cash offer in September 2005 of R33.00 
per share for the outstanding shares in Messina, following 
which the Company implemented a scheme of arrangement  
on 9 December 2005 to acquire all the Messina shares not 
held by the Company or its subsidiaries. The offer price was 
increased to R45.00 per Messina share. The scheme of 
arrangement was approved by 88.1% of Messina minority 
shareholders on 16 January 2006 and was subsequently 
sanctioned by the High Court of South Africa on 24 January 
2006. Messina Limited was delisted from the JSE on 
7 February 2006. 

Business	Review	and	Group	Results
The Directors present a Business Review, as required by 
Section 234ZZB of the Companies Act 1985. This comprises:

The sections of the Chairman’s Statement (on pages 2 and 
3 of the Annual Review) entitled strategy, transformation and 
empowerment and markets;
The Chief Executive’s Review on pages 4 to 7 of the  
Annual Review.
The Review of Operations on pages 10 to 19 of the  
Annual Review;
The key performance indicators on page 23 of the Annual 
Review together with the Operational Statistics and 
Summary Financials on pages 28 to 29 and 30 to 31 
(respectively) of the Annual Review;
The Financial review on pages 2 to 5 of this Annual Report
The discussion of Principal Risks and Uncertainties on 
pages 12 to 14 of this Annual Report.

•

•

•

•

•
•

Dividends
The Board recommends a net final dividend of 55 US cents per 
share to be paid, subject to approval by shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting, on 9 Febuary 2007 to shareholders 
on the registers at the close of business on 12 January 2007. 
With the net interim dividend of 45 US cents paid on 4 August 
2006, this would make a total dividend for the year of $1 per 
share (2005 – 72 US cents).

Directors’	responsibilities
A statement of the Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the 
preparation of financial statements is given in the Corporate 
Governance section within this Annual Report.

Accounting	policies
The Lonmin Group financial statements are presented in 
accordance with adopted International Financial Reporting 
Standards. As the Group’s functional currency is the US Dollar, 
this was also adopted as the Group’s reporting currency in 
1998.

Share	capital	and	reserves
The authorised and issued share capital of the Company at 
30 September 2006 and matters relating thereto is set out  
in note 26 to the accounts. The total share capital and reserves 
of the Group amounted to $1,089 million at 30 September 
2006. This compares with $838 million at 30 September 2005 
(as restated).

At the Annual General Meeting held on 26 January 2006, 
shareholders approved an authority for the Company to make 
market purchases of its own shares, up to a maximum of 
14,200,000 shares (being approximately 10% of the issued 
share capital), at prices not less than the nominal value of each 
share (being $1) and not exceeding 105% of the average mid-
market price for the preceding five business days. The 
Company made no purchases of its own shares during the 
year, and no shares were acquired by forfeiture or surrender or 
made subject to a lien or charge.

During the year, the Company allotted 850,350 ordinary shares 
of $1 each, for cash, following the exercise of options granted 
under the Company’s savings-related and executive share 
option schemes and the conversion of the Company’s 
convertible bonds.

Resolutions will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting seeking shareholders’ consent to the 
allotment of equity securities, a limited dis-application of the 
statutory pre-emption rights and an authority for the Company 
to make market purchases of its own shares. Further details 
are set out in the circular accompanying this document.

Directorate
The present Board of the Company and biographical details 
are set out on pages 26 and 27 of the Annual Review. All those 
named held office throughout the year.

Directors’ Report
for the year ended 30 September 2006
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At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting Brad Mills, Ian 
Farmer and Peter Godsoe retire by rotation, as does Roger 
Phillimore who is now subject to annual re-election having 
already served three three-year terms as a Director. Being 
eligible, each offers himself for re-election. The Board has 
carried out formal performance evaluations of all the Directors 
seeking re-election and has concluded that all of the Directors 
reviewed are effective and demonstrates commitment to his role. 
Further information on those seeking re-election is contained 
in the Annual General Meeting circular accompanying this 
document, and the Directors’ biographies in the Annual Review. 

Directors’	interests
No Director had at any time during the year a material interest 
in any contract of significance in relation to the Company’s 
business. The interests of the Directors who held office at the 
end of the year are recorded in the Company’s Register of 
Directors’ Share and Debenture Interests and are shown in 
the Remuneration Committee Report on pages 28 and 29. 
No Director held any interests in the convertible bonds issued 
by the Company, or any beneficial interests in the share capital 
of any other Group company.

Substantial	shareholdings
The Company had been notified of the following interests in 3% 
or more of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital up to 
14 November 2006:

  Percentage of
  the Company’s
 Number  issued share
 of shares capital*

Prudential plc and group companies 21,431,219  15.06
Capital Group companies 10,232,561 7.10
Zurich Financial Services and  
 Group companies 6,979,850 4.91
Lansdowne Partners Limited 5,755,746 4.00
Morgan Stanley Securities Limited 4,452,815 3.09
  
* Percentages as at date of notification  

Charitable	and	political	donations
No political donations were made during the year. Charitable 
donations made by the Group during the year in the United 
Kingdom amounted to £15,060 ($27,459) (2005 – £41,566 
($76,452)). The Group provides funding to the Lonmin 
Development Trust, through which a number of social welfare 
and community development issues are addressed. This 
funding is a fixed percentage of local South African profits 
averaged over the three preceding years, and therefore varies 
with the Group’s historic profitability. The Group’s contributions 
for the year amounted to R21 million ($3.1 million) (2005 – 
R42.4 million ($6.8 million)). A fuller explanation of this 
expenditure is contained in Lonmin’s Sustainable Development 
Report for the year ended 30 September 2006 available from 
the Company Secretary, or which can be downloaded from the 
Company’s website.

The Group now focuses its social welfare efforts in South 
Africa through the Lonmin Development Trust. 

Research	and	development
Group companies continue to be actively involved in research 
and development projects in the areas of mineral extraction 
and refining. Further information is given in the Review of 
Operations contained in the Annual Review.

Policy	on	the	payment	of	creditors
The Company complies with, and has registered its support of, 
the Better Payment Practice Code, available from the Better 
Payment Practice Group website, www.payontime.co.uk. The 
Company has a consistent policy and practice of paying its bills 
in accordance with contracts by settling the terms of payment 
with its suppliers when agreeing the terms of each transaction, 
either by accepting suppliers’ standard terms of payment or by 
proposing alternative terms, but in either case then abiding by 
the agreed payment terms. Trade creditors of the Company at 
30 September 2006 represented 9 days (2005 – 4 days) of 
annual purchases.

Annual	General	Meeting
The 2007 Annual General Meeting will be held at 11.00am on 
Thursday 25 January 2007 at the QEII Conference Centre, 
Broad Sanctuary, Westminster, London SW1P 3EE. A separate 
circular containing the Notice of Meeting, together with an 
explanation of the items of special business, is enclosed with 
this Annual Report.

Auditors
A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG Audit Plc as 
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the Annual 
General Meeting.

By order of the Board 

Rob	Bellhouse	
Company Secretary
14 November 2006

Lonmin Plc
4 Grosvenor Place
London SW1X 7YL
Registered in England
Number 103002
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Corporate Governance

The	Combined	Code
The Board is fully committed to the highest standards of 
corporate governance, which it believes creates the basis of 
business integrity needed to deliver robust and sustainable 
business results. This report, together with the Directors’ 
Report, Remuneration Committee Report, Audit Committee 
Report and the Nomination Committee Report, has been 
prepared by reference to The Combined Code on Corporate 
Governance published by the Financial Reporting Council in 
July 2003. During the year to 30 September 2006 and to the 
date of this report, the Company has in all respects complied 
with the provisions of section 1 of the Combined Code.

The purpose of this report is to explain how the Company has 
applied the principles of good governance so far as these 
relate to listed companies. These cover four subject areas:

Directors.
Directors’ remuneration.
Accountability and audit.
Relations with shareholders.

Directors
The Board
The Company is led and controlled by the Board of Directors. 
The Board currently has nine members, comprising an 
independent non-executive Chairman, five non-executive 
Directors, all of whom the Board judges to be independent, 
and three executive Directors.

Details of the individuals’ skills and experience are contained in 
the Directors’ biographies on pages 26 and 27 of the Annual 
Review. 

The Board meets regularly, normally on six occasions during 
the year and more frequently if necessary, including two 
meetings in South Africa. The Board provides the 
entrepreneurial leadership, direction and control of the 
Company; is the custodian of the Company’s strategic aims, 
vision and values; and ensures that the necessary financial and 
human resources are, and will continue to be, in place to 
enable the Company to meet its objectives. It has a formal 
schedule of matters reserved for its decision, the most material 
of which fall into the key areas listed below:

Strategy and management.
Financial reporting and control.
Social, environmental and ethical matters.
Contracts and financial commitments.
External communications.
Corporate governance.
Remuneration.
Board composition and membership.

Whilst all Directors have equal responsibility in law for 
managing the Company’s affairs, it is the role of executive 
management to run the business within the parameters laid 
down by the Board and to produce clear, accurate and timely 
reports to enable the Board to assess management’s 

•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

performance. The executives make full use of the expertise and 
experience that the non-executive Directors bring from their 
business careers. The Chairman routinely holds discussions 
with non-executive Directors without the executive Directors 
being present. 

All Directors freely express their views and may ask that these 
be recorded in the minutes where appropriate. The Company 
maintains, at its expense, a directors’ and officers’ liability 
insurance policy to afford an indemnity in certain 
circumstances for the benefit of Directors and other Group 
personnel. The insurance policy does not provide cover where 
the Director or officer has acted fraudulently or dishonestly.

In 1988, the then Board of the Company put in place 
indemnities to protect all past, present and future officers of the 
Company from all costs and expenses incurred in the defence 
of any civil or criminal procedings in which judgement is given 
in their favour or the proceedings are otherwise disposed of 
without a finding of fault or the successful application to court 
for relief from liability, to the fullest extent permitted by law. 
These indemnities remain in full force and effect.

Chairman and Chief Executive
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive are clearly separated 
and set out in writing. The Chairman, who is an independent 
Director, is responsible for leadership of the Board, ensuring its 
effectiveness and setting its agenda, and for ensuring that there 
is effective communication with all shareholders. The Chairman 
also facilitates the effective contribution of all Directors, and 
ensures that there is a constructive relationship between the 
executive and non-executive Directors. The role of the Chief 
Executive is to provide leadership to the executive team in 
running the business and to develop proposals for the Board to 
consider in all areas reserved for its judgement.

Board balance and independence
The Board believes that it has sufficient members to contain a 
balance of experience and skills, but is not so large as to be 
unwieldy. The quality of the individual Directors and the 
balance of the Board’s composition ensures the Board’s 
effectiveness with no one individual or group of individuals 
being able to dominate the decision taking. The Board keeps 
the membership of its committees under review, to ensure 
gradual refreshing of skills and experience. It is satisfied that all 
Directors have sufficient time to devote to their roles and that it 
is not placing undue reliance on key individuals.

Sir John Craven and Roger Phillimore have each served on the 
Board for a period of more than nine years. The Combined 
Code suggests (but does not explicitly state) that tenure beyond 
nine years may indicate that those individuals may no longer be 
seen as independent. The Board believes that independence is 
a state of mind and cannot be measured objectively. It is fully 
satisfied that both individuals and the other non-executive 
Directors demonstrate complete independence in character, 
judgement and action in fulfilling their duties and the Board 



www.lonmin.com09	 Lonmin	Plc Annual Report 2006

Job:	 7315_LONMIN_REP_front_AW.indd	 Proof:	 10	 Proof Read by:
Operator:	Dave	 Date:	 23/11/2006	
Server:	 studio	1	 Set-up:	 Rob	 First	Read/Revisons

resolved unanimously to offer fourth terms in office to both Directors. The Deputy Chairman, Roger Phillimore, in his capacity as 
Senior Independent Director, is available to shareholders if they have concerns which contact through the normal channels has failed 
to resolve, or for which such contact would be inappropriate.

The board performance evaluation process is designed to identify whether the Board possesses the relevant skills, knowledge and 
experience to fulfil its mandate, so enabling it to manage succession issues. 

Appointments to the Board
To ensure a formal, rigorous and transparent procedure for the appointment of new directors to the Board, a Nomination 
Committee has been empowered. Its work is more fully described in its report on page 34. Appointments are made on merit and 
against objective criteria. In the case of candidates for non-executive directorships, care is taken to ascertain whether they have 
sufficient time available to meet their Board and, where relevant, committee responsibilities. As part of this process, candidates 
disclose all other time commitments and, on appointment, undertake to inform the Board of any changes. The terms and conditions 
of appointment of non-executive Directors are available for public inspection, and a sample letter of appointment is provided on the 
Company’s website. 

Board Committees
The Board has established four committees and provides sufficient resources to enable them to undertake their duties. 
Membership of these committees during the year to 30 September 2006 and to the date of this report is shown below.

     Remuneration Audit Nomination Risk & SHEC1

Non-executive Directors  
Sir John Craven      Member2 
Peter Godsoe    Member  Member 
Sivi Gounden       Chairman3

Michael Hartnall    Member Chairman  Member
Roger Phillimore    Chairman Member Chairman 
Karen de Segundo     Member 
Executive Director  
Brad Mills       Member3

 
1 The Risk & SHEC Committee comprises a number of senior managers in addition to those noted above
2 Member from 9 November 2005
3 From 10 November 2006. Prior to this date the committee was chaired by Mr Mills.

Information and professional development
The Board is supplied with regular and timely information in a form and of a quality that enables it to discharge its duties. 
All Directors are encouraged to make further enquiries as they feel appropriate of the executive Directors or management. Certain 
of the executive Directors are also directors of the principal operating subsidiaries, which provides them with further insight into the 
affairs of the Group. The Chairman ensures that all Directors continually update their skills and knowledge, and develop the 
familiarity with the Company’s operations needed to fulfil their role. The Company provides the necessary resources for developing 
and updating all Directors’ knowledge and capabilities, both on appointment and subsequently as necessary. This includes a full, 
formal and tailored induction programme, briefings on the legal, regulatory, financial and competitive environments in which the 
Company operates and, when appropriate, the opportunity of meeting a range of major shareholders and external advisors. There 
is a procedure in place for Directors to take independent professional advice, if they judge this to be necessary, at the Company’s 
expense. In addition, Board committees are provided with sufficient resources, plus the power to co-opt such additional support as 
they may require from time to time, to undertake their duties. All Directors have access to the services of the Company Secretary, 
who is responsible for information flows to the Board, facilitating induction and assisting with professional development as required, 
ensuring compliance with Board procedure and applicable laws and regulation and advising the Board on corporate governance 
matters. The appointment or removal of the Company Secretary is a Board decision.

Performance evaluation
The Board has evaluated its own performance, that of the Board committees and of individual Directors. The review comprised 
informal contacts with individual Board members initiated by the Chairman throughout the year, and a formal session of the full 
Board at which individual Directors led the Board through a tailor-made questionnaire. The purpose of the evaluation was to assess 
the effectiveness of the Board process, information flow, Board composition and whether each Director continued to contribute 
effectively and demonstrate commitment to their role. There were no items arising from the review on which the Board felt the 
Chairman should act.
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The Board met during the year under the chairmanship of the 
Senior Independent Director, without the Chairman being 
present, to assess the effectiveness of the Chairman. The 
unanimous conclusion was that the Chairman was fully 
committed to Lonmin and was effective in the role.

Succession planning
The Board formally reviews succession plans for all key 
management roles including executive directorships, on an 
annual basis. The purpose of this is twofold – firstly, to mitigate 
the risk of key roles not having one or more identified 
successors and secondly, to review potential development 
opportunitiess and career plans for talented individuals.
 
Attendance at Board meetings
The non-executive Directors make themselves available to 
management whenever required and there are numerous 
regular contacts outside the Board meeting schedule. The 
Board met formally on six occasions during the year. 
Attendance at these meetings was as follows:

 Number of 
  meetings held Number of
 during time meetings 
Director in office attended

Sir John Craven 6 6
Ian Farmer 6 6
Peter Godsoe 6 6
Michael Hartnall 6 6
Brad Mills 6 6
Roger Phillimore 6 6
John Robinson 6 6
Karen de Segundo 6 6
Sivi Gounden 6 6

In addition, a further nine ad hoc meetings were held to issue 
formal approvals, or deal with other matters of a routine or 
administrative nature, which did not require attendance of the 
full Board.

Re-election of Directors
All Directors are required by the Company’s Articles of 
Association to submit themselves to shareholders for re-
election after first appointment and thereafter by rotation at 
least once every three years. Sufficient biographical and other 
information (including, in the case of a non-executive Director 
seeking re-election, a statement as to their continued 
effectiveness and commitment) is provided to enable 
shareholders to make an informed decision. 

Directors’	remuneration
While the Board is ultimately responsible for Directors’ 
remuneration, the Remuneration Committee, consisting solely  
of independent non-executive Directors, is responsible for 

determining the remuneration and conditions of employment  
of executive Directors and senior executives. A report on 
Directors’ remuneration, including a more detailed description 
of the role and activities of the Remuneration Committee is set 
out on pages 15 to 30.

Accountability	and	audit
Directors’ responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report 
(including a Directors’ Report, Directors’ Remuneration Report 
and Corporate Governance Statement) and the group and 
parent company financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare group and 
parent company financial statements for each financial year. 
Under that law they are required to prepare the group financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and 
applicable law and they have elected to prepare the parent 
company financial statements in accordance with UK 
Accounting Standards and applicable law (UK Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice). 

The parent company financial statements are required to give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the parent company.

In preparing each of the group and parent company financial 
statements, the Directors are required to:

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently; 
make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent; 
for the group financial statements, state whether they have 
been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the 
EU; 
for the parent company financial statements, state whether 
applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, 
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained 
in the parent company financial statements; and 
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the group and the 
parent company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the parent company and enable them to 
ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies 
Act 1985. They have general responsibility for taking such steps 
as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the 
group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity 
of the corporate and financial information included on the 
company’s website. Legislation in the UK governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may 
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

•

•

•

•

•

Corporate Governance
continued
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Disclosure of information to auditors
As required under Section 234ZA of the Companies Act 1985, 
so far as each current Director is aware, there is no information 
relevant to the audit of which the Company’s auditors are 
unaware, and each Director has taken all the steps that he or 
she ought to have taken as a Director to make himself or 
herself aware of any such information and to ensure that the 
Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

Directors’ approach
The Board’s objective is to present a balanced and 
understandable assessment of the Company’s position and 
prospects, particularly in the Annual Review, Interim Report 
and other published documents and reports to regulators. 
The Board has established an Audit Committee to assist with 
this obligation. A report from the Audit Committee describing 
its work fully is set out on pages 31 to 33.

Going concern
The Directors consider that the Group has adequate resources 
to continue operating for the foreseeable future, and that it is 
therefore appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the financial statements. The Directors have satisfied 
themselves that the Group is in a sound financial position and 
that it has access to sufficient borrowing facilities to meet the 
Group’s foreseeable cash requirements.

Internal control
The Company has complied and continues to comply with the 
provisions of the Combined Code on internal controls, and the 
relevant parts of the Turnbull and Smith guidance. There is an 
ongoing process in place for identifying, evaluating and 
managing the significant risks facing the Group that has been 
in place throughout the year under review and to the date of 
approval of the accounts. This process has been reviewed 
regularly by the audit committee and the board, and accords 
with the guidance appended to the Code.

For the avoidance of doubt, while the Board has overall 
responsibility for the Company’s system of internal control, 
management is responsible for implementing agreed Board 
policies. Systems of internal control can only be designed to 
manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve the 
business objectives, and cannot provide absolute assurance 
against material misstatement or loss. The Company has an 
internal audit function which, to maintain independence and 
objectivity, is outsourced to an external provider. 

The Board is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control, including financial, operational and 
compliance controls and systems for the identification and 
management of risk, and has (with the assistance of the Audit 

Committee) undertaken such a review as part of the process  
of compiling this report. Whilst the Audit Committee routinely 
meets with both the internal and external auditors and 
discusses matters of internal control, it also performed (on 
behalf of the Board) a specific review of the internal control 
environment following the year end. This included reviewing the 
work of the numerous external assurance providers 
responsible for assessing the business and its control 
environment and considering progress made by management 
in mitigating the key risks facing the Group. This supplements 
all the other management reporting and discussion of risk and 
reports provided to the Audit Committee by the external 
auditors and other specialist advisors by way of combined 
assurance on the Group’s risk and control environments. 
Action has been, or is being, taken where necessary to remedy 
any significant failings and weaknesses identified in the review 
of effectiveness of the internal control system. 

Relations	with	shareholders
The Combined Code encourages a dialogue with institutional 
shareholders based on the mutual understanding of objectives. 
The Directors have regular dialogue with institutional 
shareholders, where they believe this to be in the interests of 
shareholders generally. Detailed feedback from these visits is 
shared with the Board, and a summary of the views expressed 
is presented to the next Board meeting. In addition, the 
Chairman routinely offers key shareholders the opportunity of 
meetings with either himself or the Senior Independent Director 
to discuss governance, strategy or any other matters 
shareholders wish to raise. Copies of analysts’ notes on the 
Company are circulated to all Directors and senior executives, 
as are summaries of analysts’ opinions collected anonymously 
by the Company’s financial PR advisors. The Combined Code 
urges boards to use the annual general meeting to 
communicate with private investors and to encourage their 
participation, as well as offering some detailed guidance on 
procedure in connection with annual general meetings. The 
Board has followed these particular principles for many years. 
We give shareholders the opportunity to vote on every 
substantially different issue by proposing separate resolutions 
and use electronic poll voting on all resolutions. This enables 
the votes of all shareholders to be taken into account, whether 
they are able to attend the meeting or not, as well as providing 
a more discreet and democratic method of voting at the 
meeting. In recognition of the needs of private shareholders, 
the Company’s website contains a range of investor relations 
materials, including up-to-date information on the Group’s 
activities, copies of all presentation materials given to 
institutional investors and further explanation of the matters 
contained in the annual reporting documents. 

This report was approved by the Board on 14 November 2006.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Introduction
Risk is an inevitable facet of business. Lonmin faces many risks 
to the delivery of its intended business outcomes. Lonmin has 
a formal process that identifies and reviews risks and devises 
mitigation plans to address the known risks, with progress 
against these action plans being reviewed regularly. The 
Company’s strategy takes into account these known risks, but 
risks will exist of which we are currently unaware. As required 
by law, there is a discussion below of the principal risks and 
uncertainties faced by the Group based on our current 
understanding, but readers should be aware that this is not an 
exhaustive list, and new risks may emerge or the severity or 
probability of the occurrence of known risks may change from 
time to time.

Risks	and	uncertainties	specific	to	Lonmin
Strategic risk – the Board of the Company has adopted its 
present strategy as it believes it is the one most likely to add 
the greatest value for shareholders and other stakeholders. 
The strategy is a product of our current understanding of the 
balance between supply and demand for Platinum Group 
Metals (PGMs), the implications of this for the pricing of the 
individual metals in the future, and the risk of successfully 
executing the strategy. It is possible that, with time, factors 
become known that indicate that the strategy currently being 
pursued is not the most efficacious and that alternative 
strategies may have been more appropriate.

Strategy execution risk – the Group has set stretching targets 
for the organic growth of its operations and for its growth 
generally. This will necessitate considerable capital investment, 
both to secure the resources and to build out mines and 
associated metallurgical processing capacity. The Group’s 
existing operations will require continued capital expenditure 
both to maintain and expand above the current level of 
production. While the Group enjoys excellent relationships with 
its lenders and is currently able to support the level of debt it 
plans to carry, there is a risk that this changes in the future. In 
addition, the opportunity to acquire new resources that will 
provide the increased levels of production targeted by the 
Company may not arise, or may be priced at such a level that 
the Company decides not to pursue these. There is inherent 
uncertainty in any forecast, and therefore there will be 
uncertainty that forecast operational performance will be 
achieved. This may be due to changes in project execution risk 
that could result in high costs and delays. The Group is also 
leading the industry in terms of its commitment to 
mechanisation and automation. While well understood in the 
mining industry globally, the PGM sector in South Africa has 
not tended to adopt such strategies and there is inevitably risk 
associated with pioneering any new operational methodology. 
Finally, all of the expansion envisaged by the Group will require 
additional skilled people, at all levels of the organisation. In view 
of the global commodities boom, there is a significant shortage 
of skills in our industry and severe competition to secure the 
best people. There is therefore a risk that the Group may not 
be able to attract and retain the skilled people it needs to 
execute its strategy.

Adequate ore reserves and resources – in order to access 
the ore body, shafts need to be sunk and all of the underground 
infrastructure built ahead of time. This work is generically 
referred to as ‘development’ and requires considerable capital 
investment to access ore reserves, the quality of which is based 
on geological estimates. There is therefore risk associated with 
the variability in any ore body such as the Bushveld Igneous 
Complex, and while we have significant experience of our ore 
body, and have the benefit of a relatively constant ore body 
thickness and grade, there is no absolute assurance that we will 
not encounter variability in future. The Group’s reserve 
estimates take into account actual exploration and production 
results, depletion, new information on geology and fluctuations 
in production, operating and other costs and economic 
parameters such as platinum price. As a control, the Group 
undertakes an annual audit of ore reserves by a competent 
person working to globally accepted standards, with 
independent confirmation occurring in every alternate year. 
These factors could result in reductions in its ore reserve and 
resource estimates, which could impact on our life of mine 
plans and consequently on the net present value of the Group.

Risks of disruption to production – while all mining 
companies are exposed to the risk of disruption to production 
(see the description on mining sector risks), there may well be 
risk factors specific to Lonmin that cause such interruptions  
to occur. The Group suffered explosions at its main smelter in 
December 2002 and November 2004 and while the method  
of operation of this critical bottleneck plant has been materially 
altered since that time and there is ongoing investment in 
alternative smelting capacity, the risk of further incidents 
cannot be ruled out. The smelter and associated base and 
precious metal refineries represent a critical bottleneck in the 
Group’s processing capabilities with any material interruption 
to production at these sites having a material impact on the 
overall performance of the Group. While intermediate products 
could be sold externally to mitigate the impact of any such 
interruptions, this is likely to be at a lower margin than would be 
achieved were the materials fully processed in the Group’s own 
operations. There may also be other Lonmin-specific factors 
such as industrial relations, power supply interruptions or 
natural phenomena that also lead to short-term production 
disruption.

Risks of cost inflation – there is a risk that the Group will not 
be able to implement its chosen strategy either successfully or 
quickly enough and as a consequence will suffer cost inflation 
in absolute terms and consequent margin erosion, leading to a 
reduction in its net present value. There is also a risk that 
Lonmin responds less well to industry-wide cost pressures 
(which are discussed in the section on mining sector risks) than 
its competitors. Such relative cost increases could result from 
Lonmin-specific factors (such as a deterioration in industrial 
relations, failure to implement mechanisation and automation 
quickly enough, poor purchasing negotiating skills) or from our 
competitors being able to address such cost pressures faster 
or more effectively.
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Risks	and	uncertainties	relating	to	the	PGM	industry
Market conditions : demand – demand for platinum, 
palladium and rhodium is primarily driven by the autocatalysis 
sector, with the main factors being the emissions standards 
imposed by legislation, the global trend towards diesel-engined 
vehicles (which predominantly use platinum as their catalyst) 
and increases in the number of cars manufactured globally. 
There is also some effect on demand from the engine size of 
the vehicles being manufactured and there will be changes in 
demand for each of the individual metals as the weightings 
used for catalysis alter with technological innovations. The 
platinum jewellery sector tends to be price-sensitive, although 
within this the bridal jewellery market shows less sensitivity to 
price. In recent years, the price-led reduction in demand for 
platinum jewellery has led to the birth of a market for palladium 
jewellery, so increasing demand for that metal. The remainder of 
the demand for PGMs comes from a variety of industrial 
applications, many of which are relatively new, and for which the 
demand sensitivity to price through the full commodity cycle 
has yet to be fully experienced and understood. Although the 
overall demand for PGMs generally is forecast to remain strong, 
there is a risk that the demand for each of the individual metals 
for use in autocatalysis will remain static or may even decline as 
the amount of material available from recycling continues to 
grow, and one metal is substituted with another. There is also a 
risk of a technological breakthrough enabling the wholesale 
replacement of PGMs as the primary material for autocatalysis. 
Within the jewellery sector, there is the risk of a reduction in 
demand for PGMs in general, and platinum in particular, due to 
increased substitution by other precious metals.

Market conditions : supply – clearly an over-supply of PGMs 
would have the same economic impact on commodity pricing 
as a reduction in the level of market demand. The vast majority 
of the world’s PGM resources are in South Africa (which 
currently hosts over 75% of total worldwide platinum 
production), although there are significant commercial PGM ore 
bodies in Zimbabwe, Russia, Canada and the USA. At the 
macro-economic level, the relative levels of country risk 
associated with each jurisdiction may have an impact on the 
quantities of PGMs produced in each year, with the risk that 
there may be fluctuations in the level of supply caused by local 
economic and regulatory conditions. The decisions made by 
each of the major PGM producers will also have an effect on 
the overall level of market supply, and although each of the 
industry majors has an aggressive growth profile and a number 
of smaller competitors have ambitious plans, there must be 
significant uncertainty as to whether or not all of the projects 
currently planned by the PGM industry will ultimately be 
developed to full production. There remains a degree of risk 
that a major new ore body will be discovered that would 
fundamentally alter the balance between supply and demand, 
and therefore the long-term price of PGMs in general and 
platinum in particular.

Market conditions : commodity price – the market price for 
platinum can fluctuate widely, both from the impact of the 
normal supply and demand factors, but also as a consequence 
of speculation in the individual metals. Therefore there is a risk 
that the price of any given metal may fall and that speculation 

may accentuate this trend. The price of platinum may also be 
affected by various other uncertain market factors, such as 
financial market expectations regarding interest and inflation 
rates and movements in the relative worth of currencies.

Risks	and	uncertainties	relating	to	the	mining	sector	
generally
Cost pressures – labour, steel, fuel, power, consumables, 
chemical reagents, explosives and tyres form a relatively large 
part of the operating costs of any mining company. The Group 
is not immune to these cost pressures and increases in any or 
all of these would have a profound impact on operating costs 
and, in the absence of mitigating economic fluctuations, result 
in significant increases in total expenditure, reduction of profit 
margins and thereby reduce the net present value of the 
Company. These cost pressures are exacerbated by two 
additional trends. Firstly, most underground mines are now 
generally facing the challenge of extracting minerals from 
greater depths, which requires higher levels of support (and 
therefore greater use of steel and other materials) and greater 
ventilation and air cooling, which requires additional power. 
Industry-wide, costs are therefore rising more quickly than 
would otherwise be the case. Secondly, most mining 
companies are looking to expand production during the current 
global commodities boom, which has significantly increased 
demand for all of these key inputs and led to price rises.

The Group’s labour costs are incurred primarily in South Africa, 
and although cost inflation in that country is now well 
controlled, almost all employees are members of recognised 
trades unions, and there is a risk that wages may increase by 
more than the rate of inflation. As a consequence, the Group 
must strike the right balance between risking interruptions to 
production and the additional costs that would be incurred in 
meeting the wage demands made by our employees’ trade 
unions. There is also a long term decline in employee 
productivity faced by the entire industry which further 
exacerbates the cost trend. The Group’s response has been to 
develop a strategy for the mechanisation and automation of its 
mines, but labour costs will remain a material expense for the 
Group for the foreseeable future.

The cost of executing planned capital projects is affected by all 
of these factors, and is additionally exposed to the risks of 
delay in bringing the new capacity into production. Currently 
high levels of demand mean that certain types of equipment 
are difficult to source without significant delay, and there is a 
significant risk of cost over-runs on capital projects caused by 
both the underlying cost pressures and the delay in installing 
critical plant. There is therefore a risk that capital projects are 
not pursued as planned, are deferred to a later time or, if 
implemented, fail to deliver the expected financial benefits or to 
deliver production on time.

Risks of disruption to production – Mining is susceptible to 
numerous events that may have an adverse impact on the 
performance of the Group, either by causing severe damage to 
capital assets, or require the suspension, or even termination of 
operations. These events include, but are not limited to the 
availability of critical inputs (including power and water), 
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environmental hazards, industrial accidents, underground fires, 
labour disputes, encountering unexpected geological 
formations, unanticipated ground and water conditions, 
accidents in underground operations, failure of mining pit slopes 
and tailings dam walls, legal and regulatory restrictions and 
changes to such restrictions, seismic activity; and other natural 
phenomena, such as floods or inclement weather conditions.

Employee-related risks – as noted above, mining operations 
in South Africa are highly unionised, and in Lonmin’s case a 
single union represents the vast majority of the Group’s 
workers. There is therefore a risk that strikes or other types of 
conflict with unions or employees may occur which, if material, 
could have an adverse effect on the Group’s performance and 
its financial condition. HIV/AIDS remains the major healthcare 
challenge faced by the Group’s operations, with a 2003 
epidemiological survey (one of the largest ever undertaken in 
South Africa) suggesting that 26% of our employees are HIV 
positive. In response, the Group has initiated a programme of 
anti-retroviral drugs for those whom it might benefit, backed up 
by appropriate encouragement to undertake an HIV test 
through a voluntary counselling and testing programme. While 
the results of this have been very encouraging, with the vast 
majority of those who may benefit now on ART and generally 
back at work, HIV/AIDS will pose an ongoing and conceivably 
increasing risk for the foreseeable future. The other principal 
challenges facing the Group are tuberculosis and other 
occupational lung diseases, particularly among those who 
have previously worked in South Africa’s gold mines.

Land claims – because of historical factors, the ownership of 
land in South Africa can be subject to challenge from those 
alleging that they were wrongfully dispossessed of the land. In 
common with the rest of the industry, the Group faces a 
number of such claims. Successful land claims on property 
falling within the Group’s mining licence areas could increase 
the Group’s cost base as compensation would be payable to 
land owners for any loss or damage suffered by them as a 
result of prospecting or mining operations conducted by the 
Group on their property.

Macro-economic	factors
Risks associated with the countries in which we operate – 
the Group operates in three countries and has joint venture 
interests in two others. In each jurisdiction, the legal and 
regulatory regimes will continue to evolve in response to 
external events, and the Group must address the obligations 
and responsibilities that this creates. While the Group does and 
would lobby for change where appropriate, any such changes 
are ultimately driven by the governments of those countries 
and are outside the Group’s control. There is therefore a risk 
that change may be introduced which materially disadvantages 
the Group, and with which it must comply.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
continued

Market conditions : foreign exchange and financial risk – 
The Group also faces the risk of fluctuations in profitability 
caused by movements in foreign exchange rates and is 
particularly sensitive to movements in US Dollar / South African 
Rand currency pair. Most of the Group’s operations are in 
South Africa and so incur costs in Rand, while the revenue 
stream is almost wholly denominated in US dollars. Further 
information about how the Group manages foreign exchange 
risk is included in the Financial Review. The Financial Review 
also provides details of other financial risks including interest 
rate risk, liquidity risk and commodity price risk.

Legislative and regulatory risk – Mining companies globally 
are subject to a variety of local industry-specific laws and 
regulations. If these laws and regulations were to change and 
material additional expenditure were required to comply with 
such new laws and regulations, it could adversely affect the 
Group’s performance and its financial condition.

World economic conditions – demand for the Group’s 
products is a factor of world economic conditions – for 
example, during a consumer boom more automobiles will be 
sold, creating greater demand for PGMs. However, during a 
world economic slowdown or recession, it is possible that 
demand for all products, including those containing, or made in 
processes requiring the use of, PGMs would reduce and 
commodity prices generally would fall. As a consequence, the 
Group’s prosperity is intricately linked to general economic 
conditions and there is a risk of material deterioration in the 
Group’s performance and finances during such macro-
economic events.
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Remuneration Committee Report
for the year ended 30 September 2006

The report below has been prepared by the Remuneration 
Committee and approved by the Board. KPMG Audit Plc have 
audited the following items stipulated in law for their review:

The table of Directors’ remuneration and associated 
footnotes on page 18, and the disclosure of the items 
comprising the Directors’ benefits in kind. 
The table of Directors’ defined benefit pension entitlements 
and associated footnotes on page 21.
The disclosure of Directors’ defined contribution pension 
arrangements on page 20. 
The tables of Directors’ share options and awards and 
associated footnotes on page 29.

Role	of	the	Remuneration	Committee
The Remuneration Committee is a formal committee of the 
Board, and has powers delegated to it under the Articles of 
Association. Its remit is set out in terms of reference formally 
adopted by the Board, which were last reviewed in November 
2005. A copy of the terms of reference is available on the 
Company’s website. The primary purposes of the Remuneration 
Committee are set out in its terms of reference and are:

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s 
framework of executive remuneration;
to determine individual remuneration packages within that 
framework for the executive Directors and certain senior 
employees;
to oversee the administration of the Company’s incentive 
schemes;
to review Directors’ expenses; and
to oversee the Company’s executive pension arrangements;

all of which it carries out on behalf of the Board.

The Committee is authorised to seek information from any 
Director or employee of the Group and co-opt any resources 
(including external professional assistance) it sees fit in order to 
fulfil its duties. Minutes of all meetings of the Committee are 
circulated to all Directors, and supplemented by a verbal 
update from the Committee Chairman at the next Board 
meeting, identifying any material matters which arose from the 
Committee’s work. The Committee presents a summary of its 
activities to shareholders and other interested parties by 
means of this report, and the Committee Chairman attends the 
Annual General Meeting to answer any questions on the 
Committee’s activities.

Composition	of	the	Remuneration	Committee
All independent Directors, with the exception of the Chairman 
of the Board, are eligible to become members of the 
Committee. The Board is empowered to appoint or remove 
members. Any two members of the Committee form a quorum. 
The Committee comprised the following members during the 
year and to the date of this report, except where stated 
otherwise:

Roger Phillimore – an independent director, who has been a 
member of the Remuneration Committee and its Chairman 
since September 2002.
Peter Godsoe – an independent director who has been a 
member of the Remuneration Committee since September 
2002.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
•

•

•

Michael Hartnall – an independent director, who has been a 
member of the Remuneration Committee since May 2003.

Given their diverse backgrounds and experience, the Board 
believes that the Committee members are able to offer a 
balanced view on executive remuneration issues. Each 
member receives an annual fee of £5,000 for serving as a 
member of the Committee or, in the case of the Chairman, 
£10,000. These fees are included in the table of Directors’ 
remuneration on page 18 and a detailed breakdown is also 
provided on page 19. All members of the Committee are 
provided with a full induction into the role of the Committee and 
the operation of its terms of reference on first appointment. 
Access to training is provided on an ongoing basis to ensure 
that members are able to discharge their duties. Throughout 
the year, the Committee was assisted in its work by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers, an independent firm of remuneration 
consultants who were appointed by, and report to, the 
Committee. PricewaterhouseCoopers had no other material 
involvement with the Company or Group during the year. The 
Company Secretary acts as secretary to the Committee. In 
addition, the Committee received recommendations from the 
Chief Executive in relation to remuneration of executive 
Directors and senior managers. Meetings of the Committee are 
attended by the Chief Executive, the Vice President – Human 
Capital and the Company Secretary, none of whom do so as of 
right and who do not attend when their own remuneration is 
being discussed.
 
Activities	of	the	Remuneration	Committee
The Committee normally meets four times annually, and 
reports its material findings to the next Board meeting. The 
principal business of these meetings is:

November: approval or review of changes affecting those 
within the Committee’s purview, salary review for executive 
Directors and senior executives based on performance 
appraisal data, external salary benchmarking review, approval 
for payment of short-term incentives for the prior year, 
consideration of detailed design of the short-term incentive 
plan for the current year, approval of offer of Deferred Annual 
Bonus Plan (DABP) awards including settling the performance 
condition, review of status of performance conditions 
attaching to outstanding options and awards, approval of the 
Remuneration Committee Report and any relevant Annual 
General Meeting business, review of Directors’ expenses for 
the quarter to end September.
March: approval or review of changes affecting those within 
the Committee’s purview, review of projected short-term 
incentives for the current year, review of status of 
performance conditions attaching to outstanding options 
and awards, review of Directors’ expenses for the quarter to 
end December.
April: approval or review of changes affecting those within 
the Committee’s purview, review of projected short-term 
incentives for the current year, approval of awards to be 
made under the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) and Stay & 
Prosper plans, review of status of performance conditions 
attaching to outstanding options and awards, review of 
Directors’ expenses for the quarter to end March.

•

•

•

•
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September: approval or review of changes affecting those 
within the Committee’s purview, review of projected short-
term incentives for the current year, review of initial design of 
the short-term incentive plan for the new financial year, 
review of status of performance conditions attaching to 
outstanding options and awards, review of Directors’ 
expenses for the quarter to end June, review of the 
effectiveness of the Committee and its Chairman.

In addition to the routine business described above, the 
Committee also undertook the following activities during the 
year and in the period to the date of this report in discharging 
its responsibilities:

Review of remuneration strategy and development of 
proposals to better align senior executives’ pay with 
shareholders’ interests by replacing defined benefit pension 
provision with a new defined contribution scheme and an 
increase in the weighting to performance-related reward 
Consideration of the corporate governance implications of 
the Company’s remuneration programme, including 
evaluating feedback from institutional shareholder 
consultations 
Review of the Group’s talent assessment process and 
outcomes, and consideration of the results of the half- and 
full-year performance appraisal exercises
Approval of amendments to the Committee’s terms of 
reference
Approval of an offer of savings related share options 
Approval of one-off awards under the Scarce Skills 
Retention Plan
Review of the hedging position of the Company’s employee 
benefit trust
Development of proposals for amendment of the DABP and 
the introduction of a formal Co-Investment Plan (CIP) for 
adoption by shareholders at the 2007 Annual General 
Meeting.

The committee met four times during the year. Attendance at 
these meetings was as follows:

 Number of 
  meetings held Number of
 during time meetings 
Director in office attended

Peter Godsoe 4 4
Michael Hartnall 4 4
Roger Phillimore 4 4

In addition, a further six ad hoc meetings were held to issue 
formal approvals, or deal with other matters of a routine or 
administrative nature for which full attendance was not 
required.

•

•

•

•

•

•
•

•

•

The	Combined	Code
The Directors consider that the Company has, throughout the 
year, complied with the provisions relating to Directors’ 
remuneration set out in the Combined Code. 

Relations	with	shareholders
The Committee is strongly committed to open and transparent 
dialogue with shareholders on remuneration matters. During 
the year, the Committee Chairman met with a number of our 
institutional investors and separately wrote to them and to 
various representative bodies such as the ABI to discuss 
proposed changes to the remuneration packages of the 
Directors and senior executives. 

Remuneration	policy	and	practice
Non-executive Directors
The Board, with the benefit of independent professional advice, 
determines the fees of the non-executive Directors. When 
deciding an appropriate level of fee for each non-executive 
Director, the Board considers the responsibility and time 
commitment required of each individual, taking into account 
the number of meetings each attends, the time required for 
reading Board and other papers, their membership or 
chairmanship of Board Committees or (in the case of Sir John 
Craven) chairmanship of the Board, and the significant 
overseas travel required of all non-executive Directors by the 
Company.

Executive Directors and senior executives
The Committee’s remuneration policy is geared towards 
providing a level of remuneration which attracts, retains and 
motivates Directors and senior managers, but at the same time 
ensures remuneration is consistent with best practice and 
aligned with the interests of the Company’s shareholders. 
Importantly, no Director plays any part in setting his own 
remuneration.

In setting the remuneration of individuals within this framework, 
the Committee seeks to give the individuals every 
encouragement to enhance the Company’s performance whilst 
ensuring that they are fairly, but responsibly, rewarded for their 
individual contributions. It also takes into account levels of pay 
and rates of annual increase elsewhere in the Group. The 
Committee’s strategy is a carefully balanced blend of fixed and 
performance-related pay geared to deliver over the short, 
medium and long term. The structure of the remuneration 
offered to the executive Directors and senior executives and 
the underlying principles on which the package is predicated 
are detailed opposite. 

Remuneration Committee Report
continued
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 Objective Performance period Basis of delivery

Base salary • Reflects market median  • Reviewed annually • Increase linked to APR result and then 
  levels based on role     benchmarked against other UK listed 
  and individual skill     companies of comparable size and  
  and experience     (where appropriate) a peer group of  
 • Pay is linked to    international companies in mining sector
  performance as    • Individual performance and contribution 
  measured in annual    recognised to ensure market 
  performance review    competitiveness 
  (APR) process 
Pension • Provides a market  • Cost increases in line  • Defined contribution benefits or  
  competitive level of   with salary growth  cash-settled salary supplement at the  
  provision with good     executive’s choice 
  flexibility while minimising     
  risk to the Company    
Bonus •  Incentivises achievement  • Reviewed annually • Balanced scorecard based on 

of annual objectives     combination of corporate and personal 
consistent with the     objectives (further details on page 22) 
medium to short  
term strategic needs  
of the business 

DABP • Incentivises  • Annual  deferrals and • Half of award subject to demanding 
  high performance  matched awards  EBIT targets
 • Forces alignment with  • Three year • Half of award subject to demanding 
  shareholders’ interests   performance period  RTSR targets (further details on page 23)
  by requiring executives    • Maximum reward will only occur  
  to put value at risk     for upper quartile performance 
  through mandatory  
  deferral      
 • Retention incentive     
LTIP • Incentivises long • Annual awards • Half of award subject to demanding 
  term value creation • Three year  EBIT targets
 • Alignment with   performance period • Half of award subject to demanding 
  shareholders’ objectives    RTSR targets (further details on page 24)
 • Retention incentive   • Maximum reward will only occur  
 • Upper quartile performance   for top decile performance 
  should lead to potential  
  upper quartile total reward    

Benchmarking	methodology
The Committee is alert to the danger of paying more than is necessary, and monitors closely both basic pay and total remuneration 
for executive Directors and senior executives in the light of individual and corporate performance, to ensure that the Company’s 
reward structures remain appropriate and that total reward is capable of reaching top quartile levels, where justified by 
performance.

The Committee routinely analyses remuneration practices in two groups of comparable companies, the first being UK listed 
businesses of comparable size and scope to Lonmin, the second being direct international peers in the mining sector with whom 
we are in direct competition in the recruitment of experienced executive talent. The aim of the Remuneration Committee is to ensure 
that our remuneration framework is competitive with the latter without being out of step with the former. In this way, the Committee 
aims to avoid generating excessive reward for Lonmin’s Directors and senior executives.

Full details of each element of the Directors’ remuneration package are set out on page 18 together with an analysis on page 19 
showing the various elements of remuneration as a percentage of base salary.
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Performance	graphs
The primary role of the Directors is to deliver value to shareholders, and it is against this backdrop that their remuneration must be 
assessed. The graphs below show the value, at 30 September 2006, of £100 invested in Lonmin’s shares five years previously, 
compared with the current value of the same amount invested at the same date in the FTSE Mining Sector and the FTSE All Share 
index, assuming dividends are reinvested in each case. The Company is a constituent of both these indices, and the Board believes 
that these comparisons most fairly illustrate the Company’s performance in delivering value to shareholders relative to both the 
market as a whole and its UK listed peers.

Directors’	remuneration
In respect of the year ended 30 September 2006 the Directors’ remuneration settled in cash or at a cash cost to the Company was 
as shown in the table below. In addition, the executive Directors participated in pension arrangements and received long-term share 
incentives as detailed elsewhere in this report. A reconciliation of total remuneration for each executive Director is shown in the 
charts opposite.

     Cash payment    Total for Total for
  Salary Benefits in lieu of  Short-term  year to year to
  or fees1 in kind pension2 incentives Other3 30.09.06 30.09.05
Directors  £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Executive Directors       
Brad Mills   573,000 141,104 225,000 530,477 111,836 1,581,417 2,123,936
Ian Farmer  302,525 49,688 32,500 205,173  589,886 445,694
John Robinson  318,965 38,361 48,750 227,273  633,349 462,226
Non-executive Directors              
Sir John Craven  204,436 – – – – 204,436 200,000
Peter Godsoe  60,000 – – – – 60,000 67,673
Sivi Gounden   51,154 – – – – 51,154 –
Michael Hartnall  80,000 – – – – 80,000 80,000
Roger Phillimore  110,000 – – – – 110,000 110,000
Karen de Segundo    57,500 – – – –  57,500  24,179
Total  1,757,580 229,153 306,250 962,923 111,836 3,367,742 3,513,7087

Notes: 
1 Salaries disclosed for the executive Directors are based on the period October 2005 to March 2006 (Brad Mills: £546,000, Ian Farmer: £280,050 and John 

Robinson: £312,930) and the six months April 2006 to September 2006 (Brad Mills: £600,000, Ian Farmer: £325,000 and John Robinson: £325,000). The salary 
figure disclosed for Sivi Gounden includes a payment made in the year of £1,154 which relates to fees for the period 23 to 30 September 2005.

2 Cash payments to Ian Farmer and John Robinson relate to the six months April to September 2006 following their withdrawal from the LSS pension scheme. The 
Company’s pension contributions for the first six months of the year (Ian Farmer: £34,473 and John Robinson: £38,583) are reflected in the pension disclosure on 
page 21. The payment of £225,000 in respect of Brad Mills comprises a cash payment of £105,000 for the period October 2005 to March 2006 and a payment of 
£120,000 for the six months April 2006 to September 2006 into the defined contribution scheme.

3 The amount disclosed under “Other” in the table is the final cash payment to Mr Mills in partial compensation for the loss of long-term share incentives consequent 
upon his resignation from the employment of BHP Billiton

4 No director received any expense allowances or any compensation for loss of office during the year.
5 Although the Group’s functional currency is US Dollars, these figures are stated in Sterling as the Directors’ emoluments are paid in this currency.
6 Benefits in kind comprise cars, fuel, healthcare, medical, and, in the case of Brad Mills, accommodation and, in the case of Ian Farmer, a children’s education 

allowance (paid until 5 April 2006).
7 Restated to exclude Directors who left during the prior year.

Remuneration Committee Report
continued
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■ 25% Base salary 
 £573,000
■ 23% Annual cash bonus 
 £530,477
■ 12% Deferred annual 
 bonus match 
 £279,370
■ 23% Long-term incentive plan 
 £536,047
■ 10% Pension 
 £225,000
■ 7% Benefits-in-kind 
 £141,104

Total performance-related pay=58% 

Brad Mills ■ 34% Base salary 
 £302,525
■ 23% Annual cash bonus 
 £205,173
■ 4% Deferred annual 
 bonus match 
 £35,481
■ 17% Long-term incentive plan 
 £148,294
■ 17% Pension 
 £157,465
■ 5% Benefits-in-kind 
 £49,688

Total performance-related pay=44% 

Ian Farmer ■ 34% Base salary 
 £318,965
■ 25% Annual cash bonus 
 £227,273
■ 4% Deferred annual 
 bonus match 
 £40,461
■ 12% Long-term incentive plan 
 £111,828
■ 20% Pension 
 £188,993
■ 5% Benefits-in-kind 
 £38,361

Total performance-related pay=41% 

John Robinson
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Non-executive	Directors’	fees
The fees payable to the non-executive Directors are set by the Board and are designed to ensure the Company attracts and retains 
individuals of the highest calibre. The Board commissions an independent review of non-executive Directors’ fees every two years, 
the most recent of which was conducted in August 2005. No change was made to the non-executive Directors’ fees, which have 
not been increased since 2002. A detailed breakdown of the fees paid to non-executive Directors during the year is provided:

   Chairmanship
Fees (£)  Directorship fee Remuneration Audit Nomination Risk & SHEC Total

Sir John Craven   50,000   C  150,000        M 4,436     204,436
Peter Godsoe  50,000    M  5,000     M  5,000      60,000 
Sivi Gounden  51,154               51,154 
Michael Hartnall  50,000     M  5,000  C  17,500    M  7,500   80,000 
Roger Phillimore  50,000   D   35,000  C  10,000  M  7,500  C  7,500      110,000 
Karen de Segundo  50,000      M 7,500     57,500

Key: C = Chairman, D = Deputy Chairman, M = Member

Make	up	of	executive	Directors’	remuneration	
The remuneration attributable to each of the three continuing executive Directors in respect of the year was comprised of the 
following broad elements:

1 Benefits in kind are stated at their taxable value or the cost incurred by the Company where not taxable.
2 The cash bonus amount is the pre-tax amount payable in respect of the year and is stated before partial deferral into the DABP.
3 The DABP Matched Award is the amount of bonus deferred and is stated at the fair value as required by IFRS. However, if the threshold conditions noted elsewhere 

in this report are not obtained, no payment will be made. 
4 The valuation of the LTIP award made during the year has followed the same principles as the DABP Matched Award and is similarly at risk.
5 Pension is (1) for defined benefit provision, the additional accrual of pension earned in the year capitalised at a ratio of 20:1 in line with the statutory methodology 

used to calculate the Lifetime Allowance under the new tax rules less the amount contributed by the employee in the year, and/or (2) cash amounts paid either to 
the executive or (at their option) into a defined contribution pension scheme.

Fixed	pay	for	executive	Directors	and	senior	executives	
Basic pay
Whilst the Remuneration Committee tends to have regard to total compensation, including performance-related elements, 
individuals inevitably focus on headline basic pay, especially at the point of recruitment. For this reason, the Company needs to offer 
salaries at around median market levels so that it is able to attract and retain suitable directors and executives, but without paying 
more than is necessary.

Salaries are reviewed once annually, as at 1 October, taking into account annual performance review data and this together with the 
restructuring of the Directors’ remuneration and contracts resulted in year-on-year changes in their salaries of 10% in the case of 
Brad Mills, 16% in the case of Ian Farmer and an increase of 4% in respect of John Robinson. Increases in salaries of the senior 
executives and individuals in the United Kingdom increased between 3% and 5%. The salaries of our general workforce in South 
Africa increased by CPI + 2% due under the New Era Labour Agreement.

In addition to the annual salary review, a more comprehensive review of remuneration strategy was carried out in South Africa 
following which the packages for senior executives and managers was restructured. The remuneration policy in force previously  
was in line with common practice in South Africa, however, in order to simplify the package structure and to make consistent with 
international norms, certain historic fringe benefits were rolled into a clean basic salary figure without the need for additional 
compensation. 
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Not including the executive Directors, the remuneration of twenty 
one other senior executives, the majority of whom are employed 
in South Africa, fall within the purview of the Remuneration 
Committee. The base salaries of those individuals based in the 
United Kingdom and the new fully inclusive salaries of individuals 
employed in South Africa fall within the following bands:

  Number of
Salary band  executives

up to £50,000  0
£51,000 to £100,000  5
£101,000 to £150,000  11
£151,000 to £200,000  2
£201,000 to £250,000  2
£251,000 to £300,000  1

Benefits	in	kind
Benefits in kind for the executive Directors comprise the 
provision of a fully-expensed car, the provision of annual health 
checks and private medical insurance and, in the case of  
Mr Farmer, until 5 April 2006, a children’s education allowance.  
Mr Mills also benefited from life assurance in excess of the 
Inland Revenue earnings cap. All three executive Directors 
were provided with a limited amount of independent financial 
planning and tax advice. Mr Mills was also provided with 
accommodation in London. Finally, the Company purchases 
permanent health insurance in respect of all senior employees 
in the London office, including the UK-based executive 
Directors.

Pensions
Pensions in context of total compensation
The Committee wishes to provide executives with access to 
market-competitive pension products, without exposing the 
Company to the potentially open-ended obligations associated 
with defined benefit pension provision. To this end, the 
Committee took advantage of changes to the taxation of 
pensions in the United Kingdom that took effect on 6 April 
2006 to offer new remuneration packages to all executives who 
participated in the UK final salary pension plan, the Lonmin 
Superannuation Scheme. In essence, members were asked to 
withdraw from future accrual of pensionable service in return 
for a new remuneration package which transferred much of the 
wealth-creation opportunity from pensions and other fixed pay 
to performance-related pay. New contracts were entered into 
with the individuals concerned, on standard terms. The 
opportunity was also taken to address certain anomalous 
benefits that were being provided at that time. The revised 
levels of basic salary and total compensation were 
benchmarked against relevant peer groups (dependant on role) 

and the Committee was satisfied that the revised packages 
offered appropriate, but not excessive, pay that was clearly 
linked to performance. The total levels of compensation  
offered were not increased in this process. The Lonmin 
Superannuation Scheme was closed to new entrants with 
effect from 6 April 2006.

The executive Directors and senior executives who opted out 
of the Lonmin Superannuation Scheme retain a final salary link. 
This means that the pension earned during their pensionable 
service will continue to increase in line with increases in their 
base salaries until such time as they either leave the Company 
or begin to draw a pension. They also continue to receive 
death in service and ill health early retirement benefits in line 
with the rules of the defined benefit scheme.

Under the new packages, UK-domiciled executives are 
provided with an amount of cash, expressed as a percentage 
of their basic pay, paid at the beginning of the Company’s 
financial year either as additional cash compensation or, 
subject to prevailing tax rules and at the executive’s option, 
into a new defined contribution pension vehicle that was 
implemented during the year. The significant defined benefit 
pension accrual of Ian Farmer and John Robinson mean that 
they are affected by the lifetime allowance and are therefore 
unable to accrue any further tax-effective pension benefits. 
For this reason, neither has joined the new defined contribution 
pension plan and they receive 20% and 30% respectively of 
their annual base salary in cash. Brad Mills is entitled to a 
salary supplement of 40% of his base salary and elected, from 
April 2006 onwards to have these funds invested in the 
Company’s defined contribution pension scheme.

Defined contribution arrangements
During the year, the Company implemented the Lonmin 
Retirement Plan in the UK. This is a registered (tax-approved) 
defined contribution pension arrangement which operates as a 
group personal pension scheme. As noted above, Brad Mills 
opted to join this scheme with effect from April 2006 and the 
Company contributed £120,000 (2005 – Nil) into this scheme 
as an employer contribution. 

The Group is affiliated to an industry-wide defined contribution 
pension scheme in South Africa, in which none of the executive 
Directors participates.

Defined benefit arrangements
As noted above, Ian Farmer and John Robinson participated in 
the Company’s UK final salary pension arrangements until 
5 April 2006, from which date they were provided with new 
remuneration packages, including a cash supplement offered 

Remuneration Committee Report
continued
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in lieu of further pensionable service in this scheme. The defined benefit pension plan has a normal retirement age for all members 
in service at or after 1 April 1998 of 60 : members in service prior to that date can opt to retire at 65.   Members can request early 
retirement once they reach age 50 (or at any time due to incapacity), with their accrued pension being subject to actuarial reduction 
for early payment.   Commutation of pension on retirement enables members to exchange part of their pension for a tax-free lump 
sum, subject to tax limits.   No discretionary benefits have been awarded to any Director.

Pensions in excess of any Guaranteed Minimum Pension accrued prior to 6 April 1997 will (once in payment) increase annually by 
the lower of 3% and the increase in UK retail price inflation (RPI), while that element accrued since 6 April 1997 will increase each 
year by the lower of 5% and the increase in RPI.

In the event of death:
Whilst in service, a lump sum equal to four times salary is payable together with a pension to a qualifying spouse or dependant of two-
thirds of the pension that would have become payable to the member at their normal retirement age. In certain circumstances where 
there are young children or children in full-time education or vocational training, an allowance may also become payable to them
After leaving service, but prior to retirement, a pension would be payable to a qualifying spouse or dependant equal to two-thirds 
of the member’s deferred benefit revalued to the date of death in line with RPI (or, in the case of the two Directors and other 
senior executives while still in the Group’s employment, salary growth)
After retirement, a spouse’s pension of two-thirds of the member’s pre-commutation pension would be payable, revalued to the date of 
death. If the member’s death occurs within five years of retirement, the balance of the five years’ unpaid pension would also be payable.

Further details of the executive Directors’ defined benefit pension entitlements accrued until 6 April 2006 are:

  Disclosures required by Schedule 
 Disclosures required by the Listing Rules 7A Companies Act 1985 
  
       Increase in   
       transfer   
       value   
    Additonal   net of
    pension  Transfer  Employee inflation  Transfer Transfer 
   Additional  earned value of  contri- and  value value
 Accrued  Accrued  pension  in the  additional bution employee’s of accrued of accrued  Increase in
 pension at  pension at  earned year net pension  paid in  contri-  pension at pension at transfer
 30.09.05 30.09.062  in the year of inflation1 earned  the year  butions4 30.09.05 30.09.06  value3

Directors £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Ian Farmer  95,023   101,616   6,593   3,337   42,910   6,895   36,015   1,101,370   1,282,860   181,490 
John Robinson  150,187   157,585   7,398   2,251   39,620   7,717   31,903   2,340,330   2,701,790   361,460 

Notes:
1 This additional pension earned in the year is stated after making allowance for UK retail price inflation of 3.43% year-on-year. There were no changes to the basis 

on which benefits accrued during the period to 6 April 2006.
2 The pension entitlement shown above is that which would be paid annually on retirement at age 60, but based on pensionable service to 6 April 2006. The normal 

retirement date for Ian Farmer is 25 March 2022 and for John Robinson is 4 August 2014.
3 The increase in transfer value represents the increase over the year in the capital amount that the Director would be entitled to transfer to another pension scheme 

on leaving the Company. Changes in this value arise from a number of sources including the increase in the executive’s accrued pension over the year, investment 
returns on the transfer value at the start of the year, and changes in actuarial assumptions. The figure therefore reflects prevailing market conditions at the date on 
which it is evaluated. For clarity, it is not a sum due to the Director nor can it meaningfully be added to the Director’s remuneration for the year.

4 This adjusts the increase in transfer value to reflect both inflation and the fact that the Director has shared in the funding of the increased pension provision by contributing 
5% of his pensionable pay to the scheme. (The pension entitlements shown exclude any benefits that might be attributable to additional voluntary contributions.) 

Pensions generally
No element of any Director’s remuneration other than basic salary is pensionable. Except as disclosed above, the Company has given 
no undertakings to arrange or bear the cost of any other pension benefits for any Director. No former Director enjoys pension benefits 
in excess of those provided, in accordance with the provisions of the trust deeds and rules, to all members of the relevant scheme.

Life assurance
Ian Farmer and John Robinson remain members of the Company’s defined benefit pension scheme for death in service benefits, 
and as such are entitled to life assurance of four times their base salary, and the level of spouse’s pension earned during their 
pensionable service in that Scheme. Brad Mills is entitled to life assurance benefits of four times his annual salary under his contract 
of employment.  Until 6 April 2006, Brad Mills was a ‘life assurance only’ member of the Lonmin Superannuation Scheme in respect 
of salary up to the Inland Revenue earnings cap, and was provided by the Company with unapproved life assurance on his salary in 
excess of the cap, the premium for which is a benefit in kind and included as such in the remuneration table. From 6 April 2006, the 
Company provided all three Directors with life assurance benefits by way of excepted life arrangements.

•

•

•
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Performance-related	pay	for	executive	Directors	and	senior	executives	
Short-term incentive arrangements
The Committee believes that participation in a short-term incentive scheme enhances the focus of the executive Directors and key 
senior executives by providing a meaningful incentive to out-perform. The Company provides the opportunity to earn an annual 
cash bonus through a balanced scorecard approach, assessing performance under four broad headings, being as follows (the 
weighting generally attaching to each component is quoted as a percentage of overall bonus opportunity):

   Executive Directors 
  
       Percentage of 
       bonus opportunity Actual payment
       on offer for the year 
       for target (% of bonus
Component and constituent elements        performance opportunity)

SHEC matters (15%)
• Safety – number of fatalities at Marikana      2.5% 1.9%
• Safety – improvement in lost time injury frequency rate     2.5% 3.1%
• Environment – notifiable events and fines      5.0% 0.0%
• Community – score in annual baseline survey     5.0% 7.5%
Shareholder alignment (40%)
• Bonusable EBIT       20% 10.8%
• Free cash flow       20% 25.4%
Production and growth (5%)
• Primary mine production of platinum      2.0% 0.0%
• Capital projects – on time and within budget     0.5% 0.5%
• Capital projects – total spend measure      0.5% 0.5%
• C1 unit costs        2.0% 0.0%
Personal objectives (40%)
• Delivery of key projects        40% 34.0%1

Total       100% 83.7%

1 Average for the three executive Directors.

The bonus elements and relative weightings detailed above were selected as these best captured the steps needing to be taken to 
improve the delivery of value to shareholders, and all were capable of objective measurement and independent verification.

For each individual element, three levels of attainment were set:
Threshold – the minimum level of attainment for which the committee felt payment could be warranted, with generally 75% of  
the ‘target’ amount for that element being payable.
Target – based on the Company’s budget, at which 100% of the bonus for that element becomes payable.
Stretch – representing a significant level of outperformance and also acting as a cap on the bonus due for that element, with 
150% of the ‘target’ amount for that element being payable.

The scheme design provides for payment of 80% of base salary to executive Directors (100% in the case of the Chief Executive) for 
overall performance at the target level with the bonus therefore being capped at the stretch level of 120% of base salary (150% in 
the case of the Chief Executive). All results have been independently reviewed (including where appropriate scrutiny by the external 
auditors) and the committee has subjected the scorecard to a detailed assessment before authorising payment. Of the bonus 
resulting, two-thirds is settled in cash and a minimum of one-third (on an after tax basis) is invested in the Company’s deferred 
annual bonus plan on behalf of the executive concerned.

Of necessity, the design of bonus plans will evolve from year to year, in line with the Company’s strategic needs. The Committee 
monitors the competitive environment and will devise amended or new plans in future years to ensure that the Company can 
continue to recruit, retain and motivate the most able senior executives, and that they are given the clearest possible incentive to 
deliver exceptional value to shareholders. However, the plan for the year to 30 September 2007 is substantially similar in design to 
that of the prior year.

•

•
•
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Deferred Annual Bonus Plan (DABP)
As noted above, a minimum of one-third of the net cash bonus 
due to each executive is invested in this plan, with executives 
able to elect to invest any greater amount up to the whole of 
their net bonus. The funds invested are used to buy Lonmin 
shares in the open market via the Company’s employee benefit 
trust. At the date the shares are purchased, the trustees make 
a ‘matched award’ to the executive which, subject to the 
attainment of performance conditions, could enable matching 
of the number of shares bought by the executive of up to one 
for one, on an after tax basis. The purpose of the plan is 
therefore to provide Directors and executives with a direct 
personal stake in the delivery of value to shareholders, and to 
ensure that the interests of management and shareholders are 
demonstrably and fully aligned.

The performance condition comprises of two independent 
components with three levels of attainment, threshold, target 
and stretch and straight-line interpolation between these 
points. The two measures are Relative Total Shareholder 
Return (RTSR) and growth in Earnings Before Interest and Tax 
(EBIT) relative to the prior financial year end:

  RTSR 
  component
 RTSR released
Level (50% of award) %

Threshold 50th percentile (median) 50
Target 60th percentile 75
Stretch 75th percentile (upper quartile) 100

  EBIT 
  component
 EBIT released
Level (50% of award) %

Threshold % profit 50%
Target growth targets over 75%
Stretch FY 2005 100%

These measures were chosen because the Committee felt they 
best reflected both the key imperative on management, the 
delivery of operating profit and also provided an equal focus on 
the delivery of value to shareholders. Further discussion of how 
the Committee implements the EBIT performance condition is 
given on page 25.

The Committee does not intend to disclose the EBIT growth 
targets for reasons of commercial sensitivity and because of 
regulatory constraints, but will do so retrospectively at the 
conclusion of the relevant performance period. It believes the 
profit growth targets to be stretching, yet realistic.

On 15 December 2005, awards were made under this Plan to 
the executive Directors and to a number of senior executives. 
The mid market closing share price on that date was 1592p. 
Details of the awards are included in the table of directors’ 
interests.

Co-Investment Plan (CIP)
The DABP forms the basis of a CIP entered into with Brad Mills 
when he joined the Company in March 2004. The arrangement 
provides Mr Mills with partial compensation for the loss of his 
long-term share incentives upon leaving the employment of 
BHP Billiton. Mr Mills is the sole participant in this arrangement 
which applied from the date of his appointment, and under 
which the Company paid £1,205,994 into its employee benefit 
trust on 19 May 2004. The trustees applied this money to the 
purchase of 124,362 Lonmin shares in the open market on the 
same date, which will be held in trust for three years and are at 
risk of forfeiture if his employment is terminated by the 
Company with cause during that period. The trustees made a 
‘matching award’ of up to a maximum of 104,869 Lonmin 
shares to Mr Mills (having a matching value at the time the plan 
was first agreed), which may be transferred to him at the end of 
the three-year period, if stretching performance conditions are 
met. The CIP can be settled using either market-purchased or 
newly-issued shares. Half of the award is linked to the RTSR 
growth target used in the Company’s DABP with the vesting of 
the other half linked to absolute growth in the Company’s share 
price over the period: 

  Percentage of 
 Share price growth element
Level (50% of award)  released

Threshold +20% 50%
Target +35% 75%
Stretch +50% 100%
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Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)
This Plan is designed to ensure that the Company can offer 
long-term incentives to executive Directors and senior 
executives that do not rely on share price appreciation to 
deliver the desired benefit, as is the case with traditional share 
option schemes. The Committee believes that it is vital to be 
able to offer such incentives to ensure that those best placed 
to deliver value for shareholders have a direct personal interest 
in so doing. An award under this Plan entitles the recipient to 
receive shares at no cost, subject to attainment of stretching 
performance conditions which are detailed further below.

As with the DABP, the performance condition for the 2006 LTIP 
award also comprises two independent components, as 
detailed below:

  Percentage 
  of RTSR
 RTSR component
Level (50% of award) released

Threshold 50th percentile (median) 35%
Target 75th percentile (upper quartile) 60%
Stretch 90th percentile (top decile) 100%

  Percentage 
  of EBIT 
 2008 EBIT component 
Level  (50% of award) released

Threshold Absolute 35%
Target level 63%
Stretch of profit 100%

Whereas the DABP EBIT performance condition is expressed 
as growth in percentage terms over the base year, the LTIP 
condition targets an actual level of audited EBIT for FY2008, 
fully reflecting the impact of metal prices and foreign exchange.
Further discussion of how the Committee implements the EBIT 
peformance condition is given on page 25.

As with the DABP EBIT performance condition, the Committee 
feels unable to publish the targets, however, it is satisfied that 
they should prove stretching, yet realistic, and there will be full 
retrospective disclosure, including that of the market forecast 
range and consensus at the time the targets were set. 
 

Awards were made to the executive Directors and a number of 
senior executives on 17 August 2006. The closing mid-market 
share price on that date was 2767p. Details of the awards are 
included in the table of Directors’ interests. Additional awards 
were made to senior executives during the year on 31 March 
2006 and 29 September 2006. The closing mid-market share 
price on these dates were 2663p and 2559p respectively. 

When the LTIP was introduced, we indicated that awards 
would be limited in value to 150% of base salary, save in 
exceptional circumstances, although the LTIP rules do not 
specify a maximum limit. Awards were made to John Robinson 
and Ian Farmer equivalent to 75% and 100% of their respective 
annual base salaries. Having reviewed the competitive 
remuneration conditions in comparable companies, the 
Committee concluded that exceptional circumstances existed 
and made an award to Brad Mills equal in value to 200% of his 
annual base salary. 

Stay & Prosper Plan
The Committee regularly reviews the incentive arrangements 
offered to managers, particularly in South Africa where there is 
severe competition for the best executive talent, to ensure the 
Group is able to provide an appropriate level of reward and 
incentive, whilst remaining consistent with current best 
practice. Following such a review in 2005, the Committee 
concluded that the existing share schemes did not adequately 
meet the requirements for this category of employees and 
therefore a cash based incentive plan was implemented in 
2005 for the Group’s South African employees, the purpose of 
which was to provide a significant retention tool whilst also 
providing sufficient incentive opportunity to align the interests 
of managers with those of shareholders. 

When first introduced, the Plan consisted of two components. 
75% of the award, called the performance award, was subject  
to a performance condition whilst the remaining 25% retention 
award was subject to a continued employment condition. 
Following a further review in 2006, the Committee determined 
that a more significant retention incentive was necessary in 
view of the increasingly global competitive market for skilled 
and experienced individuals. The weighting of the plan was 
changed to a 50% EBIT retention award and a 50% 
performance award using the same performance condition 
and vesting schedule as that applicable to the 2006 LTIP 
award. There are no good leaver provisions attached to the 
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retention award and vesting of the performance award in good 
leaver situations is subject to the discretion of the Committee. 
Awards are linked to a notional number of shares which are 
awarded at nil cost and participants receive cash at the end of 
three years based on the prevailing market value of that 
proportion of the total award that vests.

  Percentage 
  of EBIT 
  component 
Level 2008 EBIT1 released

Threshold Absolute 20%
Target level 54%
Stretch of profit 100%

1 As noted in the LTIP section, there will be full retrospective disclosure of this 
performance condition.

An award was made on 16 August 2006 to senior managers 
based in South Africa. The executive Directors do not 
participate in this Plan.

Scarce	Skills	Retention	Plan
One of the key findings resulting from the 2006 review referred 
to earlier was that many of the individuals who had been 
identified as having rare and valuable skills necessary to the 
Company’s future vision were at significant risk of poaching by 
our global competitors. In order to mitigate this risk and at the 
same time encourage loyalty, the Committee implemented a 
bespoke retention plan, the Lonmin Scarce Skills Retention 
Plan. This was a one-off award made to 74 senior managers, 
the vast majority of whom are based in South Africa. The 
executive Directors did not participate in this Plan.

Awards made under this Plan comprise a notional share based 
award which is settled in cash provided the individual is still 
employed by the Company three years after the award. There 
is no performance condition and there are no good leaver 
provisions. The Committee does not envisage that any further 
awards will be made under this Plan.

Performance	condition	philosophy
With the exception of the 2006 Stay & Prosper award and the 
Scarce Skills Retention Plan, each of the share plans 
mentioned above use relative total shareholder return as part 
or the whole of the performance condition. The Committee 
believes that this measure links the actual returns delivered to 
shareholders with the executive remuneration due as a result of 
the delivery of our strategy. In addition, the Committee believes 
that this test provides a measurable and objective reflection of 
true performance for shareholders in light of the variability 
introduced into reported results by metal prices and exchange 
rates (particularly between the South African Rand and the  
US Dollar). 

The Committee also recognises that the underlying financial 
performance of the business is an important driver of 
shareholder value and in order to provide an effective and 
robust link between the business’ needs and the remuneration 
of the Company’s executives and managers, the EBIT test was 
introduced for awards made during the year under the DABP, 
LTIP and the Stay & Prosper Plan. The Committee believes that 
growth in EBIT is independent of stock market conditions and 
is a key operational metric by which the business is measured. 

Where the Group acquired new businesses, the EBIT impact 
would normally be excluded from the assesment of 
performance conditions by the Committee, unless the targets 
had previously been adjusted to specifically include acquired 
profits or losses. The Committee would also have regard to the 
cost of capital associated with such acquisitions, to ensure that 
shareholder value was properly taken into account in this 
context.

The	comparator	group	of	companies	
The Remuneration Committee regularly reviews the 
comparator group used for the Company’s long-term incentive 
arrangements to ensure that it remains relevant to the 
Company’s stated strategy and therefore aligns executives 
appropriately with shareholders. For awards made during the 
year the Committee decided to broaden the group to twenty 
comparator companies to provide a more statistically sound 
and relevant comparator group.
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  2005 LTIP/
 2005 Stay & Prosper/   
CIP/2004 DABP/2004 LTIP 2005 DABP 2006 LTIP/2006 Stay & Prosper Nature of company/reason for change

Anglo American plc Anglo American plc Anglo American plc FTSE 100 mining company/ 
   SA exposure
Anglo Platinum Limited Anglo Platinum Limited Anglo Platinum Limited SA PGM producer
AngloGold Ashanti Limited AngloGold Ashanti Limited AngloGold Ashanti Limited SA mining company
Aquarius Platinum Limited Aquarius Platinum Limited – SA PGM producer
- – Antofagasta FTSE 100 mining company
- – ARM Platinum SA PGM producer
- – Aquarius Platinum Limited SA PGM producer
BHP Billiton plc BHP Billiton plc BHP Billiton plc FTSE 100 mining company
  CVRD Major global mining company
Engelhard Corporation Engelhard Corporation – Acquired by BASF
- – Gold Corp Specialised mining company
Gold Fields Limited Gold Fields Limited Gold Fields Limited SA mining company
Impala Platinum Holdings   Impala Platinum Holdings SA PGM producer 
Limited  Limited
Inco Limited Inco Limited Inco Limited Nickel/PGM mining company
Johnson Matthey plc Johnson Matthey plc Johnson Matthey plc PGM processor
- JSC MMC Norilsk Nickel JSC MMC Norilsk Nickel Nickel/PGM mining company
- Kumba Resources Limited Kumba Resources Limited SA mining company
- – Lion Ore Nickel mining company
- Northam Platinum Limited – SA PGM producer
Rio Tinto plc Rio Tinto plc Rio Tinto plc FTSE 100 mining company
- Stillwater Mining Company Stillwater Mining Company North American PGM producer
- – Umicore PGM processor
WMC Resources Limited – – Acquired by BHP Billiton
Xstrata plc – Xstrata plc FTSE 100 mining company
13 companies 15 companies 20 companies 

Progress against performance conditions
The Company’s performance to date compared to the various performance conditions described earlier is set out below.

     Growth to date
Award1   Date of award Normal vesting date  (as at 30.09.06) Ranking level 

CIP (50% RTSR)   May 2004 May 2007 310% 4th out of 14
CIP (50% Share Price)   May 2004 May 2007 187% Above stretch
LTIP   July 2004 July 2007 306% 4th out of 14
LTIP   September 2004 September 2007 294% 3rd out of 14
LTIP   September 2005 September 2008 250% 3rd out of 16
LTIP (50% RTSR)1   August 2006 August 2009 104% 12th out of 21
LTIP (50% RTSR)1   September 2006 September 2009  – –
DABP matched award   December 2004 December 2007 289% 3rd out of 14
DABP matched award (50% RTSR)1  December 2005 December 2008 210% 3rd out of 16
Stay & Prosper   September 2005 September 2008 250% 3rd out of 16

1 EBIT performance conditions not included.
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Executive Share Option Schemes (ESOS)
The Committee does not currently expect to make any future grants under these schemes, following the introduction of the LTIP, 
DABP and the Stay & Prosper Plan and no options were granted during the year.

The purpose of these legacy schemes is to align Directors’ and employees’ interests with those of shareholders. Since 1994, this 
has been achieved by making the exercise of options by all participants subject to stretching but realistic performance conditions 
relating to the delivery of value to shareholders, which must be met before the option can be exercised. Details of these for the 
Company’s various tranches of executive share options that remain outstanding are as follows:

Options granted in or after 1998 but before 2002 – exercise is subject to attainment of a performance condition that the total 
return to shareholders over a consecutive thirty-six month period must be greater than the total return on the Mining Sector of the 
FTSE Actuaries Share Indices. The conditions attaching to the options granted in 1998, 1999, 2000 and 2001 were attained in 
2001, 2002, 2003 and 2006 respectively and these options became exercisable. 

Options granted in or after 2002 – whilst exercise remains subject to achievement of total shareholder return greater than that on 
the Mining Sector of the FTSE Actuaries Share Indices, this must be achieved in one of the periods of three, four, five or six years 
following the date of grant, in each case relative to a fixed base year. 

The test for the 2003 grant was satisfied during the year and these options are now exercisable. The formal re-test of the 2002 
grant was carried out on 1 July 2002 and was not met. For indicative purposes only, a test carried out at the end of the year shows 
the Company would have met the performance condition but the next formal re-test will not occur until 1 July 2007. Details of the 
results are provided below.

      FTSE Actuaries
     TSR growth Mining sector
Scheme   Date of award First normal exercise date  (as at 30.09.06) TSR growth

ESOS   June 2001 June 2004 303% 289%
ESOS   July 2002 July 2005 262% 258%
ESOS   September 2003 September 2006 306% 233%

Lonmin Plc Share Plan
In September 2001, the Company introduced the Lonmin Plc Share Plan, under which shares were conferred on selected key 
managers of Lonmin Platinum (but not the Company) over a five-year period. The Plan operates through options granted by the 
trustee of the Company’s employee benefit trust at a price of £0.01 per share. This is designed as an employee retention scheme, 
although there is an inherent incentive element since participants will benefit from any increase in the Lonmin share price. Following 
the introduction of the new long-term incentive arrangements, no further awards are intended to be made under this scheme.

Sharesave
The Company has historically offered an Inland Revenue approved Savings Related Share Option Scheme to all UK-remunerated 
employees, including the executive Directors. Under this Scheme, the participant enters into a savings contract and in return is 
granted an option over the Company’s shares to be funded by the balance on their savings account at the end of the contractual 
savings period. The option price may, at the Committee’s discretion, be at a discount of up to 20% to the prevailing mid-market 
price at the date of invitation. The Company has historically granted all such options with a 20% discount, including those held by 
John Robinson and Ian Farmer. The award made during the year was not offered at a discount. 
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Share schemes generally
Except under the Sharesave scheme and the Lonmin Plc Share Plan, no options have been granted that have an exercise price at  
a discount to the market price at the time the exercise price was set. No options or awards of any kind have been granted to non-
executive Directors. Directors are strongly encouraged to hold the shares issued to them upon the exercise of options.

Dilution
Options granted under ESOS and Sharesave (described above) are satisfied with newly issued shares, whilst the newer plans 
operated by the Company such as the LTIP, DABP or the Stay & Prosper Plan are either satisfied with market purchased shares via 
the Company’s off-shore employee benefit trust (or where appropriate newly issued shares) or are cash settled.

The table below shows the Company’s current commitment to issue new shares in respect of its share option schemes assuming 
all performance conditions are met and all option holders remain in employment to the vesting date: 

 
Undiluted     30.09.05 % AGE OF ISC 30.09.06 % AGE OF ISC

Issued share capital (refer to note 26)    142,064,482  142,914,832 
The Lonmin Executive Share Option Scheme   3,203,722   2.26  2,216,758  1.55
The Lonmin Share Option Scheme     56,642  0.04   28,656  0.02
The Lonmin Savings Related Share Option Scheme 1994    31,059   0.02  46,099  0.03
Total       3,291,423   2.32   2,291,513  1.60

The table above reflects share awards which the Company is obliged to settle using newly issued shares. Full details of all 
outstanding share awards are given in note 27 to the accounts.

Directors’	shareholding	obligation
Ultimately, the Committee believes that the most powerful way of ensuring that the actions of the Directors are best aligned with 
shareholders’ interests is for the Directors to build up and retain personally significant holdings of the Company’s shares. As a  
matter of policy, the Board expects all Directors to acquire a shareholding (including vested but unexercised share incentives) by  
30 September 2008 equal in value to 100% of their basic pay (or, in the case of non-executive Directors, fees), and 150% in the  
case of the Chief Executive. In this way, shareholder value becomes a paramount principle underlying all Board decisions, since  
real personal wealth will be at stake. Failure to achieve these targets may result in exclusion from participation in some or all of  
the incentive schemes that the Company operates.

Directors’	shareholdings
The beneficial interests of the Directors in office during the year are shown below:

       30.09.05 30.09.06

Executive Directors
Brad Mills1        141,596   152,707
John Robinson        25,491   27,032
Ian Farmer        12,681   14,022
Non-Executive Directors
Sir John Craven        93,808   93,808
Roger Phillimore        18,614   18,826
Michael Hartnall        4,000   4,000
Peter Godsoe        3,360   3,360
Karen de Segundo        –   1,488
Sivi Gounden        –   –
Total       299,550 315,243

1  Mr Mills’ holding of 124,362 shares under the CIP is, as explained above, at risk of forfeiture if his employment is summarily terminated with cause
2  There were no changes in the serving Directors’ interests from 30 September 2006 to the date of this report, save a dividend re-investment in John Robinson’s 

PEP under a standing election resulting in an additional 11 shares acquired on 2 October 2006 at a price of 2599.75p

Remuneration Committee Report
continued
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Directors’ options and awards
The options and awards held by Directors over ordinary shares of the Company are set out in the table below:

         Date from
         which   Market
 Perform-    

Movements in year
   exercisable  Date of price of Notional Market value

 ance Date of Exercisable As at  Exercised/  As at /vesting Expiry exercise/ date of pre-tax as at
Scheme Condition grant Price (p) 30.09.05 Granted released Lapsed 30.09.06 date date vesting exercise gain (£)  30.09.06(£)1

Brad Mills2              
CIP IA (c)  19.05.04   –   124,362   –   –   –   124,362   19.05.07   19.05.07   –   –   –   3,182,424 
CIP MA (c)  19.05.04   –   104,869   –   –   –   104,869   19.05.07   19.05.07   –   –   –   2,683,598 
DABP MA (d)  20.12.04   –   28,210   –   –   –   28,210   20.12.07   20.12.07   –   –   –   721,894 
DABP MA (e)  15.12.05   –   –   17,897   –   –   17,897   21.12.08   21.12.08   –   –   –   457,984 
LTIP (d)  20.07.04   –   78,451   –   –   –   78,451   20.07.07   20.07.07   –   –   –   2,007,561 
LTIP (d)  30.09.05   –   67,500   –   –   –   67,500   30.09.08   30.09.08   –   –   –   1,727,325 
LTIP (f)  17.08.06   –   –   44,100   –   –   44,100   17.08.09   17.08.09   –   –   –   1,128,519
Total   – 403,392 61,997 – – 465,389   – – – 11,909,305
John Robinson              
ESOS3 (a)  01.07.02   1,150.00   27,000   –   –   –   27,000   01.07.05   01.07.12   –   –   –   380,430 
ESOS (a)  30.09.03   942.00   27,000   –   –   –   27,000   30.09.06   30.09.13   –   –   –   436,590
SAYE (b)  15.12.03   840.00   1,886   –   –   –   1,886   01.02.09   01.08.09   –   –   –   32,420 
DABP MA (d)  20.12.04   –   7,928   –   –   –   7,928   20.12.07   20.12.07   –   –   –   202,878 
DABP MA (e)  15.12.05   –   –   2,592   –   –   2,592   21.12.08   21.12.08   –   –   –   66,329 
LTIP (d)  20.07.04   –   30,266   –   –   –   30,266   20.07.07   20.07.07   –   –   –   774,507 
LTIP (d)  30.09.05   –   26,000   –   –   –   26,000   30.09.08   30.09.08   –   –   –   665,340 
LTIP (f)  17.08.06   –   –   9,200   –   –   9,200   17.08.09   17.08.09   –   –   –   235,428
Total   – 120,080 11,792 – – 131,872   – – – 2,793,922
Ian Farmer              
ESOS3 (a)  01.07.02   1,150.00   27,000   –   –   –   27,000   01.07.05   01.07.12   –   –   –   380,430 
ESOS (a)  30.09.03   942.00   27,000   –   –   –   27,000   30.09.06   30.09.13   –   –   –   436,590 
SAYE (b)  05.01.05   705.00   2,343   –   –   –   2,343   01.02.10   01.08.10   –   –   –   43,439 
DABP MA (d)  20.12.04   –   8,433   –   –   –   8,433   20.12.07   20.12.07   –   –   –   215,800 
DABP MA (e)  15.12.05   –   –   2,273   –   –   2,273   21.12.08   21.12.08   –   –   –   58,166 
LTIP (d)  20.07.04   –   26,773   –   –   –   26,773   20.07.07   20.07.07   –   –   –   685,121 
LTIP (d)  30.09.05   –   23,000   –   –   –   23,000   30.09.08   30.09.08   –   –   –   588,570 
LTIP (f)  17.08.06   –   –   12,200   –   –   12,200   17.08.09   17.08.09   –   –   –   312,198
Total   – 114,549 14,473 – – 129,022   – – – 2,720,314

Rows that are not shaded indicate that options have vested and are capable of exercise.

1 The value is calculated using the closing middle market quotation for Lonmin shares at 30 September 2006 of 2559p and is stated (where relevant) net of exercise costs.
2  Mr Mills’ invested award of 124,362 shares under the CIP is at risk of forfeiture if his employment is summarily terminated with cause
3 The test relating to the 2002 executive share option was not satisfied and is therefore not currently capable of being exercised
4   No options or awards held by the Directors were exercised or lapsed during the year. There were no changes in the serving directors’ interests from 30 September 

2006 to the date of this report
5   The closing mid-market quotation for the Company’s ordinary shares, as derived from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List, was 2559p on  

30 September 2006, and the price ranged between 1247p and 3093p during the financial year       
       

The schemes under which these awards/options were granted are:
ESOS  – Options granted under the Lonmin Executive Share Option Schemes (Inland Revenue approved and unapproved)
SAYE  – Options granted under the Lonmin Savings Related Share Option Scheme
DABP MA  – Deferred Annual Bonus Plan Matched Awards made under the Shareholder Value Incentive Plan
LTIP  – Long Term Incentive Plan Awards made under the Shareholder Value Incentive Plan
CIP IA  – Co–Investment Plan Invested Award made under the Shareholder Value Incentive Plan
CIP MA  – Co–Investment Plan Matched Award made under the Shareholder Value Incentive Plan

The peformance conditions are fully explained in earlier narrative, but are briefly:
(a)  TSR exceeds that achieved on the FTSE mining sector over 3, 4, 5 or 6 years 
(b)  No performance condition is attached to SAYE options 
(c)    50% of awards linked to same TSR condition as in (d) below and remaining 50% of award linked to absolute growth in the Company’s share price over 3 year period
(d)  TSR exceeds TSR of comparator companies over 3 years with vesting schedules as described
(e)    50% of awards linked to TSR exceeding TSR of comparator companies over 3 years with vesting schedule as described and remaining 50% of award linked to 

growth in EBIT             
(f)  50% of awards linked to TSR exceeding TSR of comparator companies over 3 years with vesting schedule as described and remaining 50% of award linked to EBIT
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Non-Group	directorships
Save as noted below, no executive Director holds any executive directorship or appointment outside the Group. It is both the 
Company’s policy, and generally a requirement of the individual’s contract of employment, that no executive Director may take up such 
an appointment without the approval of the Board. The Board believes that in the right circumstances the holding of non-executive 
directorships and similar appointments by executive Directors can be useful and appropriate if they help those involved gain additional 
skills and experience, or promote the interests of the Group, and do not necessitate an excessive time commitment. The Board would 
not normally agree to an executive Director taking on more than one non-executive directorship of a FTSE100 company, or the 
chairmanship of such a company. Whilst it would be considered on a case-by-case basis, any individual holding such a role outside 
the Group would generally be permitted to retain any fees or other payments relating to that appointment. Ian Farmer is a non-
executive director of Incwala Resources (Pty) Limited, the International Platinum Association and, until 29 September 2006, of Furuya 
Metals Co. Ltd, a Japanese company undertaking significant research and development into uses for PGMs in which Lonmin has an 
equity investment. Mr Farmer has not received and does not receive any remuneration in respect of his services to any of these 
organisations. 

Service	contracts
The Company complies fully with the provisions of the Combined Code relating to service contracts. The Remuneration Committee 
would be responsible for settling any payment to be made if an executive Director’s employment ended, and would have full regard 
to the provisions of the Combined Code and other components of best practice in this area. 

Directors’	service	contracts	and	letters	of	appointment

   Expiry date of current service contract or letter of
 Date of contract/letter Unexpired term appointment and termination arrangements

Executive Directors
Brad Mills 4 February 2004 Rolling contract Contract terminable on expiry of 12 months’ notice 
 (amended  from the Company and 6 months from Brad Mills. The 
 19 November 2004)  contract also contains provisions for ‘gardening leave’ 
   and payment in lieu of notice (being salary and benefits  
   for one year at the rate then in force plus an estimate of  
   any bonus due for that year), at the discretion of the  
   Company.
  
Ian Farmer 6 April 2006 Rolling contract Contracts are terminable on 364 days’ prior written  
John Robinson 6 April 2006 Rolling contract notice given by either the Company or the 
   individual, except for gross misconduct or in certain  
   other circumstances which may result in dismissal. 
   In the event that employment is terminated by the 
    Company without notice and not for reasons of gross 

misconduct, the Directors are entitled to receive a 
payment equivalent to the value of the annual basic 
salary and contractual benefits which would have 
been earned during this unworked notice period.

Non-executive Directors   
Sir John Craven 1 March 2003  Letters of appointment provide for a fixed period of 
Peter Godsoe 28 June 2005   appointment of three years, subject to the Company’s
Sivi Gounden 28 September 2005   years, subject to the Company’s Articles of Association
Michael Hartnall 8 May 2003   relating to retirement by rotation. No compensation 
Roger Phillimore 7 July 2005  is payable to non executive Directors for loss of office.
Karen de Segundo 22 April 2005  

This report was approved by the Board on 14 November 2006.

Roger	Phillimore
Chairman, Remuneration Committee

Remuneration Committee Report
continued
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Audit Committee Report

Role	of	the	Audit	Committee
The Audit Committee is a formal Committee of the Board, and 
has powers delegated to it under the Articles of Association. Its 
terms of reference were reviewed by the Board in May 2004 
and are compliant with the provisions of the Combined Code. 
A copy of the terms of reference is available on the Company’s 
website and sets out the primary purposes of the Audit 
Committee, which are:

To monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial 
statements and announcements relating to its  
financial performance, reviewing significant financial 
reporting judgements. 
To keep under review the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal controls and risk management systems.
To monitor the effectiveness of the internal audit function 
and review its material findings.
To oversee the relationship with the external auditors, 
including agreeing their remuneration and terms of 
engagement, monitoring their independence, objectivity and 
effectiveness and ensuring that policy surrounding their 
engagement to provide non-audit services is appropriately 
applied.

The Committee is authorised to investigate any matters within 
its terms of reference, access all Group documents and 
information, seek information from any Director or employee of 
the Group and co-opt any resources (including external 
professional assistance) it sees fit in order to fulfil its duties. 
However, the Committee has no executive function and its 
primary objective is to review and challenge, rather than 
assume responsibility for any matters within its remit. Minutes 
of all meetings of the Committee (save those recording private 
discussions with either the internal or external auditors) are 
circulated to all Directors, and supplemented by a verbal 
update from the Committee Chairman at the next Board 
meeting, identifying any matters in respect of which action or 
improvement is required, and making recommendations where 
appropriate. The Committee presents a summary of its 
activities to shareholders and other interested parties by 
means of this report, and the Committee Chairman attends all 
general meetings of the Company’s shareholders to answer 
any questions on the Committee’s activities.

The Committee assessed its effectiveness at a meeting in 
September 2006. To do so, members of the Committee, the 
internal and external auditors and members of the 
management team who assist the Audit Committee in their 
work all provided their opinions on the effectiveness of the 
Committee, the flow of information, relationships with 
management and advisors and the appropriateness of the 
terms of reference. All of these views were summarised into a 
formal report to the Board by the Chairman. The Committee 
separately discussed the effectiveness of the Chairman of the 
Committee (in his absence), which also formed part of the 
report to the Board. There were no matters arising which the 
Committee or Board felt necessitated change.

•

•

•

•

Composition	of	the	Audit	Committee
All independent Directors, with the exception of the Chairman 
of the Board, are eligible to become members of the 
Committee. The Nomination Committee will recommend any 
appointments or removals to the Board, which is responsible 
for the composition of the Committee. The Committee has at 
least three members, all of whom must be financially literate, 
and any two members form a quorum. The Committee 
comprised the following members during the year and to the 
date of this report, except where stated otherwise:

Michael Hartnall – an independent Director and a chartered 
accountant, Mr Hartnall was for 16 years until 2003 the 
finance director of Rexam plc, a multinational manufacturer 
of consumer packaging where his responsibilities included 
finance, internal control, risk management and corporate 
governance. He was also a member of the Hampel 
Committee which produced the first version of the 
Combined Code in 1998. The Board has judged that he has 
the significant, recent and relevant financial experience 
necessary to chair the Committee.
Roger Phillimore – an independent Director and a member 
of the Audit Committee since May 1998.
Karen de Segundo – an independent Director and a 
member of the Audit Committee since 29 April 2005.

Biographical details of each Director are set out on page 26 
and 27 of the Annual Review which accompanies this 
document. Each member receives an annual fee of £7,500 for 
serving as a member of the Committee or, in the case of the 
Chairman, £17,500. In addition, Mr Hartnall receives a fee of 
£7,500 for attending meetings of the Company’s Risk and 
SHEC Committee. These fees are included in the table of 
Directors’ remuneration on page 18 of this document. All 
members of the Committee are provided with appropriate 
induction into the role of the Committee and the operation of its 
terms of reference on appointment. Access to training is 
provided on an ongoing basis to ensure that members are able 
to discharge their duties.

Meetings of the Committee are attended by the Chief 
Executive, the Chief Financial Officer, the Vice President – 
Finance, the Vice President – Risk and Treasury and Assistant 
Company Secretary (who acts as secretary to the Committee), 
none of whom do so as of right. The external auditors attend all 
Committee meetings and a private meeting is routinely held 
with them to afford the opportunity of discussions without the 
presence of management. The internal auditors attend all 
Committee meetings held in South Africa and are similarly 
afforded private meetings with the Committee.

Internal	audit
Throughout the year, Ernst & Young acted as internal auditors to 
Lonmin. They were also commissioned to advise on the internal 
control environment that would be required in order to 
successfully implement a new enterprise resource planning 
system. The Committee sees this activity as wholly appropriate 

•

•

•
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for the internal auditors to perform. A total of 22 assignments 
were undertaken during the year across a broad cross-section 
of activities identified by both management and the Audit 
Committee. Internal audit reports are agreed with operational 
management and then delivered to the president of Lonmin 
Platinum and to the Chief Financial Officer, with material findings 
and recommendations then summarised to the Audit 
Committee, who receive regular updates on progress in 
addressing the matters raised by internal audits. The Audit 
Committee reviews the effectiveness of the internal auditors 
annually.

External	audit
KPMG Audit plc acted as the external auditors to the Lonmin 
Group throughout the year. The lead audit partner is based in 
London and supported by a second audit partner based in 
Johannesburg. The external auditors may not be engaged on 
any material non-audit work without the prior approval of the 
Audit Committee, who are responsible for the annual work plan 
and fee budget for the auditors. As policy, the Committee 
would not allow the external auditors to perform any work that 
they may subsequently need to audit, or which might otherwise 
create a conflict of interests. The Committee also monitors the 
balance between audit and non-audit related spend to ensure 
that auditor independence can be shown to be maintained. 
The Chief Financial Officer is permitted to engage the external 
auditors on matters that do not create such conflicts or 
otherwise compromise the audit firm subject to an annual fee 
ceiling of $100,000. 

Non-audit fees incurred during the year amounted to $0.6 
million (2005 – $0.5 million), equating to approximately 55% 
(2005 – 56%) of the total Group audit fee, and relate primarily to 
the provision of taxation advisory services and advice on 
accounting practice, including the transition to international 
financial reporting standards. The Committee is satisfied that 
the overall level of non-audit fees is not material relative to the 
income of the audit offices and firm as a whole, and that the 
nature of the services provided are appropriate and in line with 
the Company’s policies in this area.

The Audit Committee appraised the expertise, resources, 
independence and objectivity of KPMG and also reviewed their 
effectiveness as external auditors before reaching the 
recommendation to the Board that their re-election should be 
proposed to shareholders.

Activities	of	the	Audit	Committee
The Committee normally meets four times annually, although 
one additional meeting was held in January 2006. The 
Committee reports its material findings to the next Board 
meeting. The principal business of these meetings is:

November: consideration of the letter of representation from 
management to the external auditors relating to the 

•

accounts; receive a report from the external auditors 
following their review of the full year accounts; assessment 
of any material exercises of judgement by management; 
consideration of the ‘going concern’ statement; review of 
the annual reporting documents (including the accounts) 
and consider whether to recommend the same to the 
Board; review of the independence, objectivity and 
effectiveness of the external auditors and formulation of a 
recommendation to the Board as to whether or not their re-
appointment should be proposed to shareholders; review of 
the effectiveness of internal controls and risk management 
systems during the year prepared by management; receive 
an update on the work of the Risk and SHEC Committee 
and any material matters arising; private meeting with the 
external auditors.
January: review of implications of adoption of IFRS, review 
of external auditor’s report on the IFRS restatement, 
approval of restated financial statements under IFRS relating 
to the previous financial year. 
March (in South Africa): review of matters arising from the 
prior year audit; approval of scope of the external auditors’ 
proposed review of the interim accounts and the fees to be 
charged; approval of the scope and fees for the external 
audit of the full year accounts; review of non-audit services 
to be provided by the external auditors; approval of the 
terms of the external auditors’ engagement letter; review of 
the work of the internal auditors in the year to date and their 
principal findings; receive an update on the work of the Risk 
and SHEC Committee and any material matters arising; 
private meeting with the internal auditors.
April: consideration of the letter of representation from 
management to the external auditors relating to the interim 
accounts; receive a report from the external auditors 
following their review of the interim accounts; assessment of 
any material exercises of judgement by management; review 
of the interim report (including the accounts) and consider 
whether to recommend the same to the Board; receive an 
update on the work of the Risk and SHEC Committee and 
any material matters arising; private meeting with the 
external auditors.
September (in South Africa): review of the effectiveness of 
the internal auditors; review of the work of the internal 
auditors and their principal findings; approval of the scope 
and focus of the internal audit programme and internal audit 
fees for the forthcoming financial year; further review and 
final confirmation of the external auditors’ plan for the year 
end audit; receive an update on the work of the Risk and 
SHEC Committee and any material matters arising; review 
of the key risks facing the Group following ‘top down’ and 
‘bottom up’ risk reviews; review of the renewal terms and 
scope of cover of the Group’s insurance programme; review 
of the effectiveness of the audit committee and the 
Chairman, private meeting with the internal auditors. 

•

•

•

•

Audit Committee Report
continued



www.lonmin.com33	 Lonmin	Plc Annual Report 2006

Job:	 7315_LONMIN_REP_front_AW.indd	 Proof:	 10	 Proof Read by:
Operator:	Dave	 Date:	 23/11/2006	
Server:	 studio	1	 Set-up:	 Rob	 First	Read/Revisons

In addition to the routine business described above, the 
Committee also undertook the following activities during the 
year and in the period to the date of this report in discharging 
its responsibilities:

Endorsement of the appointment of a new external audit 
partner
Review of the impact of the Flint review of Turnbull Guidance
Review of the Company’s legal and regulatory compliance
Updates on the OFR and Business Review requirements
Consideration and approval of the Group’s capital 
expenditure control procedures and further review of the 
capex reporting process.
Review of the audit findings on the financial and statutory 
management of the Lonmin Development Trust
Review of matters reported to the independent  
ethics hotline
Review of risk assessment report and work-plan for annual 
‘bottom up’ risk review
Receive status report on implementation of  
enterprise resource planning system and the internal  
control environment
Receive report from external auditors on controls reporting 
and interface with internal auditors
Update from external auditors on incoming legislation in 
South Africa
Approval of non-audit work undertaken by external auditor

The Committee met five times during the year. Attendance at 
these meetings was as follows:

 Number of 
  meetings held Number of
 during time meetings 
Director in office attended

Karen de Segundo 5 5
Michael Hartnall 5 5
Roger Phillimore 5 5
     
This report was approved by the Board on 14 November 2006.

Michael	Hartnall
Committee Chairman

•

•
•
•
•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
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Role	of	the	Nomination	Committee
The Nomination Committee is a formal Committee of the 
Board, and has powers delegated to it under the Articles of 
Association. Its remit is set out in terms of reference that were 
formally adopted by the Board in November 2005. These are 
available from the Company, and displayed on its website. The 
primary purpose of the Committee is, in consultation with the 
Chairman, to recommend any proposed changes to the 
composition of the Board, and to instigate and manage the 
recruitment process.

Composition	of	the	Nomination	Committee
The Committee comprises Roger Phillimore (chairman), Peter 
Godsoe and, from 9 November 2005, Sir John Craven. All 
three members are non-executive Directors whom the Board 
considers to be wholly independent. The quorum for a meeting 
of the Committee is two members. Each member receives an 
annual fee of £5,000 for serving as a member of the 
Committee or, in the case of its Chairman, £7,500. These fees 
are included in the table of Directors’ remuneration on page 18.

The Committee is supported by the services of the Company 
Secretary, who acts as secretary to the Committee and it has 
full access to the Chief Executive. It is also empowered to 
appoint search consultants, legal, tax and other professional 
advisors as it sees fit to assist with its work, and to co-opt 
such resources as it requires to fulfil its duties.

Activities	of	the	Nomination	Committee
All recommendations for Board appointments are made on 
merit and against objective criteria. A job specification is drawn 
up which includes, in the case of non-executive appointments, 
an estimate of the time commitment required. Generally, the 
Committee will engage executive search consultants to ensure 
objectivity. There were no new appointments to the Board 
during the year.

At a meeting in November 2005, the Committee reviewed the 
effectiveness of the Directors seeking re-appointment at the 
Company’s 2006 AGM. Sir John Craven, Michael Hartnell and 
Karen de Segundo were deemed to be able, committed and 
effective in their roles. No such assessment could be made in 
respect of Sivi Gounden as he had only recently joined the 
Board, but the Committee had every confidence in his abilitites. 
The Committee also assessed its effectiveness and, in his 
absence, that of the Chairman of the Committee. The views 
expressed were summarised to the Board. There were no 
matters arising which the Committee or the Board felt 
necessitated change. 

In August 2006 the Committee approved the offer of a fourth 
term of office to Mr Phillimore, who did not attend this meeting 
in view of the subject matter.

The Committee met twice during the year. Attendance at this 
meeting was as follows:

 Number of 
  meetings held Number of
 during time meetings 
Director in office attended

Peter Godsoe 2 2
Roger Phillimore 2 1
Sir John Craven 1 1

This report was approved by the Board on 14 November 2006.

Roger	Phillimore
Committee Chairman

Nomination Committee Report
for the year ended 30 September 2006
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Independent	Auditors’	Report	to	the	Members	of	Lonmin	Plc	
We have audited the group and parent company financial 
statements (the ‘’financial statements’’) of Lonmin Plc for the 
year ended 30 September 2006 which comprise the 
Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated and Parent 
Company Balance Sheets, the Consolidated Cash Flow 
Statement, Statement of Recognised Income and Expense and 
the related notes. These financial statements have been 
prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. We 
have also audited the information in the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report that is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a 
body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 
1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the company’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective	responsibilities	of	directors	and	auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report 
and the group financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as adopted by the EU, and for preparing the parent 
company financial statements and the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report in accordance with applicable law and UK Accounting 
Standards (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set 
out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities on page 6. 

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the 
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited in 
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements 
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial 
statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial 
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to 
be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the group financial 
statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We also report to you 
whether in our opinion the information given in the Directors’ 
Report is consistent with the financial statements. The information 
given in the Directors’ Report includes that specific information 
presented in the Business Review that is cross referred from the 
Business Review section of the Directors’ Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the company has 
not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all 
the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if 
information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration 
and other transactions is not disclosed. 

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement 
reflects the company’s compliance with the nine provisions of 
the 2003 Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing 
Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does 
not. We are not required to consider whether the board’s 

statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or 
form an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s corporate 
governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report 
and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial 
statements. We consider the implications for our report if we 
become aware of any apparent misstatements or material 
inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our 
responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis	of	audit	opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing 
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of 
evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to 
be audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant 
estimates and judgments made by the directors in the preparation 
of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies 
are appropriate to the group’s and company’s circumstances, 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the 
information and explanations which we considered necessary 
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the 
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are 
free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or 
other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also 
evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of 
information in the financial statements and the part of the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited.

Opinion	
In our opinion:

the group financial statements give a true and fair view, in 
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, of the state of 
the group’s affairs as at 30 September 2006 and of its profit 
for the year then ended;
the group financial statements have been properly prepared 
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of 
the IAS Regulation;
the parent company financial statements give a true and fair 
view, in accordance with UK Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice, of the state of the parent company’s 
affairs as at 30 September 2006;
the parent company financial statements and the part of the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been 
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 
1985; and 
the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent 
with the financial statements. 

KPMG	Audit	Plc
Chartered Accountants
Registered Auditor 
London  14 November 2006

•

•

•

•

•

Auditors’ Report
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Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 30 September

    Special   Special
   2006 items 2006 2005 items 2005
   Underlyingi (note 3) Total Underlyingi (note 3) Total
Continuing operations  Note $m $m $m $m $m $m

Revenue  2 1,855 – 1,855 1,128 – 1,128 
EBITDAii   911 12 923 429 (12) 417 
Depreciation and amortisation  (81) – (81) (67) – (67)
Operating profit/(loss)iii  2 830 12 842 362 (12) 350 
Finance income  6 12 – 12 11 – 11 
Finance expenses  6 (34) (206) (240) (37) (8) (45)
Share of profit of associate and 
 joint venture  13 19 – 19 3 – 3 
Profit/(loss) before taxation   827 (194) 633 339 (20) 319 
Income tax expenseiv  7 (280) 78 (202) (129) 11 (118)
Profit/(loss) for the year   547 (116) 431 210 (9) 201 
Attributable to:
– Equity shareholders of Lonmin Plc  445 (132) 313 168 (10) 158 
– Minority interest   102 16 118 42 1 43 
Earnings per share  8 312.1c  219.5c 118.5c  111.5c
Diluted earnings per sharev  8 307.7c  216.4c 118.3c  111.3c
Dividends paid per share  9   87.0c   72.0c

Statement of recognised income and expense
for the year ended 30 September
       2006 2005
       Total Total
      Note $m $m

Profit for the year       431 201
Change in fair value of available for sale financial assets    14 46 –
Amounts charged to hedging reserve     28 (4) –
Actuarial (losses)/gains on post retirement benefit plan    15 (6) 7
Total recognised income for the year      467 208
Attributable to:
– Equity shareholders of Lonmin Plc     28 350 165
– Minority interest      28 117 43
      28 467 208

Footnotes:
i Underlying earnings are calculated on profit for the year excluding movements in the fair value of the embedded derivative associated with the convertible bond, 

exchange on tax balances, profit on the sale of Marikana houses, an adjustment to the interest capitalised in prior years and, for 2005, the effect of a change in the 
South African tax rate on the opening deferred tax balance and reorganisation costs as disclosed in note 3 to the accounts.

ii EBITDA is operating profit before depreciation and amortisation.
iii Operating profit is defined as revenue and other operating expenses before net finance costs and before share of profit of associate and joint venture.
iv The income tax expense relates to overseas only and includes exchange gains of $82 million (2005 – losses of $2 million) as disclosed in note 7 to the accounts.
v The calculation of diluted EPS includes adjustments for the movements in fair value on the embedded derivative within the convertible bond subject to the limitation 

under IAS 33 – Earnings per share, that this cannot thereby create a figure exceeding basic EPS.
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Consolidated balance sheet
at 30 September

        2005
       2006 Restatedi

      Note $m $m

Non-current assets
Goodwill      10 113 100 
Intangible assets      11 328 319 
Property, plant and equipment     12 1,463 1,339 
Investment in associate and joint venture     13 113 91 
Financial assets:
– Available for sale financial assets     14 98 15 
– Other receivables      14 19 22 
Employee benefits      15 6 12 
       2,140 1,898 
Current assets
Inventories      16 135 110 
Trade and other receivables      17 396 147 
Assets held for sale      18 6 16 
Tax recoverable       3 4 
Cash and cash equivalents      32 61 11 
       601 288 
Current liabilities
Bank overdraft repayable on demand     32 (18) (1)
Trade and other payables      19 (209) (133)
Financial liabilities:
– Interest bearing loans and borrowings     22c – (86)
– Derivative financial instruments     21 (4) –
Tax payable       (91) (28)
       (322) (248) 
Net current assets       279 40 
Non-current liabilities
Employee benefits      15 (7) (1)
Financial liabilities:
– Interest bearing loans and borrowings     20 (499) (506)
– Derivative financial instruments     21 (268) (41)
Deferred tax liabilities      23 (294) (344)
Provisions      24 (39) (42)
       (1,107) (934)
Net assets       1,312 1,004 
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital      28 143 142 
Share premium account      28 26 12 
Other reserves      28 84 88 
Retained earnings      28 836 596 
Attributable to equity shareholders of Lonmin Plc    28 1,089 838 
Attributable to minority interest     28 223 166 
Total equity      28 1,312 1,004 

Footnote:
i 2005 has been restated under IFRS 3 – Business Combinations, following the finalisation of the fair values arising upon the acquisition of Southern Platinum 

Corporation (note 33).

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 14 November 2006 and were signed on its behalf by:

Sir	John	Craven	Chairman J	N	Robinson	Chief Financial Officer
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Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 30 September

       2006 2005
      Note $m $m

Profit for the year       431 201 
Taxation      7 202 118
Finance income      6 (12) (11)
Finance expenses      6 240 45 
Share of profit after tax of associate and joint venture    13 (19) (3)
Depreciation and amortisation      81 67 
Change in inventories       (25) (30)
Change in trade and other receivables      (249) (22)
Change in trade and other payables      74 5 
Change in provisions       (2) 3 
Profit on sale of assets held for sale     4 (12) –
Other non cash charges       13 4 
Cash flow from consolidated operations      722 377 
Dividend from associate       – 2 
Cash flow from operations       722 379 
Interest received       1 2 
Interest paid       (32) (23)
Tax paid       (185) (79)
Cash flow from operating activities      506 279 
Cash flow from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of cash acquired)     (14) (197)
Purchase of intangible asset       (21) (27)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment      (161) (178)
Proceeds from available for sale financial assets     – 3 
Purchase of available for sale financial assets     (36) (2)
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale     28 –
Cash used in investing activities      (204) (401)
Cash flow from financing activities
Equity dividends paid to Lonmin shareholders     (124) (102)
Dividends paid to minority       (62) (27)
Proceeds from current borrowings      – 85 
Repayment of current borrowings      (86) –
Proceeds from non-current borrowings      288 204 
Repayment of non-current borrowings      (296) (26)
Finance costs       – (6)
Issue of ordinary share capital       15 6 
Cash used in financing activities      (265) 134 
Increase in cash and cash equivalents      37 12 
Opening cash and cash equivalents     32 10 (2)
Effect of exchange rate changes      (4) –
Closing cash and cash equivalents     32 43 10 
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Notes to the accounts

1	Statement	on	accounting	policies
Basis of preparation
Lonmin Plc (the “Company”) is a company incorporated in the UK. 

The group financial statements have been prepared and approved by the directors in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (“Adopted IFRSs”). The Company has elected to prepare its parent company financial 
statements in accordance with UK GAAP; these are presented on pages 76 to 83. The parent company financial statements 
present information about the Company as a separate entity and not about its group.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
group financial statements and in preparing an opening IFRS balance sheet at 1 October 2004 for the purposes of the transition to 
Adopted IFRSs.

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their 
fair value: derivative financial instruments, financial instruments classified as fair value through the profit or loss or as available-for-
sale. Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower of previous carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell.

The Group is preparing its financial statements in accordance with Adopted IFRS for the first time and these statements are, 
therefore, covered by IFRS 1 First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. In general, for the first-time adoption 
of IFRSs, the standards are applied retrospectively. However, there are a number of optional exemptions available under IFRS 1, 
First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, from full retrospective application. The Group’s approach to 
these exemptions is detailed below:

I. Business combinations which occurred prior to the transition date of 1 October 2004 have not been restated in accordance with 
IFRS 3, Business Combinations. Goodwill arising on the acquisition of businesses acquired before 1 October 1998 has been 
charged directly to reserves. Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a business acquired after 1 October 1998 and before 1 
October 2004 is included in the balance sheet at original cost, less accumulated amortisation and any provisions for impairment 
as at 30 September 2004.

II. Cumulative translation differences for foreign operations are deemed to be zero at the transition date. Any gains or losses on the 
subsequent disposal of such operations will not include translation differences arising before the transition date.

III. The net book value of assets which had been revalued prior to the transition date have been treated as deemed cost at that 
date.

IV. IFRS 2, Share Based Payment, has been applied to all grants of equity instruments after 7 November 2002 that remained 
unvested as at 1 January 2005.

IFRS 1 allows first-time adopters an exemption from providing comparative information under IAS 32 Financial Instruments 
disclosure and presentation and IAS 39 Financial Instruments recognition and measurement. The Group has restated comparatives 
on financial instruments in accordance with IAS 32 and IAS 39 in order to benefit the user of the accounts and has not taken 
advantage of the exemption.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company (its 
subsidiaries) and incorporate the results of its share of associates and jointly controlled entities using the equity method of 
accounting and jointly controlled assets and operations using proportional consolidation.

Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity in order to obtain 
benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are consolidated from the effective date of acquisition or up to 
the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries, 
associates and joint ventures to bring the accounting policies used into line with those used by the Group.

An associate is an entity in which the Group has an equity interest and over which it has the ability to exercise significant influence. 
Investments in associates are carried at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the associate, 
less any impairment in value. The income statement reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations after tax of the associate 
(the equity method).
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1	Statement	on	accounting	policies	continued
Joint ventures
The Group undertakes a number of business activities through joint ventures. Joint ventures are established through contractual 
arrangements that require the unanimous consent of each of the venturers regarding the strategic financial and operating policies of 
the venture (joint control). The Group’s joint ventures are of two types:

Jointly controlled entities
A jointly controlled entity is an entity in which the Group has joint control, established by contractual agreement and requiring 
unanimous consent for strategic financial and operating decisions. Jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity 
method. The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the income and expenses after tax of the jointly 
controlled entity.

Jointly controlled assets and operations
A jointly controlled asset of operation is a joint venture in which the Group has certain contractual arrangements with other 
participants to engage in joint activities that do not create an entity carrying on a trade or business of its own. A jointly controlled 
asset is a joint venture in which the venturers have joint control over the assets contributed or acquired for the purpose of the joint 
venture. The Group includes its share of the assets, liabilities and cash flows in such joint arrangements, measured in accordance 
with the terms of each arrangement.

Foreign currencies
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are presented in US 
Dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into US Dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of 
transactions. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the historic rate. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated into US Dollars at the rates of exchange ruling at the closing exchange rate.

Revenue
Revenue is derived from the sale of goods and is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, after deducting 
discounts, volume rebates, value added tax and other sales taxes. A sale is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership have passed. This is when title and insurance risk have passed to the customer, and the goods have been delivered to a 
contractually agreed location.

Revenue derived from the sale of part processed stocks is based on the payable metal sold.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principle outstanding and the effective interest rate applicable.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established.

Expenditure
Expenditure is recognised in respect of goods and services received. 

Research and development
Research expenditure is charged to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred.

Development expenditure which meets the recognition criteria for an intangible asset under IAS 38 Intangible Assets, is capitalised 
and then amortised over the useful economic life of the developed asset, otherwise it is charged to the income statement as 
incurred.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred on individual projects is capitalised when the future economic benefit of the project 
can reasonably be regarded as assured. These costs are amortised from the point at which production capability commences over 
their expected useful lives or the life of mine, if shorter, to residual value. 

Exploration costs are expensed if they relate to expenditure necessary to delineate and quantify the reserves and resources 
required to replace those extracted or in the case of expansion and new opportunities, until a probable reserve has been defined 
and confirmed by a Competent Person. At that point, further costs are capitalised and amortised over their expected useful lives or 
the remaining life of mine, if shorter, to residual value.

Notes to the accounts
continued
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1	Statement	on	accounting	policies	continued
Share-based payment
The cost of providing equity-settled and cash-settled share-based payments to employees is charged to the income statement over 
the vesting period of the related share options or share allocations. The cost is based on the fair value of the options or shares 
allocated and the number of awards expected to vest. The fair value of each option or share is determined using either a Black-
Scholes option pricing model or a Monte Carlo projection model, depending on the type of the award. Market related performance 
conditions are reflected in the fair value of the share. Non market related performance conditions are allowed for using a separate 
assumption about the number of awards expected to vest; the final charge made reflects the numbers actually vested on the basis 
that market conditions are met.

Business combinations and goodwill
At the date of acquisition of a subsidiary undertaking, associate or joint venture fair values are attributed to the acquired identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Provisional fair values are finalised within twelve months of the acquisition date. Goodwill, 
which represents the difference between the fair value of the purchase consideration and the acquired interest in the fair values of 
those net assets, is capitalised and is subject to annual impairment testing in accordance with the policy set out below. Any 
negative goodwill is credited to the income statement in the year of acquisition. If an undertaking is subsequently sold, the amount 
of goodwill carried on the balance sheet at the date of disposal, is charged to the income statement in the period of disposal as 
part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill in respect of subsidiaries and joint ventures is included within intangible fixed assets. Goodwill relating to associates is 
included within the carrying value of the associate.

Goodwill that was eliminated against reserves under UK GAAP prior to 1998 has not been reinstated and will not be included in 
determining any profit or loss on disposal.

Other intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately or from a business acquisition are capitalised at cost and fair value respectively. Where 
amortisation is charged on these assets, the expense is taken to the income statement through operating costs.

Amortisation of mineral rights is provided on a units of production basis over the remaining life of mine to residual value (20 to 40 
years).

Other intangibles are amortised over their useful economic lives subject to a maximum of 20 years.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is included in the balance sheet at cost, less accumulated depreciation and any provisions for 
impairment.

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line or units of production basis, as appropriate over their expected useful lives or the 
remaining life of mine, if shorter, to residual value. The life of mine is based on proven and probable reserves. The expected useful 
lives of the major categories of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

 Method Rate 

Shafts and underground Units of production 2.5%-5.0% per annum (20-40 years)
Metallurgical Straight line 2.5%-7.1% per annum (14-40 years)
Infrastructure Straight line 2.5%-2.9% per annum (35-40 years)
Other plant and equipment Straight line 2.5%-50.0% per annum (2-40 years)

No depreciation is provided on surface mining land which has a continuing value and capital work in progress.

Residual values and useful lives are re-assessed annually and if necessary changes are accounted for prospectively.

Impairment of tangible assets excluding goodwill
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amount of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there 
is any indication that those assets are impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the assets is estimated in 
order to determine the extent of the impairment (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from 
other assets, the group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit (‘CGU’) to which the asset belongs. An 
intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may 
be impaired.
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1	Statement	on	accounting	policies	continued
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the assets for which estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or 
CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment is recognised immediately as an expense.
 
Where an impairment subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to the revised estimate of its 
recoverable amount, so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 
had no impairment been recognised for the asset (or CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment is recognised as income 
immediately.

Impairment of goodwill
Goodwill arising on business combinations is allocated to the group of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination and represents the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored by the Group’s board of directors for internal 
management purposes. The recoverable amount of the group of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for 
impairment annually on a consistent date during each financial year, or when such events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
it may be impaired.

Any impairment is recognised immediately in the income statement. Impairments of goodwill are not subsequently reversed.

Borrowing costs
Property, plant and equipment includes directly attributable borrowing costs which are capitalised during the period of construction.

Leases
Assets held under finance leases are capitalised and included in property, plant and equipment at the lower of the present value of 
the minimum lease payments or the fair value of the leased asset as determined at the inception of the lease. The obligations 
relating to finance leases, net of finance charges in respect of future periods, are included within bank loans and other borrowings, 
with the amount payable within 12 months included in bank overdrafts and loans within short term liabilities. The interest element of 
the rental obligation is allocated to accounting periods during the lease term to reflect the constant rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the obligation for each accounting period. Rentals under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a 
straight-line basis.

Assets held for sale
When an asset’s carrying value will be recovered principally through a sale transaction, to take place within twelve months of the 
balance sheet date, rather than through continuing use it is classified as held for sale and stated at the lower of carrying value and 
fair value less costs to sell. No depreciation is charged in respect of non-current assets classified as held for sale.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (which includes the applicable proportion of production overheads) and net realisable 
value. Platinum Group Metals (PGMs) stock is valued by allocating costs to platinum, palladium and rhodium stock based on the 
annual cost of production, less net realisable value from by-products, apportioned according to the quantities of each of the three 
main metals produced.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and current balances with banks and similar institutions, which are readily 
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value and have an original maturity 
of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as 
defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as the bank overdraft is repayable on demand and forms an integral part of the 
Group’s cash management.

Notes to the accounts
continued
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1	Statement	on	accounting	policies	continued
Pensions and other post-retirement benefits
The Group operates a number of defined contribution schemes overseas in accordance with local regulations. The costs of these 
schemes are charged to the income statement as incurred.

The Group operates two types of pension ‘schemes’ in the United Kingdom. Firstly, there is a defined benefit retirement scheme for 
which the amount recognised in the balance sheet in respect of net assets or liabilities represents the present value of the 
obligations offset by the fair value of the plan assets. The cost of providing for the scheme is charged to the income statement over 
the periods relating to the employees’ service. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the period in which they occur. 
They are recognised outside of the income statement in retained earnings and presented in the statement of recognised income 
and expense. This scheme has been closed to new entrants with effect from 6 April 2006. For employees who do not participate in 
the above scheme the Group makes payments in respect of pensions directly to the employee. These employees have the option to 
invest in a direct contribution scheme which the Group has set up or they may make their own arrangements.

Amendments to IAS 19 – Employee Benefits have been adopted early.

Taxation
Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is provided at amounts expected to be paid or recovered using the tax rates and laws in force during the periods being 
reported upon.

Deferred tax as directed by IAS 12 Income Taxes is recognised in respect of certain temporary differences identified at the balance 
sheet date. Temporary differences are differences between the carrying amount of the Group’s assets and liabilities and their tax 
base.

Deferred tax liabilities are offset against deferred tax assets within the same taxable entity or qualifying local tax group where the 
entities have the right to settle current tax liabilities net. Any remaining deferred tax asset is recognised only when, on the basis of 
all available evidence, it can be regarded as probable that there will be suitable taxable profits, within the same jurisdiction, in the 
foreseeable future against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates, except where 
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Rehabilitation costs
Rehabilitation costs are provided in full based on estimates of the future costs to be incurred, calculated on a discounted basis. As 
the provision is recognised, it is either capitalised as part of the cost of the related mine or written off to the income statement if 
utilised within one year. Where costs are capitalised the impact of such costs on the income statement is spread over the life of 
mine through the accretion of the discount of the provision and the depreciation over a units of production basis of the increased 
costs of the mining assets.

Provisions
Provision is made when an obligation exists for a future liability in respect of a past event and where the amount of the obligation 
can be estimated reliably.

Financial instruments
The Group’s principal financial instruments (other than derivatives) comprise bank loans, listed convertible bonds, investments, cash 
and short-term deposits. 

Bank loans are recorded at amortised cost, net of transaction costs incurred, and are adjusted to amortise transaction costs over 
the term of the loan.
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1	Statement	on	accounting	policies	continued
The Group has raised debt through the issue of convertible bonds. These bonds incorporate two key elements. Firstly, there is the 
financial liability in respect of the debt element. This is measured at net present value of future cash flows. Secondly, the bonds 
allow for conversion to equity at the option of the bond holder. This represents an equity embedded derivative. However, as the 
Group retains a cash settlement option this equity conversion feature is shown as a financial liability if the fair value is greater than 
the net present value of the debt. This embedded derivative is fair valued at each period end with changes in the fair value being 
taken through the income statement. 

Investments are classified into loans and receivables, held-to-maturity and available-for-sale. The classification depends on the 
purpose for which the investments were acquired, the nature of the investments and whether the investment is quoted or not. The 
classification of investments is determined at initial recognition. Investments are initially recognised at fair value, including acquisition 
costs. After initial recognition, investments classified as available-for-sale continue to be measured at fair value with gains or losses 
recognised directly in equity. On disposal or impairment of the investments, the gains or losses in equity are recycled into the 
income statement. Loans and receivables and investments classified as held-to-maturity are carried at amortised cost and gains or 
losses are recognised in the income statement when the investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the 
amortisation process. 

Other derivative financial instruments are used by the Group to manage exposure to market risks from treasury operations and 
commodity price risks on by-products. The principal derivative instruments used are foreign currency swaps, interest rate swaps, 
forward foreign exchange contracts and forward price agreements on by-products. The Group does not hold or issue derivative 
financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the balance sheet at fair value and then remeasured at subsequent 
reporting dates to fair value. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated 
as a hedging instrument and, if so, the nature of the item being hedged. Hedging derivatives are classified on inception as fair value 
hedges or cash flow hedges. 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement, together with any 
changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges is recognised directly in equity if 
effective. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement, to the extent that the 
change in value of the hedging instrument is greater than the change in value of the hedged item.

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the 
income statement.

Segmental reporting
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged in either providing products or services (business 
segment), or is providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical segment) which is subject to 
risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.

Significant judgements
The directors consider the carrying value of goodwill, intangibles and property, plant and equipment to be recoverable. These have 
been assessed for impairment based on value in use. Assessment of value in use has been based on production continuing at 
current or higher levels and PGM prices being maintained in-line with current market expectations.

The Group holds a 22% interest in Platmin Limited but has accounted for the entity as an available for sale asset as the Group has 
no representation on the Board of Platmin Limited and is unable to exert significant influence on the company. 

Notes to the accounts
continued
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1	Statement	on	accounting	policies	continued
New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year ended 30 September 
2006 and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements:

IFRS 6 – Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources includes rules for accounting for expenses related to the 
exploration and evaluation of mineral resources such as minerals, oil, natural gas and similar finite resources before the technical 
feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the resource can be demonstrated. IFRS 6 does not mandate an accounting 
policy specific to exploration and evaluation expenses. Instead, it sets forth the basic conditions under which the company 
preparing the accounts selects an accounting method. Furthermore, IFRS 6 prescribes that impairment tests pursuant to IAS 36 
are carried out on exploration and evaluation assets. Implementation of this standard is not expected to have a material impact 
on the Group’s results, assets or liabilities.
IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclosures and the Amendment to IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements: Capital 
Disclosures requires extensive disclosures about the significance of financial instruments for an entity’s financial position and 
performance, and qualitative and quantitative disclosures on the nature and extent of risks. IFRS 7 and amended IAS1, which 
become mandatory for the Group’s 2007 financial statements, will require additional disclosures with respect to the Group’s 
financial instruments and share capital.
Amendment to IAS 39 and IFRS 4 – Insurance contracts. Implementation of this standard is not expected to have a material 
impact on the Group’s results, assets or liabilities.
IFRIC 4 – Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease provides guidance on determining whether arrangements which 
convey the right to use an asset in return for a series of payments should be accounted for in accordance with IAS 7 – Leases. 
The potential impact of implementation of this Interpretation has not been determined.
IFRIC 5 – Rights to interests arising from decommissioning, restoration and environmental rehabilitation funds addresses the 
issues of how a contributor to such a fund should account for interest in the fund and how obligations to make additional 
contributions should be accounted for. Implementation of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s 
results, assets or liabilities.
IFRIC 9 – Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives requires that a reassessment of whether embedded derivatives should be 
separated from the underlying host contract should be made only when there are changes to the contract. IFRIC 9, which 
becomes mandatory for the Group’s 2007 financial statements, is not expected to have any impact on the consolidated financial 
statements. 

•

•
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2	Segmental	analysis

 2006

     Platinum Corporate Exploration Total
Analysis by business group     $m $m $m $m

Revenue – external sales     1,855 – – 1,855 
Operating profit     877 (19) (16) 842 
Segment total assets     2,596 145 – 2,741 
Segment total liabilities     (926) (503) – (1,429)
Capital expenditurei     232 1 – 233 
Depreciation and amortisation    81 – – 81

 2005

     Platinum Corporate Exploration Total 
Analysis by business group     $m $m $m $m

Revenue – external sales     1,128 – – 1,128 
Operating profit     385 (24) (11) 350 
Segment total assets     2,051 135 – 2,186 
Segment total liabilities     (672) (510) – (1,182)
Capital expenditurei     210 – – 210 
Depreciation and amortisation    67 – – 67 

 2006

     South Africa UK Other Total
Analysis by geographical location     $m $m $m $m

Revenue – external sales     1,855 – – 1,855
Segment total assets     2,594 145 2 2,741
Capital expenditurei     232 1 – 233

 2005

     South Africa UK Other Total 
Analysis by geographical location     $m $m $m $m

Revenue – external sales     1,128 – – 1,128
Segment total assets     2,048 135 3 2,186
Capital expenditurei     210 – – 210

Footnote:
i Capital expenditure includes additions to plant, property and equipment (including capitalised interest), intangible assets and goodwill in accordance with IAS14 – 

Segment reporting. 

Revenue by destination is analysed by geographical area below:

       2006 2005 
       $m $m

The Americas       435 368
Asia       518 351
Europe       291 210
South Africa       602 191
Zimbabwe       9 8
       1,855 1,128

Notes to the accounts
continued
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3	Special	items
‘Special items’ are those items of financial performance that the Group believes should be separately disclosed on the face of the 
income statement to assist in the understanding of the financial performance achieved by the Group.

       2006 2005 
       $m $m

EBITDA
– Sale of houses       12 – 
– Reorganisation       – (12)
Finance costs
– Calculation of capitalised interest      21 –
– Movement in fair value of embedded derivative     (227) (8)
Special loss before taxation       (194) (20)
Taxation on above items (note 7)      (4) 2 
Tax rate change – effect on opening deferred tax balance     – 11 
Exchange on tax balances (note 7)      82 (2)
Special loss before minority interest      (116) (9)
Minority interest       (16) (1)
Special loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders of Lonmin Plc    (132) (10)

– Sale of houses: we currently accommodate a substantial number of our employees in hostels and married quarters with the 
remainder living in their homes. We are selling houses to employees to encourage home-ownership. Any profits or losses from 
such sales at fair value are not deemed to represent underlying earnings.

– Capitalised interest includes an adjustment to the interest capitalised in prior years of $21 million.

– The convertible bond contains an embedded derivative which is held at fair value. Due to the cash settlement option the bond is 
classified within non-current liabilities and movements in fair value are taken to the income statement. Fluctuations in fair value 
are mainly due to changes in share price.

– The Group holds both current and deferred tax balances in Rand which is not the functional currency of the Group. Given the 
volatility of the Rand to US$ exchange rate the revaluation of such tax balances can cause significant variations in the tax charge 
and therefore profitability. Consequently the directors feel that such foreign exchange impacts should be treated as special.
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4	Group	operating	profit
Group operating profit is arrived at as follows:

       2006 2005
       $m $m

Revenue       1,855 1,128 
Cost of sales       (949) (751)
Gross profit       906 377 
Administration expenses       (46) (42)
Exploration       (14) (11)
Other operating (expense)/income      (4) 26 
Group operating profit       842 350 

Group operating profit is stated after charging:

       2006 2005 
       $m $m

Operating lease charges – land and buildings     1 2
Depreciation charge – owned tangible assets     69 60
Amortisation charge – intangible assets      12 7
Profit on sale of assets held for sale      12 –
Foreign exchange losses       (2) –

Fees payable to KPMG Audit Plc and its associates are analysed as follows:

 2006  2005

   UK Overseas Total UK Overseas Total 
   $m $m $m $m $m $m

Audit remuneration
– Final   0.5 0.4 0.9 0.3 0.4 0.7 
– Interim   0.1 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.2 
Accounting advice   0.1 0.1 0.2 – 0.1 0.1 
Tax advice   – 0.3 0.3 0.1 0.2 0.3 
IFRS advice   0.2 – 0.2 0.1 – 0.1 
Sustainability   – 0.1 0.1 – – –
US GAAP and related advice   0.1 – 0.1 – – –
   1.0 1.0 2.0 0.6 0.8 1.4 

Notes to the accounts
continued
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5	Employees
The average number of employees and directors during the year was as follows:

       2006 2005 
       No. No.

South Africa       23,144 22,370
Europe       36 32
       23,180 22,402

The aggregate payroll costs of employees and key management were as follows:

       2006 2005 
Employee costs       $m $m

Wages and salaries       331 261
Social security costs       25 29
Other pension costs       41 23
Share based payments       9 4
       406 317

       2006 2005 
Key management compensation       $m $m

Short-term employee benefits       8 8
Post-employment benefits       1 1
Share-based payments       1 2
       10 11

The key management compensation analysed above represents amounts in respect of the Chief Executive Committee (CEC) which 
comprises the three executive directors and five other senior managers.

The Sterling equivalents of total directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the highest paid director together with full details of 
directors’ remuneration, pensions and benefits in kind are given in the Remuneration Committee report on pages 15 to 30.
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6	Net	finance	costs

       2006 2005 
       $m $m

Finance income:       12 11 
Interest receivable       2 2 
Return on defined benefit pension scheme assets     8 8 
Movement in fair value of non-current other receivables     2 1 

Finance expenses:       (34) (37)
On bank loans and overdrafts       (35) (24)
Bank fees       (3) (2)
Capitalised interest       16 1 
Discounting on provisions       (2) (2)
Unwind of discounting on convertible bond      – (1)
Interest cost of defined benefit pension scheme liabilities     (6) (7)
Exchange differences on net debt      (4) (2)

Special items (note 3):       (206) (8)
Prior years capitalised interest      21 –
Movement in fair values of derivative financial instruments     (227) (8)

Total finance expenses       (240) (45)
Net finance costs       (228) (34)

7	Taxation

       2006 2005 
       $m $m

United Kingdom:
Current tax expense at 30% (2005 – 30%)      122 53 
Less amount of the benefit arising from double tax relief available    (122) (53)
Total UK tax expense       – –

Overseas:
Current tax expense at 29% (2005 – 29%) excluding special items    259 99 
Corporate tax expense       217 81 
Tax on dividends remitted       43 19 
Prior year items       (1) (1)

Deferred tax expense:       21 30 
Origination and reversal of temporary differences     21 30 

Special items (note 3):       (78) (11)
Deferred tax on sale of houses      4 –
Tax on reorganisation costs       – (2)
Exchange on current taxation       (15) (3)
Change in South African corporate tax rate to 29% (from 1 October 2004)   – (11)
Exchange on deferred taxation      (67) 5 
Actual tax charge       202 118 
Tax charge excluding special items (note 3)      280 129 
Actual tax rate       32% 37%
Effective tax rate excluding special items (note 3)     34% 38%

Notes to the accounts
continued
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7	Taxation	continued
A reconciliation of the standard tax charge to the tax charge was as follows:

 2006  2005

     % $m % $m

Tax charge at standard tax rate    29 184 29 93 
Overseas taxes on dividends remitted by subsidiary companies  7 43 6 19 
Change in South African corporate tax rate    – – (3) (11)
Exchange on current and deferred tax    (13) (82) 1 2 
Tax effect of movements in the fair values of financial instruments  10 66 1 2 
Tax effect of capitalised interest adjustment    (1) (6) – –
Tax effect of other timing differences    – (3) 3 13 
Actual tax charge     32 202 37 118 

The Group’s primary operations are based in South Africa. Therefore, the relevant standard tax rate for the Group was the South 
African statutory tax rate of 29% (2005 – 29%). The secondary tax rate on dividends remitted by South African companies was 
12.5% (2005 – 12.5%).

8	Earnings	per	share
Earnings per share have been calculated on the profit attributable to equity shareholders amounting to $313 million (2005 – $158 
million) using a weighted average number of 142,594,539 ordinary shares in issue (2005 – 141,727,124 ordinary shares).

Diluted earnings per share are based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue adjusted by dilutive outstanding 
share options and shares issuable on conversion of the convertible bonds. Shares issuable on conversion of the convertible bonds 
were anti-dilutive in the current and prior year and have been excluded from diluted earnings per share in accordance with IAS 33 – 
Earnings Per Share.

 2006  2005

   Profit for  Per share Profit for  Per share 
   the year Number of amount the year Number of amount 
   $m shares cents $m shares cents

Basic EPS   313 142,594,539 219.5 158 141,727,124 111.5 
Share option schemes   – 2,021,331 (3.1) – 290,375 (0.2)
Diluted EPS   313 144,615,870 216.4 158 142,017,499 111.3 

 2006  2005

   Profit for  Per share Profit for  Per share 
   the year Number of amount the year Number of amount 
   $m shares cents $m shares cents

Underlying EPS   445 142,594,539 312.1 168 141,727,124 118.5 
Share option schemes   – 2,021,331 (4.4) – 290,375 (0.2)
Diluted underlying EPS   445 144,615,870 307.7 168 142,017,499 118.3 

Underlying earnings per share have been presented as the Directors consider it to give a fairer reflection of the underlying results of 
the business. Underlying earnings per share are based on the profit attributable to equity shareholders adjusted to exclude special 
items (as defined in note 3) as follows: 

 2006  2005

   Profit for  Per share Profit for  Per share 
   the year Number of amount the year Number of amount 
   $m shares cents $m shares cents

Basic EPS   313 142,594,539 219.5 158 141,727,124 111.5 
Special items (note 3)   132 – 92.6 10 – 7.0 
Underlying EPS   445 142,594,539 312.1 168 141,727,124 118.5 
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9	Dividends

 2006  2005

      Cents per  Cents per 
     $m share $m share

Prior year final dividend, paid in the year    60 42.0 60 42.0
Interim dividend, paid in the year    64 45.0 42 30.0
Total dividend paid in the year    124 87.0 102 72.0
Interim dividend, paid in the year     45.0  30.0
Proposed final dividend for the year     55.0  42.0
Total dividend in respect of the year     100.0  72.0

10	Goodwill

       2006 2005
        Restatedi 
       $m $m

At 1 October       100 –
Purchase of Messina minorities (note 33)      13 –
Reassessment of fair values (note 33)      – 100
At 30 September       113 100

Footnote:
i 2005 has been restated under IFRS 3 – Business Combinations, following the finalisation of the fair values arising upon the acquisition of Southern Platinum 

Corporation (see note 33).

As at 30 September 2005 goodwill comprised: 
– $40 million arising on the finalisation of the fair values of 9.11% of the assets and liabilities of Eastern Platinum Limited and 

Western Platinum Limited 
– $60 million arising on the finalisation of the fair values of the assets and liabilities of Southern Platinum Corporation (including 

Messina Platinum Mines Limited) (note 33).

In February 2006 the Group acquired the remaining minority interest in Messina Platinum Mines Limited for a consideration  
of $13 million. This represented 8.5% of the share capital of which the Group’s share of net assets acquired was $nil. The 
consideration paid was based upon the future cash generation expected and consequently the Group has capitalised this 
investment as goodwill.

Impairment reviews have been carried out based on value in use assuming that production levels continue at the expected level and 
that metal prices remain at a value that is in-line with market expectations.

11	Intangible	assets

 2006  2005

      Mineral rights  Total
   Mineral rights Other Total Restatedi Other Restatedi

   $m $m $m $m $m $m

Cost:
At 1 October   337 26 363 284 – 284
On acquisition of subsidiaries  (note 34)  – – – 53 – 53
Additions   – 21 21 – 26 26
At 30 September   337 47 384 337 26 363
Amortisation:
At 1 October   44 – 44 37 – 37
Charge for the year   9 3 12 7 – 7
At 30 September   53 3 56 44 – 44
Net book value:
At 30 September   284 44 328 293 26 319

Footnote:
i 2005 has been restated under IFRS 3 – Business Combinations, following the finalisation of the fair values arising upon the acquisition of Southern Platinum 

Corporation (see note 33).

Notes to the accounts
continued
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11	Intangible	assets	continued
Additions during the year for other intangible assets were capitalised software development costs. At 30 September 2006 the net 
book value of other intangible assets represented $29 million capitalised software development costs and $15 million Messina 
concentrate off-take contract.

12	Property,	plant	and	equipment

       Other 
  Leasehold Shafts and   Capital work plant and 
  Short term underground Metallurgical Infrastructure in progress equipment Total 
  $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Cost:
At 1 October 2005  – 633 508 207 285 82 1,715
Additions  1 167 (9) 38 – 2 199
Transfer to assets held for sale – – – (6) – – (6)
Transfers  – 183 2 – (183) (2) –
At 30 September 2006  1 983 501 239 102 82 1,908
Depreciation:
At 1 October 2005  – 190 100 63 – 23 376
Charge for the year  – 32 15 21 – 1 69
At 30 September 2006  – 222 115 84 – 24 445
Net book value:
At 30 September 2006  1 761 386 155 102 58 1,463

   Shafts and    Other
   underground   Capital work plant and Total 
   Restatedi Metallurgical Infrastructure in progress equipment Restatedi

   $m $m $m $m $m $m

Cost:
At 1 October 2004   461 439 197 203 69 1,369
On acquisition of subsidiaries   137 31 9 – 1 178
Additions   35 38 17 82 12 184
Transfer to assets held for sale  – – (16) – – (16)
At 30 September 2005   633 508 207 285 82 1,715 
Depreciation:
At 1 October 2004   142 76 52 – 17 287 
On acquisition of subsidiaries   21 8 – – – 29 
Charge for the year   27 16 11 – 6 60
At 30 September 2005   190 100 63 – 23 376
Net book value:
At 30 September 2005   443 408 144 285 59 1,339
At 30 September 2004   319 363 145 203 52 1,082

Footnote:
i 2005 has been restated under IFRS 3 – Business Combinations, following the finalisation of the fair values arising upon the acquisition of Southern Platinum 

Corporation (note 33).

Included in other plant and equipment are leased assets with a cost of $nil (2005 – $8 million) and a net book value of $nil  
(2005 – $nil).

Included in shafts and underground are leased assets with a cost of $nil (2005 – $1 million) and a net book value of $nil  
(2005 – $1million).

Cost of property, plant and equipment included $110 million (2005 – $73 million) in respect of capitalised interest. Interest 
capitalised during 2006 amounted to $16 million (2005 – $1 million) at a rate of 5%. A further $21 million was capitalised in the year 
relating to an adjustment to amounts capitalised in prior years (see note 3). In accordance with the Group accounting policies no 
depreciation has been provided on surface mining land having a book value of $13 million (2005 – $13 million).
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13	Investment	in	associate	and	joint	venture

   Non-   Non-
  Current current Total Current current Total
  assets assets assets liabilities liabilities liabilities Revenue Expenses Profit
2006 Ownership $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Incwala (associate) 24% 11 110 121 – (24) (24) 15 (3) 12
Pandora (joint venture) 43% 10 – 10 – – – 18 (11) 7
  21 110 131 – (24) (24) 33 (14) 19

   Non-   Non-
  Current current Total Current current Total
  assets assets assets liabilities liabilities liabilities Revenue Expenses Profit
2005 Ownership $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Incwala (associate) 24% 1 108 109 – (24) (24) 6 (3) 3
Pandora (joint venture) 43% – – – – – – 3 (3) –
  1 108 109 – (24) (24) 9 (6) 3

Amounts recognised by the Group in respect of the associate and joint venture comprised:

 2006  2005

   Associate Joint venture Total Associate Joint venture Total
   $m $m $m $m $m $m

Share of net assets   97 10 107 85 – 85
Goodwill   6 – 6 6 – 6
   103 10 113 91 – 91

14	Financial	assets

      Available Other 
      for sale receivables Total 
      $m $m $m

At 1 October 2005      15 22 37
Additions      36 – 36
Movement in fair value      46 2 48
Exchange differences      1 (5) (4)
At 30 September 2006      98 19 117

Financial assets are held at fair value using the market price where available. Where no market value is available the carrying value 
of net assets less impairment is used.

Available for sale financial assets includes a 22% shareholding in Platmin Limited. This has not been treated as an associate as in 
the opinion of the directors the Group does not exert, or have the ability to exert, significant influence over the Company.

Other receivables at 30 September 2006 represented loans advanced to fellow investors in Incwala Resources (Pty) Limited in 
which the Group holds a 24% interest. These loans expire between three and five years.

       2006 2005
       $m $m

Listed investments       84  –

Listed investments include a 22% shareholding in Platmin Limited which listed on the AIM on 10 August 2006. 

Notes to the accounts
continued
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15	Employee	benefits
Non-current assets
The Group operates a number of funded pension schemes in the United Kingdom and overseas. The total pension cost for the 
Group was $40 million (2005 – $23 million), $39 million of which related to overseas schemes (2005 – $22 million). The overseas 
schemes were all defined contribution plans and in the UK there was both a defined benefit scheme, the Lonmin Superannuation 
Scheme (the LSS scheme) and a defined contribution scheme. There were no accrued obligations under defined contribution plans.

The LSS Scheme
For the LSS scheme the actuarial valuation was conducted on 30 September 2006 using the following major assumptions:

Discount rate 5.0% per annum (2005 – 5.00% per annum)
Inflation assumptions 3.0% per annum (2005 – 2.75% per annum)
Rate of increase in salaries 3.5% per annum (2005 – 3.25% per annum)
Rate of increase in pensions in payment 3.0% per annum (2005 – 2.75% per annum)
Contribution rate in the year 25.0% per annum (2005 – 25.0% per annum)
Expected future contribution rate 40.8% per annum (2005 – 25.0% per annum)

The assumptions used by the actuary are the best estimates chosen from a range of possible actuarial assumptions which, due to 
the timescale covered, may not necessarily be borne out in practice.

For its UK pension arrangements the Group has, for the purpose of calculating its liabilities as at 30 September 2006 used PA 92 
c2010 tables based on year of birth (as published by the Institute of Actuaries) for pre-retirement mortality (2005 – PA 92 c2010) and 
PA 92 c2020 for post-retirement mortality (2005 – PA 92 c2020).

The fair value of the scheme’s assets, which are not intended to be realised in the short term and may be subject to significant 
change before they are realised, and the present value of the scheme’s liabilities, which are derived from cash flow projections over 
long periods and thus inherently uncertain, are detailed in the table below:

      2006 2005
      Expected return Expected return
     % $m % $m

Insurance policies     5.0 65 5.0 61 
Equities     7.6 38 7.5 35 
Bonds     4.4 44 4.3 40 
Total market value of assets      147  136 
Unrecognised assets      (5)  – 
Value of plan assets      142  136
Fair value of scheme liabilities      (136)  (124)
Net pension asset      6  12 

The net pension asset shown above has been included in the primary statements.

An analysis of the amounts that have been charged to operating profit were as follows:

       2006 2005 
       $m $m

Current service cost       (1) (1)
Total operating charge       (1) (1)
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15	Pension	costs	continued
An analysis of the amounts that have been charged to interest were as follows:

       2006 2005 
       $m $m

Expected return on pension scheme assets      8 7 
Interest on pension scheme liabilities      (6) (6)
Net return       2 1 

An analysis of the amounts that has been recognised in the statement of recognised income and expenses (SORIE) were 
as follows:

       2006 2005 
       $m $m

Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets    2 9 
Unrecognised asset       (5) –
Experience gains arising on scheme liabilities     1 1 
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the scheme liabilities (increase to mortality assumption) (4) (3)
Actuarial (loss)/profit recognised in the SORIE     (6) 7 

When setting the overall expected rate of return on plan assets, historical markets are studied and long-term historical relationships 
between equities and bonds are preserved. This is consistent with the widely accepted capital market principle that assets with 
higher volatility generate a greater return over time. Current market factors such as inflation and interest rates are evaluated before 
expected return assumptions are determined for each asset class. The overall expected return is established with proper 
consideration of diversification and rebalancing. Peer data and historical returns are reviewed to check they are reasonable and 
appropriate.

Changes in the fair value of plan assets were as follows:

        $m

Value of plan assets at 1 October 2004       127 
Expected return on assets        7 
Actuarial gain        9
Employer contribution        1
Exchange loss        (2)
Benefits paid and expenses        (6)
Value of plan assets at 30 September 2005       136
Expected return on assets        8 
Actuarial gain        2
Employer contribution        1
Exchange gain        6
Benefits paid and expenses        (6) 
Unrecognised assets        (5)
Value of plan assets at 30 September 2006      142

Notes to the accounts
continued
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15	Pension	costs	continued
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations before allocation to equity accounted investments were as follows:

        $m

Defined benefit obligations at 1 October 2004      122 
Service cost        1
Interest cost        6
Exchange loss        (2)
Actuarial losses        3
Benefits paid        (6)
Defined benefit obligations at 30 September 2005      124
Service cost        1
Interest cost        6
Exchange gain        7
Actuarial losses        4
Benefits paid        (6)
Defined benefit obligations at 30 September 2006      136

An analysis of the history of experience gains and losses was as follows:

       2006 2005
       $m $m

Difference between expected and actual return on scheme assets    2 9 
Experience gains on scheme liabilities      – 1 
Total amount recognised in SORIE      7 6

Non-current liabilities

       2006 2005
       $m $m

Cash settled share options       (4) (1)
Social security on share options      (3) – 
       (7) (1)

16	Inventories

       2006 2005 
       $m $m

Raw materials and consumables      41 42
Work in progress       54 49
Finished goods       40 19
       135 110

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales amounted to $880 million (2005 – $691 million).
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17	Trade	and	other	receivables

       2006 2005 
       $m $m

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade receivables       362 118
Other receivables       28 23
Prepayments and accrued income      4 5
Loans receivable       2 1
       396 147

18	Assets	held	for	sale

       2006 2005 
       $m $m

At 1 October       16 –
Disposals       (16) –
Transfer from property, plant and equipment      6 16
At 30 September       6 16

Assets held for sale represent houses the Group is selling to employees, within twelve months of the balance sheet date, to 
encourage home-ownership. These assets are held in the Platinum business segment and the South African geographical region.

19	Trade	and	other	payables

       2006 2005 
       $m $m

Trade payables       84 39
Indirect taxation and social security      1 1
Other payables       38 9
Accruals       86 84
       209 133

20	Interest	bearing	loans	and	borrowings

       2006 2005
       $m $m

Long-term loans:
US Dollar 3.75% convertible bonds due 2008 – unsecured    211 210
Bank loans – unsecured    288 295
Finance lease – secured    – 1
       499 506

The unsecured convertible bonds are shown at the net present value of future cash flows after deducting issue expenses of 
$2 million (2005 – $3 million) in accordance with IAS 23 – Borrowing costs. The amount to be repaid on the bonds is $215.8 million 
(see note 34 for details of conversion). The unsecured bank loans are drawn in US$ and bear interest at LIBOR + 1% and are shown 
after deducting issue expenses of $nil (2005 – $1 million).

Notes to the accounts
continued
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20	Interest	bearing	loans	and	borrowings	continued
The loans are repayable over the following periods:

       2006 2005 
       $m $m

Between one and two years:
Secured       – 1
Between two and five years:
Unsecured       398 505
Greater than five years:
Unsecured       101 –
       499 506

21	Derivative	financial	instruments

       2006 2005
Cash flow hedges       $m $m

Forward contracts       (4) –
Total current derivatives       (4) –

The forward contracts expire within twelve months of the balance sheet date and have a nominal value of $27 million.

       2006 2005
Non hedge       $m $m

Derivative embedded in the convertible bond     268 41
Total non-current derivatives       268 41

22	Financial	risk	management
The functional currency of the parent company and principal entities of the Group is the US Dollar. The Group does not undertake 
any trading activity in financial instruments. Details of the Group’s financial risk management are described in the Financial Review 
on pages 4 and 5.

22a Interest rate risk
Based on contracted maturities the following amounts are exposed to interest rate risk over the future as shown below:

 Weighted average
 interest rate 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
 % $m $m $m $m $m $m

Assets 
Current
Other Investments  7.0 8 8 8 8 8 8
Cash and cash equivalents  5.1 61 – – – – –
Liabilities 
Non-current
Loans  5.4 501 503 244 187 101 –
Current
Loans and overdraft  4.9 18 – – – – –
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22	Financial	risk	management	continued

 Non-interest bearing  At fixed interest rates  At floating interest rates

   2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 
   $m $m $m $m $m $m

Financial liabilities
US Dollar   272 41 211 – 306 594
SA Rand   – – – – – 1
   272 41 211 – 306 595

        2006 2005
        $m $m

The financial liabilities of the Group comprised:
Total borrowings       517 595
Current derivative financial instruments      4 –
Non-current derivative financial instruments      268 41
       789 636

Floating rate financial liabilities comprised bank borrowings and overdrafts bearing interest at the applicable inter-bank offer rates or 
prime lending rates and finance lease obligations outstanding in South Africa. Included within floating rate financial liabilities in the 
prior year were $215.8 million 3.75% convertible bonds due 30 September 2008. The bonds were shown as liabilities at floating 
interest rates due to the fact that during October 2003, a two-year floating rate interest swap was entered into in respect of them 
with interest calculated on a six-month LIBOR in arrears basis. The interest charged on the bonds in 2005 amounted to $10 million 
(2004 – $6 million) representing a loss in 2005 of $2 million (2004 – profit of $2 million) as a result of the swap arrangement. The 
unsecured convertible bonds are shown after deducting issue expenses of $2 million (2005 – $3 million) in accordance with IAS 23 
Borrowing costs. The swap expired on 30 September 2005 with no further contracts entered into to date.

 Non-interest bearing  At floating interest rates

     2006 2005 2006 2005 
     $m $m $m $m

Financial assets
US Dollar     90 8 35 2
SA Rand     19 22 34 12
Sterling     – – 2 5
     109 30 71 19

       2006 2005
       $m $m

The financial assets of the Group comprised:
Cash and short-term deposits       61 11
Loans receivable       21 23
Available for sale financial assets      98 15
       180 49

Non-interest bearing financial assets represented:
– Loans advanced to HDSA consortia and Seed Capital investors following the completion of the Incwala and Eastern Platinum 

Limited (EPL) and Western Platinum Limited (WPL) transactions on 30 September 2004. These loans expire between three and 
five years from the balance sheet date and some will become interest bearing after three years if they are not repaid. 

– Available for sale financial assets excluding monies held in trust to fund future rehabilitation obligations.

Floating rate financial assets comprised mainly bank deposits bearing interest at commercial rates fixed by reference to LIBOR for 
Sterling and US Dollar assets, or the applicable inter-bank interest rates for all other financial assets. They also included a short-
term loan advanced following the completion of the Incwala and EPL and WPL transactions and monies held in trust to fund future 
rehabilitation obligations.

Notes to the accounts
continued
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22	Financial	risk	management	continued
22b Currency exposures
Lonmin’s operations are based predominantly in South Africa with the vast majority of the income stream arising in US Dollars. 
Cash held in South Africa is mainly in US Dollars and is normally remitted on a quarterly basis to the UK. When short-term working 
capital facilities are required in South Africa these are in US Dollars or South African Rand as appropriate.

The table below shows the extent to which Group companies have monetary assets and liabilities in currencies other than the 
functional currency. Foreign exchange differences on retranslation of such assets and liabilities are taken to the income statement.

 Net foreign currency monetary assets

 2006  2005

   SA Rand Sterling Total SA Rand Sterling Total 
   $m $m $m $m $m $m

Functional currency of Group operation:
US Dollar   53 2 55 33 5 38

The South African Rand net monetary assets included loans receivable, trust funds to finance rehabilitation liabilities and 
outstanding finance lease obligations. The Sterling net monetary assets comprised bank deposits held in head office companies. 

22c Maturity of financial liabilities

       2006 2005
       $m $m

In one year or less, or on demand      – 86
In more than one year but not more than two years     – 92
In more than two years but not more than five years     398 417
In greater than five years       101 –
       499 595

22d Undrawn committed borrowing facilities
The Group’s policy on overall liquidity is to ensure that there are sufficient committed facilities in place which, when combined with 
the cash resources available, are sufficient to meet the funding requirements in the foreseeable future.

       2006 2005
       $m $m

Expiring in one year or less       750 675
Expiring in more than one year but not more than two years    – 199
Expiring in more than two years      162 47
       912 921

22e Hedging
Forward sales are undertaken where the Board determines that it is in the Group’s interest to secure a proportion of future cash 
flows. The notional, or contracted, amounts of derivative financial instruments are shown in note 21.
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23	Deferred	tax	assets/(liabilities)

 2006  2005

   Deferred Deferred Net Deferred Deferred Net
   tax assets tax liabilities balance tax assets tax liabilities balance
   $m $m $m $m $m $m

Property, plant and equipment  – (319) (319) – (359) (359)
Share-based payments   10 – 10 2 – 2 
Provisions   15 – 15 13 – 13 
   25 (319) (294) 15 (359) (344)

Movement in temporary differences during the year

   At 1   Recognised in Income   At 30 
   October Exchange Special  Recognised September
   2005 movements items Underlying in equity 2006
   $m $m $m $m $m $m

Property, plant and equipment  (359) 65 (4) (21) – (319)
Provisions   13 2 – – – 15 
Share-based payments   2 – – – 8 10 
   (344) 67 (4) (21) 8 (294)

   At 1   Recognised in Income   At 30 
   October Exchange Special  Recognised September
   2004 movements items Underlying in equity 2005
   $m $m $m $m $m $m

Property, plant and equipment  (332) (5) 11 (33) – (359)
Provisions   10 – – 3 – 13 
Share-based payments   – – – – 2 2 
   (322) (5) 11 (30) 2 (344)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

       2006 2005
       $m $m

Capital losses carried forward       245 231 
Trading and other losses carried forward      33 43 
Unredeemed capital expenditure      54 50 
Retirement benefit asset       (2) (4)
Share based payments       2 1 
       332 321

At 30 September 2006, the Group had an amount of $103 million (2005 – $103 million) of surplus Advanced Corporation Tax (ACT) 
available, subject to certain restrictions, for set-off against future United Kingdom corporation tax liabilities. ‘Shadow ACT’ 
amounted to $216 million (2005 – $189 million) and must be set-off prior to the utilisation of surplus ACT.

No deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of the operating losses and the capital losses as it is not considered more 
likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of any of the underlying differences can be 
deducted.

Notes to the accounts
continued
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24	Provisions

       2006 2005
       $m $m

At 1 October 2005       42 31 
Charge for the year       2 –
Utilised in the year       (1) – 
Unwinding of discount       2 2 
Subsidiaries acquired       – 2 
Additions       – 6 
Exchange differences       (6) 1 
At 30 September 2006       39 42 

Provisions represent site rehabilitation liabilities.

25	Contingent	assets	and	liabilities

       2006 2005 
       $m $m

Third party guarantees       9 9
Indemnities       177 177
Preference share capital put options      15 15
Vantage Capital Investments       20 –
Contingent liabilities       221 201

Third party guarantees relate to guarantees provided by the Group in connection with the sale of certain subsidiaries during 1998 to 
date for which amounts have been reasonably estimated but the liabilities are not probable and therefore the Group has not 
provided for such amounts in the accounts.

Various indemnities were given by Lonmin following the purchase of the additional 9.11% in Eastern Platinum Limited (EPL) and 
Western Platinum Limited (WPL) and the investment in Incwala Resources (Pty) Limited. These indemnities fall into two categories 
as follows:

1 Vendor financing indemnity – Lonmin has agreed to indemnify Impala against any non-payment on the relevant due date of any 
principal amount owing to Impala by any HDSA (Historically Disadvantaged South African) investor in relation to loans made by 
Impala to HDSA investors for their purchase of shares in EPL and WPL. The value of this indemnity is the Rand equivalent of 
$95 million of which $68 million expires on 30 September 2009 and $27 million expires on 30 September 2011. A counter-
indemnity has been given by each HDSA investor, which is secured on that HDSA investor’s shares in Incwala.

2 Industrial Development Corporation (IDC) investment in Incwala – Lonmin has agreed to indemnify the IDC up to the value of its 
invesment in Incwala (the Rand equivalent of $82 million) in relation to warranties provided by Incwala Resources (Pty) Limited 
and Incwala Platinum (Pty) Limited to the preference shareholders, based on information disclosed by EPL, WPL or Lonmin. This 
contingent liability falls away on 30 September 2007. 

Additionally, various preference share capital put option agreements were entered into by Lonmin with a number of banks who 
subscribed for preference shares in HDSAs investing in Incwala. These options, which amount to $15 million, can be put upon 
Lonmin by the banks in the event that the HDSAs default on payment. Furthermore, pursuant to a reorganisation of the HDSA 
shareholdings in Incwala Resources, Lonmin Plc had granted Standard Chartered Bank Johannesburg Branch a put option in 
respect of 96 preference shares in Vantage Capital Investments (Proprietary) Ltd. The capital sum outstanding at 30 September 
2006 was $20 million.
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26	Called	up	share	capital	and	share	premium	account

       2006 2005 
       $m $m

 Authorised
 252,735,000  Ordinary shares of $1 each     253 253
  (2005 – 252,735,000 ordinary shares of $1 each)
 50,000  Deferred shares of £1 each     – –
  (2005 – 50,000 deferred shares of £1 each)
Issued and fully paid 
 142,914,832 Ordinary shares of $1 each     143 142
  (2005 – 142,064,482 ordinary shares of $1 each)
 50,000  Deferred shares of £1 each     – –
  (2005 – 50,000 deferred shares of £1 each)

        Paid up Share
        amount premium 
        $m $m

 Issued and fully paid At 1 October 2005:
 142,064,482 Ordinary shares of $1 each     142 12
 50,000 Deferred shares of £1 each     – –
  The exercise of options under:
 841,754 – The Lonmin Executive Share Option Scheme   1 14
 7,943 – The Lonmin Share Option Scheme    – –
 604 – The Lonmin Savings Related Share Option Scheme 1994  – –
  The conversion of convertible bonds:
 49 – Convertible bonds 2008     – –
  At 30 September 2006:
 142,914,832 Ordinary shares of $1 each    143 26
 50,000 Deferred shares of £1 each    – –

There were 50,000 Sterling deferred shares of £1 each in issue at 30 September 2006 (2005 – 50,000). These were created in 2002 
and issued to a nominee Company by the capitalisation of reserves in order to comply with the requirement that a Public Limited 
Company must have a minimum share capital of £50,000 in Sterling. The deferred shares do not rank pari passu with the ordinary 
shares.

At 30 September 2006 there were outstanding $215.8 million 3.75% convertible bonds due 30 September 2008. The bonds are 
convertible at the option of the holders into 10,576,944 ordinary shares of $1 each of the Company at a conversion price of 
£12.3277 ($20.4023) per ordinary share (note 34).

Notes to the accounts
continued
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27	Share	plans
At 30 September 2006, the following options and awards were outstanding:

Share based plans

      Weighted average Weighted Weighted 
      exercise price average average
      of outstanding remaining fair value of 
     Number options contracted life options granted
     of shares (pence) (years)  (£)

Executive Share Option Scheme
Outstanding at 30.09.05i     3,150,295 1,106.29 – –
Granted during the year     – – – –
Exercised during the year     841,754 996.82 – –
Lapsed during the year     91,783 1,037.39 – –
Outstanding at 30.09.06     2,216,758 1,042.64 6 2.07
Exercisable at the end of the year    29,800 984.36 – –

Lonmin Share Option Scheme 
Outstanding at 30.09.05     56,642 1,121.94 – –
Granted during the year     – – – –
Exercised during the year     7,943 1,130.54 – –
Lapsed during the year     2,600 1,150.00 – –
Outstanding at 30.09.06     46,099 1,118.87 6 2.07
Exercisable at the end of the year    – – – –

Savings Related Share Option Scheme
Outstanding at 30.09.05     31,059 720.72 – –
Granted during the year     3,030 1,667.00 – –
Exercised during the year     604 836.00 – –
Lapsed during the year     4,829 715.54 – –
Outstanding at 30.09.06     28,656 819.22 3 3.20
Exercisable at the end of the year    403 836.00 – –

The Lonmin Share Plan
Outstanding at 30.09.05     87,984 – – –
Granted during the year     – – – –
Exercised during the year     6,552 – – –
Lapsed during the year     30,576 – – –
Outstanding at 30.09.06     50,856 – – 9.57
Exercisable at the end of the year    – – – –

Long Term Incentive Plan
Outstanding at 30.09.05     475,541 – – –
Granted during the year     176,386 – – –
Vested during the year     10,609 – – –
Lapsed during the year     10,493 – – –
Outstanding at 30.09.06     630,825 – 2 8.06
Exercisable at the end of the year    – – – –

Footnote:
i  The opening balance has been restated to take account of leavers in the prior year whose leaver status had not been confirmed at the prior year end. 
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27	Share	plans	continued
Share based plans (continued)

      Weighted average Weighted Weighted 
      exercise price average average
      of outstanding remaining fair value of 
     Number options contracted life options granted
     of shares (pence) (years)  (£)

Deferred Annual Bonus Plan
Outstanding at 30.09.05     69,890 – – –
Granted during the year     36,421 – – –
Vested during the year     1,928 – – –
Lapsed during the year     4,951 – – –
Outstanding at 30.09.06     99,432 – 2 6.99
Exercisable at the end of the year    – – – –

Co Investment Plan (Invested Shares)
Outstanding at 30.09.05     124,362 – – –
Granted during the year     – – – –
Vested during the year     – – – –
Lapsed during the year     – – – –
Outstanding at 30.09.06     124,362 – 1 9.69
Exercisable at the end of the year    – – – –

Co Investment Plan (Matched Award)
Outstanding at 30.09.05     104,869 – – –
Granted during the year     – – – –
Vested during the year     – – – –
Lapsed during the year     – – – –
Outstanding at 30.09.06     104,869 – 1 4.43
Exercisable at the end of the year    – – – –

Further information about each of the above plans including the performance conditions can be found in the Remuneration 
Committee Report in pages 23 to 29.

Cash settled plans

      Weighted average Weighted Weighted 
      exercise price average average
      of outstanding remaining fair value of 
     Number options contracted life options granted
     of shares (pence) (years)  (£)

Stay & Prosper Plan
Outstanding at 30.09.05i     398,752 – – –
Granted during the year     200,237 – – –
Exercised during the year     722 – – –
Lapsed during the year     15,855 – – –
Outstanding at 30.09.06     582,412 – 2 21.44 
Exercisable at the end of the year    – – – –

Footnote:
i  The opening balance for the Stay and Prosper plan has been restated as a result of an administrative error. 

Notes to the accounts
continued
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27	Share	plans	continued
Cash settled plans (continued)

      Weighted average Weighted Weighted 
      exercise price average average
      of outstanding remaining fair value of 
     Number options contracted life options granted
     of shares (pence) (years)  (£)

Scarce Skills Retention Plan
Outstanding at 30.09.05     – – – –
Granted during the year     143,800 – – –
Exercised during the year     – – – –
Lapsed during the year     – – – –
Outstanding at 30.09.06     143,800 – 3 24.28 
Exercisable at the end of the year    – – – –

Further information about each of the above plans including the performance conditions can be found in the Remuneration 
Committee Report in pages 23 to 29.

Lonmin Employee Benefit Trust (the “Trust”)
At 30 September 2006 the Trust held 307,522 shares (beneficially and as bare trustee) (2005 – 305,456 shares). The market value of 
these shares at the year end was $15 million (2005 – $7 million). Where not waived, dividends payable on these shares are held by 
the Trust on behalf of the participants. Each of the executive directors are deemed to have a beneficial interest, to the extent 
disclosed in the table of directors’ share interests, and a non-beneficial interest in the balance.

Details of options granted in the period
The fair value of both equity-settled and cash-settled options granted in the period have been measured using the weighted 
average inputs below and the following valuation models:

Lonmin Savings Related Share Option Scheme      Black-Scholes
Long Term Incentive Plan Awards       Monte Carlo
Deferred Annual Bonus Plan        Monte Carlo
Stay and Prosper Awards        Monte Carlo
Scarce Skills Retention Awards       Black-Scholes

       2006 2005

Range of share price at date of grant (£)      15.92 – 27.71 8.75 – 10.85
Exercise price (£)       0 – 16.67 0 – 7.05
Expected option life (years)       3 – 5 2 – 5
Volatility       33 – 37% 34 – 38%
Dividend yield       1.9% 4.2 – 4.4%
Risk free interest rate       4.7 – 4.8% 3.1 – 4.5%

Volatility was calculated with reference to the Group’s historic share price volatility up to the grant date. The number of years of 
historic data used is equal to the term of each option. 

The liability in respect of the cash-settled elements of the schemes shown above and reported within non-current employee 
benefits at 30 September 2006 is $3 million (2005 – $nil).
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28	Total	equity

 Equity shareholders’ funds

  Called Share 
  up share premium Other Retained  Minority Total 
  capital account reserves earnings Total interests equity 
  $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

At 1 October 2004  142 6 88 529 765 150 915 
Total recognised income and expense – – – 165 165 43 208 
Dividends  – – – (102) (102) (27) (129)
Share based payment  – – – 4 4 – 4 
Shares issued on exercise of  
 share options  – 6 – – 6 – 6 
At 30 September 2005  142 12 88 596 838 166 1,004 

At 1 October 2005  142 12 88 596 838 166 1,004 
Total recognised income and expense – – (4) 354 350 117 467 
Buy-out of minority interests in Messina – – – – – 1 1 
Dividends  – –  (124) (124) (62) (186)
Deferred tax on share options  – – – 7 7 1 8
Share based payment  – – – 3 3 – 3 
Shares issued on exercise of  
 share options  1 14 – – 15 – 15 
At 30 September 2006  143 26 84 836 1,089 223 1,312 

During the year 850,301 share options were exercised on which $15 million of cash was received (2005 – $6 million). 

Other reserves represent the capital redemption reserve of $88 million (2005 – $88 million) and a hedging reserve of $4 million 
(2005 – $nil).

Details of shares held in the Group’s Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP), the ‘Lonmin Employee Benefit Trust’, can be found in 
note 27 to the accounts. The book value of the ESOP, which is shown as a deduction from retained earnings, amounted to $6 
million at 30 September 2006 (2005 – $5 million).

Minority interests represented an 18% shareholding in Eastern Platinum Limited and Western Platinum Limited throughout the year 
and, from 29 June 2006, an 18% shareholding in Messina Limited.

29	Related	party	transactions

       2006 2005
       $m $m

Amounts received from associate      – 2
Purchases from joint venture       43 4
Amounts due to joint venture       11 3
Royalties payable to the Bapo Ba Mogale tribei     6 –
Amounts due to the Bapo Ba Mogale tribei      6 –
Subscription paid to the Platinum Jewellery Development Association (PJDA)ii   8 6
Amounts due from Historically Disadvantaged South Africans (HDSAs)iii    21 23

All related party transactions are priced on an arm’s length basis.

Footnotes:
i The Bapo Ba Mogale tribe owns part of the land within the Marikana license area and receives a royalty from the Group.
ii The subscription paid by Lonmin to the PJDA is material to the PJDA.
iii HDSAs (including the Bapo Ba Mogale tribe) own 53% of the Group’s associate, Incwala (note 13).

Notes to the accounts
continued
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30	Capital	commitments

       2006 2005
       $m $m

Contracted for but not yet provided      45 56

31	Operating	and	finance	leases
The future aggregate lease payments of the Group under non-cancellable operating leases are as set out below:

   Land and buildings

     	 	 2006 2005 
       $m $m

Payments due:
Within one year       5 6
Between one and five years       4 5
       9 11

32	Net	debt	as	defined	by	the	Group

    At    At
    1 October Subsidiary  Non cash 30 September
    2005 acquired Cash flow movements 2006
    $m $m $m $m $m

Cash and cash equivalents    11	 –	 54	 (4)	 61 
Overdrafts    (1)	 –	 (17)	 –	 (18)
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows  10	 –	 37	 (4)	 43 
Current borrowings    (86)	 –	 86	 –	 –	
Non-current borrowings    (296)	 –	 8	 –	 (288)
Convertible bonds    (213)	 –	 –	 –	 (213)
Net debt as defined by the Group   (585)	 –	 131	 (4)	 (458)

    At    At
    1 October Subsidiary  Non cash 30 September
    2004 acquired Cash flow movements 2005
    $m $m $m $m $m

Cash and cash equivalents    20 – (9) – 11 
Overdrafts    (22) – 21 – (1)
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows  (2) – 12 – 10 
Current borrowings    (1) – (85) – (86)
Non-current borrowings    (56) (60) (178) (2) (296)
Convertible bonds    (212) – – (1) (213)
Net debt as defined by the Group   (271) (60) (251) (3) (585)

Net debt comprises cash and cash equivalents, bank overdrafts repayable on demand and interest bearing loans, and borrowings 
and convertible bonds grossed up for capitalised fees.
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33	Business	combinations
The Group made no acquisitions during the year.

Finalisation of fair value on acquisition in 2005 and purchase of minority interests in 2006
In the prior year the Group acquired 100% of Southern Platinum Corporation (SPC). During the year the Group has taken the 
opportunity to reassess the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired as a result of the acquisition on 15 June 2005. In 
accordance with the treatment prescribed by IFRS 3 – Business Combinations, this has resulted in a prior year adjustment. 

On 6 February 2006 the Group purchased the remaining 8.5% minority interest in Messina Limited. The difference between the 
purchase consideration and the net assets acquired has been capitalised as goodwill (note 10). This has not been treated as a 
business combination.

       Purchase of
    Accounting  Fair value additional
   Book value on policy Fair value at date of interest in Assets
   acquisition adjustment adjustment acquisition 2006 acquired 
   $m $m $m $m $m $m

Intangible assets   – – 53 53 – 53 
Property, plant and equipment  190 (10) (31) 149 – 149 
Inventory   3 – – 3 – 3 
Receivables   6 – – 6 – 6 
Cash   5 – – 5 – 5 
Overdrafts and loans   (60) – (5) (65) – (65)
Payables   (16) – (1) (17) – (17)
Provisions   (2) – – (2) – (2)
Net assets acquired   126 (10) 16 132 – 132 
Goodwill   – – 60 60 13 73 
Consideration   126 (10) 76 192 13 205 

The impact on Group profit for the year ended 30 September 2005, had the entity’s results been consolidated for the full year would 
have been a $16m loss.

34	Events	after	the	balance	sheet	date
Convertible bond
As at 15 November 2006 Lonmin Plc has given notice to force redemption of all of the outstanding convertible bonds at their 
principal amount. Given the expected differential between prevailing share prices and the conversion price of £12.33 it is expected 
that this will lead to the issue of 10,576,944 shares and a reduction in non-current financial liabilities of $211 million.

Exclusive right to acquire AfriOre
Lonmin Plc announced on 15 November 2006 that it has entered into a binding agreement with the Board of AfriOre Limited 
(“AfriOre”) giving Lonmin the exclusive right to acquire AfriOre by means of a cash offer to shareholders at C$8.75 (US$7.74) per 
AfriOre share. Such an offer, which would be undertaken according to Canadian securities market regulations, would value AfriOre 
at US$441 million (C$500 million). This transaction has been recommended by the AfriOre board.

35	Transition	to	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	(“IFRS”)
As stated in note 1 Accounting Policies, this is the Lonmin Group’s first consolidated financial report prepared in accordance with 
adopted IFRS. The Group published its transition document on 15 February 2006 explaining the balance sheet, income statement 
and cash flow impact for the Group of the transition to adopted IFRS. Included within that document is a reconciliation of the 
income statement and cash flow statement from UK GAAP to adopted IFRS for the year ended 30 September 2005 and a 
reconciliation of equity at the transition date (1 October 2004) and 30 September 2005. The Group’s accounting policies under 
adopted IFRS applied by the Group in accordance with IFRS 1 on transition to adopted IFRS, are stated in the accounting polices 
note.

The accounting policies have been applied for the year ended 30 September 2006, the year ended 30 September 2005 and in the 
preparation of an opening balance sheet at 30 September 2004.

In preparing its opening adopted IFRS balance sheet, the Lonmin Group has adjusted amounts reported previously in financial 
reports prepared in accordance with UK GAAP. An explanation of how the transition from UK GAAP to adopted IFRS has affected 
the Group’s financial position and financial performance is set out in the following tables and accompanying notes.

Notes to the accounts
continued



www.lonmin.com71	 Lonmin	Plc Annual Report 2006

Job:	 7315_LONMIN_REP_back_AW.indd	 Proof:	 12	 Proof Read by:
Operator:	Dave	 Date:	 23/11/2006
Server:	 studio	1	 Set-up:	 Rob	 First	Read/Revisons

35	Transition	to	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	continued
The following table presents a summary of the impact of adopted IFRS on the balance sheet as at 30 September 2005.

Reconciliation of the balance sheet

     Adjustment Previously
     from reported under
    Previously UK GAAP UK GAAP Total  Restated
    reported under to adopted (adopted IFRS  adopted IFRS  under adopted
    UK GAAP IFRS format format) adjustment  IFRS
    $m $m $m $m $m

Non-current assets       
Goodwill    – 38 38 62 100 
Intangible assets    53 (38) 15 304 319 
Property, plant and equipment   1,719 – 1,719 (380) 1,339 
Investment in associate    91 – 91 – 91 
Financial assets:        
Other investments    41 (41) – – – 
– Available for sale financial assets   – 15 15 – 15 
– Other receivables    – 33 33 (11) 22 
Employee benefits    – – – 12 12 
    1,904 7 1,911 (13) 1,898 
Current assets        
Inventories    110 – 110 – 110 
Trade and other receivables    152 (4) 148 (1) 147 
Assets held for sale    – – – 16 16 
Investments    7 (7) – – – 
Tax recoverable    – 4 4 – 4 
Cash and cash equivalents    11 – 11 – 11 
    280 (7) 273 15 288 
Current liabilities        
Bank overdraft repayable on demand   (1) – (1) – (1)
Trade and other payables    (221) 28 (193) 60 (133)
Financial liabilities:        
– Interest bearing loans and borrowings   (86) – (86) – (86)
Tax payable    – (28) (28) – (28)
    (308) – (308) 60 (248)
Net current (liabilities)/assets   (28) (7) (35) 75 40 
Non-current liabilities        
Employee benefits    (1) – (1) – (1)
Financial liabilities:        
– Interest bearing loans and borrowings   (509) – (509) 3 (506)
– Derivative financial instruments   – – – (41) (41)
Deferred tax liabilities    – (346) (346) 2 (344)
Provisions    (388) 346 (42) – (42)
    (898) – (898) (36) (934)
Net assets    978 – 978 26 1,004 
Capital and reserves        
Called up share capital    142 – 142 – 142 
Share premium account    12 – 12 – 12 
Other reserves    88 – 88 – 88 
Retained earnings    570 – 570 26 596 
Attributable to equity shareholders of Lonmin Plc  812 – 812 26 838 
Attributable to minority interest   166 – 166 – 166 
Total equity    978 – 978 26 1,004
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35	Transition	to	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	continued
The following table presents a summary of the impact of adopted IFRS on total equity as at 30 September 2005 and 1 October 
2004.

Reconciliation of total equity

       At At
       30 September 1 October
       2005 2004
      Note $m $m

Total equity as previously reported under UK GAAP     978 895
IAS 19 Employee benefits      a 12 5
IFRS 2 Share based payments     b 2 –
IAS 38 Intangible assets      c 2 –
IAS 32/39 Convertible bond      e 3 4
IAS 32/39 Embedded derivative     e (41) (33)
IAS 32/39 Other receivables – HDSA loans     e (12) (13)
IAS 10 Events after the balance sheet date – dividends    f 60 60
IAS 8 Inventory valuation basis     g – (3)
Total equity in accordance with adopted IFRS     1,004 915
Overall net increase in equity under adopted IFRS     26 20

The following table presents a summary of the impact of adopted IFRS on the income statement for the year ended 30 September 
2005.     
     
Reconciliation of the income statement
     
     Adjustment Previously
     from reported under
    Previously UK GAAP UK GAAP Total  Restated
    reported under to adopted (adopted IFRS  adopted IFRS  under adopted
    UK GAAP IFRS format format) adjustment  IFRS
    $m $m $m $m $m

Revenue    1,128  –  1,128  –  1,128
Group operating profit    347  –  347  3  350
Share of profit of associate    6  (3) 3  –  3 
Operating profit/(loss)    353  (3) 350  3  353 
Finance income     2  2  9  11 
Finance expenses – Group    (27) (2) (29) (16) (45)
Finance expenses – Associate   (3) 3  –  –  – 
Profit/(loss) before taxation    323  –  323  (4) 319 
Income tax expense    (118) –  (118) –  (118)
Profit for the year    205  –  205  (4) 201 
Attributable to: 
– Equity shareholders of Lonmin Plc   163  –  163  (5) 158 
– Minority interest    42  –  42  1  43 
    205  –  205  (4) 201

Notes to the accounts
continued
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35	Transition	to	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	continued
The following table presents a summary of the impact of IFRS on profit after tax for the year ended 30 September 2005.

Reconciliation of profit after tax

        Year to
        30 September
        2005
       Note $m

Net profit after tax as previously reported under UK GAAP      205
IFRS 2 Share based payments      b (1)
IAS 38 Intangible assets       c 2
IAS 32/39 Convertible bond       e (1)
IAS 32/39 Embedded derivative      e (8)
IAS 32/39 Other receivables – HDSA loans      e 1
IAS 8 Inventory valuation basis      g 3
Net profit after tax in accordance with IFRS       201
Overall net decrease in profit after tax under IFRS      (4)

The most significant changes at the date of transition to IFRS for the Group between reporting on a UK GAAP basis and IFRS are 
as follows:

a Post-employment benefits
The Group operates a defined benefit retirement scheme in the United Kingdom. Under UK GAAP, independent qualified actuaries 
valued this on a regular basis every three years. Under SSAP 24 surpluses and deficits arising from the valuations were spread over 
the average remaining service lives of employees, with any difference between the profit and loss account charge and the 
contributions paid included as an asset or liability in the balance sheet where applicable. 

Under IFRS, the defined benefit retirement scheme is valued using the ‘projected unit credit method’. Following the amendment to 
IAS 19, Employee benefits, the Group has elected to recognise actuarial gains and losses in full in the period in which they occur in 
the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense. Therefore, upon transition the actuarial surplus as previously disclosed under 
FRS 17, Retirement benefits, are required to be fully recognised under IFRS. Past service cost is recognised immediately to the 
extent that the benefits have already vested, and is otherwise amortised on a straight-line basis over the average period until the 
benefits become realised. 

b Share based payment
IFRS 2, Share based payment, requires that share based employee benefits are expensed to the income statement based on their 
fair value, instead of the intrinsic value required under UK GAAP. Fair values for the Group schemes, which are all equity settled, 
were estimated using either the Black-Scholes European option pricing model or a Monte Carlo simulation model. The fair values 
are calculated on the date of grant of the awards and the total fair value is charged to income over the relevant vesting periods, 
adjusted to reflect expected levels of lapses and expected achievement of vesting conditions. For IFRS purposes share based 
payment costs are recognised in the income statement for the year ended 30 September 2005 of $2 million.

c Goodwill and intangible assets
i Goodwill
For UK GAAP purposes, goodwill arising on the fair value of the assets and liabilities of Eastern Platinum Limited and Western 
Platinum Limited purchased on 30 September 2004 was being amortised on a straight-line basis over 20 years.

In accordance with IFRS 3, Business Combinations, as from 1 October 2004 the carrying value of goodwill is treated as deemed 
cost at the transition date. Thereafter this balance is not amortised, but is instead annually tested for impairment, or more frequently 
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the goodwill might be impaired. 

Consequently, for IFRS purposes, all goodwill amortisation recognised under UK GAAP in the year ended 30 September 2005 
($2m) is reversed. No impairment was considered necessary.
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35	Transition	to	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	continued
ii Mining rights
For UK GAAP purposes, mining rights have been disclosed within tangible fixed assets. For IFRS purposes mining rights have been 
disclosed within other intangible fixed assets totalling as at 1 October 2004 $311 million and 30 September 2005 $286 million.

iii Software
During the year ended 30 September 2005 software was purchased and developed. Under UK GAAP these costs were capitalised 
and classified within property, plant and equipment.

In accordance with IAS 38, Intangible Assets, since the software is not an integral part of the related hardware this is classified as 
an intangible asset. This amounted to $11 million as at 30 September 2005. Amortisation will commence once the asset is in use.

d Properties
We currently accommodate 52% of our employees in hostels and married quarters with the remainder living in their homes. We are 
selling houses to employees to encourage home-ownership.

Under the UK GAAP the houses to be sold in the year ended 30 September 2006 remained classified within property, plant and 
equipment and measured at net book value. 

In accordance with IFRS 5, Non-Current Assets Held For Sale and Discontinued Operations, the houses to be sold within twelve 
months are classified as current assets held for sale and measured at the lower of the carrying amount and the fair value less costs 
to sell. This amounted to $16 million as at 30 September 2005.

e Financial instruments
i Convertible bond and embedded derivative
Under UK GAAP convertible bonds were valued at historical cost after deducting issue expenses. 

Under IFRS the convertible bonds are classified into two components. The debt element is included within non-current liabilities. 
The underlying liabilities are measured at net present value at the date of issue and recorded on an amortised cost basis. The 
equity conversion feature is regarded as a derivative. This is included at fair value within non-current liabilities, rather than equity, as 
there is a cash settlement option. Any changes in the fair value are taken through the income statement.

At the date of transition the interest rate swap associated with the convertible bond was recognised on the balance sheet at fair 
value and a corresponding adjustment made to the carrying value of the convertible bond to the extent it was hedged. The 
adjustment to the value of the bond is amortised over the life of the bond. The swap expired at 30 September 2005 and the swap 
was no longer recognised.

ii Loans to Historically Disadvantaged South Africans (HDSAs)
Under UK GAAP the loans to HDSAs were valued at historical cost less repayments. Under IFRS these are recognised at fair value 
and carried at amortised cost less impairment. The adjustment to bring the loans down to fair value amounted to $13 million as at 1 
October 2004 and $12 million as at 30 September 2005.

f Dividends
For UK GAAP purposes, the Group recognised proposed ordinary dividends payable in the period to which they related. In 
accordance with IAS 10, Events After the Balance Sheet Date, such dividends are only recognised when authorised by the 
shareholders or in the case of interim dividends, when they are paid. Proposed ordinary dividends payable as at 30 September 
2005 of $60 million under UK GAAP are not recognised as a liability under IFRS. Therefore, trade and other payables and retained 
earnings have been restated accordingly.

g Inventory Valuation
In May 2005 the Group changed the measurement basis of its in-process inventory from tonnage to metal content. This reduced in-
process inventory by $22 million. Under UK GAAP this was a change of accounting estimate so no adjustment was made to the 
opening position. 

On adoption of IFRS inventory has been measured on a metal content basis.

Notes to the accounts
continued
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35	Transition	to	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	continued
h Taxation
IAS 12, Income taxes, requires full provision for all taxable temporary differences. A temporary difference arises where there is a 
difference between the carrying amount of an asset or liability and its tax base. A temporary difference is taxable if it will result in 
taxable amounts in the future, when the carrying amount of the asset is recovered or the liability is settled. 

The main effect of IAS 12 is the recognition of the deferred taxation impacts of the other adjusting items arising on transition to 
IFRS. 

Income taxes paid during 2005 are classified as operating cash flows under IFRS but were included in a separate category of cash 
flows under UK GAAP. 

i Other impacts 
The following additional impacts result in changes in presentation and disclosures within the Financial Statements: 

I. Investments 
Under UK GAAP the Group disclosed $48 million of other investments as at 30 September 2005 (of which $41 million was 
considered to be fixed asset investments). Under IFRS these have been reclassified. Loans of $33 million to HDSAs which were 
valued at historical cost are recognised at fair value, carried at amortised cost less impairment and disclosed as non-current other 
receivables. At 30 September 2005, $15 million has been classified as other financial assets, representing Petrozim (private) Ltd., 
Furuya Metals Co Ltd. and the rehabilitation trust fund.

II. Share of profit of associate 
The Group’s share of operating profit, interest costs and tax were disclosed separately as part of operating profit, net interest 
payable and taxation under UK GAAP. For IFRS purposes the Group’s post tax share of profit from the associate, Incwala, is 
disclosed separately above profit before tax.

36	Principal	Group	companies	including	associate
The following companies have been consolidated in the Group accounts and materially contributed to the assets and/or results of 
the Group and are classified according to their main activity.

  Direct interest
  in ordinary Beneficial 
 Country of share capital interest  Principal 
Company incorporation % %  activities

Eastern Platinum Ltd. South Africa 82 82 Subsidiary Platinum mining
Western Platinum Ltd. South Africa 82 82 Subsidiary Platinum mining and refining
Messina Platinum Mines Ltd. South Africa 82 82 Subsidiary Platinum mining
Incwala Resources (Pty) Ltd. South Africa 24 24 Associate Ownership of platinum mining assets

A full list of Group companies will be included in the annual return registered with Companies House.
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        2005
       2006 (as restated)i
      Note $m $m

Fixed assets
Intangible asset      38 – 15
Tangible assets      39 1 1
Investments:       1,026 1,194
Subsidiaries      40 999 1,167
Other investments      41 27 27
Total fixed assets       1,027 1,210
Current assets
Debtors      42 586 346
Cash and short-term deposits       45 5
Total current assets       631 351
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year    43 (693) (670)
Net current liabilities       (62) (319)
Total assets less current liabilities      965 891
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year    43 (483) (498)
Convertible debt       (211) (210)
Derivative financial instruments      (268) (41)
Other loans       – (246)
Other       (4) (1)
Retirement benefit asset       6 12
Net assets       488 405
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital      45 143 142
Share premium account      45 26 12
Capital redemption reserve      45 88 88
Profit and loss account      45 231 163
Total shareholders’ funds (equity)     45 488 405

Footnote:
i The Company has adopted Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 17 Retirement benefits, FRS 20 Share-based payments, FRS 21 Events after the balance sheet 

date, FRS 25 Financial instruments: disclosure and presentation and FRS 26 Financial instruments: measurement. The comparative data has been restated 
accordingly. For further information see note 37.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 14 November 2006 and were signed on its behalf by:

Sir	John	Craven	Chairman J	N	Robinson	Chief Financial Officer

Lonmin Plc Company balance sheet
at 30 September
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Notes to the Company accounts

37	Accounting	policies	
Basis of accounting
The Lonmin Plc (the Company) balance sheet and related notes have been prepared in accordance with United Kingdom generally 
accepted accounting practice (“UK GAAP”) and in accordance with UK company law. The financial information has been prepared 
on a historic cost basis as modified by the revaluation of certain financial instruments. The following principal accounting policies 
have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered material in relation to the Company’s financial 
statements.

The Company’s functional currency is the US Dollar. The reporting currency is also the US Dollar. 

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption contained in Section 230(4) of the Companies Act 1985 from presenting its 
own profit and loss account.

Significant accounting policies
Intangible fixed assets
Other intangible fixed assets
Other intangible fixed assets are recorded at cost and are depreciated over their useful life in accordance with FRS 10.

Joint arrangements 
The Company has certain contractual arrangements with other participants to engage in joint activities that do not create an entity 
carrying on a trade or business of its own. The Company includes its share of the assets, liabilities and cash flows in such joint 
arrangements, measured in accordance with the terms of each arrangement, which is usually pro-rata to the Company’s interest in 
the joint arrangement.

Investments
Investments are held at fair value. Where no market value is available the carrying value of net assets less impairment is used. 

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are recorded at cost or valuation, which are not updated under the transitional arrangements of FRS 15 – 
Tangible fixed assets, less depreciation. Depreciation on fixed assets is provided on a straight line basis. Assets are depreciated 
over their estimated useful economic lives to residual value. Depreciation rates for the principal assets of the Company are as 
follows:

 Method Rate

Short term leasehold property Straight line Over the life of the lease (3 – 5 years)
Plant and equipment Straight line 10% – 33% per annum (3 – 10 years)

Tangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable. When a review for impairment is conducted, the recoverable amount is assessed by reference to the net present 
value of expected future cash flows of the relevant income generating unit or disposal value if higher in accordance with FRS 11.

Financial instruments
The Company’s principal financial instruments (other than derivatives) comprise bank loans, listed convertible bonds, investments, 
cash and short-term deposits.

Bank loans are recorded at amortised cost, net of transaction costs incurred, and are adjusted to amortise transaction costs over 
the term of the loan.

The Company has raised debt through the issue of convertible bonds. These bonds incorporate two key elements. Firstly, there is 
the financial liability in respect of the debt element. This is measured at net present value of future cash flows. Secondly, the bonds 
allow for conversion to equity at the option of the bond holder. This represents an equity embedded derivative. However, as the 
Company retains a cash settlement option this equity conversion feature is shown as a financial liability if the fair value is greater 
than the net present value of the debt. This embedded derivative is fair valued at each period end with changes in the fair value 
being taken through the income statement.
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37	Accounting	policies	continued
Leases
Assets acquired under finance leases are capitalised and the outstanding future lease obligations are shown in borrowings. 
Operating lease rentals are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided for on timing differences that have originated but not reversed by the balance sheet date on a non-
discounted basis. Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is more likely than not that there will be suitable 
taxable profits from which future reversal of the underlying timing differences can be deducted. 

Pension costs and other post-retirement benefits
The Company operates a number of defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes in accordance with UK regulations. 
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Company and are administered by trustees. Independent actuaries 
prepare valuations of these schemes at least every three years and in accordance with their recommendations the Company makes 
contributions which are charged to profits on a systematic basis over the expected remaining working lives of the employees. Any 
differences between the actuarial valuation of the obligation and the value of assets in a scheme are similarly charged or credited to 
profit before taxation over the expected remaining working lives of employees in the scheme. The cost of defined contribution 
schemes is charged to the profit and loss account as incurred. 

Share based payments
The Company has applied the requirements of FRS 20. In accordance with the transitional provisions, FRS 20 has been applied to 
all grants of equity instruments after 7 November 2002 that had not vested as at 1 January 2005.

The Company makes equity-settled share-based payments, which are measured at fair value at the date of grant. For those share 
schemes which do not include non-market vesting conditions, the fair value is determined using the Monte Carlo method at the 
grant date and expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting period, based on the Company’s estimate of shares that will 
eventually vest. The fair value of share options issued with non-market vesting conditions has been calculated using the Black 
Scholes model. For all other share awards, the fair value is determined by reference to the market value of the share at the date of 
grant. For all share schemes with non-market vesting conditions, the likelihood of vesting has been taken into account when 
determining the IFRS charge. Vesting assumptions are reviewed during each reporting period to ensure they reflect current 
expectations.

Share options and own shares held
In accordance with Urgent Issues Task Force Abstract 25 – National insurance contributions on share option gains (UITF 25) the 
Company provides in full for the employer’s national insurance liability estimated to arise on the future exercise of share options 
granted.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption offered in Urgent Issues Task Force Abstract 17 – Employee share schemes 
(UITF 17) from charging to the profit and loss account the discounts offered to employees partaking in such Company operated 
SAYE schemes.

As required under Urgent Issues Task Force Abstract 38 – Accounting for ESOP trusts (UITF 38) the cost to the Company of own 
shares held is shown as a deduction from shareholders funds within the profit and loss account. Consideration paid or received for 
the purchase or sale of the Company’s own shares in the ESOP trust is shown separately in the reconciliation of movements in 
shareholder’s funds.

Dividend reinvestment program
Under the Company’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan, shareholders can elect for the whole of their cash dividends to be reinvested in 
Lonmin Plc shares which are purchased on their behalf in the market. All cash dividends are paid to the Registrars who use the 
dividends of participants in the plan to fund these purchases. Accordingly, no new shares are issued, dividends are paid and 
accounted for in the normal way, and there are no special accounting requirements for the programme.

Notes to the Company accounts
continued
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37	Accounting	policies	continued
Changes in accounting policies
The following UK GAAP accounting policy changes have been made in the year:

FRS 17 Retirement benefits;
FRS 20 Share based payments;
FRS 21 Events after the balance sheet date;
FRS 25 Financial instruments: Disclosure and presentation; 
FRS 26 Financial instruments: Measurement; and
FRS 28 Corresponding amounts.

Adoption of FRS 17 Retirement benefits
For accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005, the Company is required to account for retirement benefit plans in 
accordance with FRS 17, and is required to apply the requirements of FRS 17 retrospectively. Accordingly, an asset of $6 million 
(2005 – $12 million) has been recognised on the balance sheet.

Adoption of FRS 20 Share-based payments
The Standard requires options granted to directors to be measured at fair value at grant date using an option pricing model and 
charged to the profit and loss account over the vesting period of the options. This accounting change has reduced net profit for the 
Company for the year ended 30 September 2005 by $0.2 million. Had the previous policy been applied in 2006, net profit would 
have been $2.7 million higher.

Adoption of FRS 21
For accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005, the Company is required to account for events occurring after the 
balance sheet date (FRS 21), and is required to apply the requirements of FRS 21 retrospectively. Accordingly, the 2005 final equity 
dividend of $60 million previously recognised at 30 September 2005 within creditors due within one year has been reversed since it 
was not declared at the balance sheet date. This has increased net assets at 30 September 2005.

Adoption of FRS 25 and FRS 26
For accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005, the Company is required to measure and disclose amounts defined 
as financial instruments in accordance with FRS 25 and FRS 26. The Company has chosen to restate comparative information. The 
impact of adopting FRS 25 and FRS 26 is discussed below:

Convertible bond:
i) Embedded derivative
On adoption of FRS 25 and FRS 26, the fair value of the embedded derivative was calculated. Subsequent movements in the fair 
value of the embedded derivative are recognized in finance costs in the profit and loss account.

The impact of this change was the recognition of a $41 million embedded derivative liability within other financial liabilities as at  
1 October 2005 and $268 million as at 30 September 2006.

ii) Underlying debt instrument
The fair value of the liability component was calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows under the terms of the 
instrument using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond.

The impact of this change was a reduction in the liability as at 1 October 2005 of $3 million.

The Company has not adopted amendments to FRS 26 in relation to guarantee contracts which will apply for periods commencing 
on or after 1 January 2006. Where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other 
companies within its Group, the Company considers these to be insurance arrangements, and accounts for them as such. In this 
respect, the Company treats the guarantee contract as a contingent liability until such time as it becomes probable that the 
Company will be required to make a payment under the guarantee. The Company does not expect the amendments to have any 
impact on the financial statements for the period commencing 1 October 2006.

The Company has also applied the following UK standards for the first time in 2006, however, this has not represented a change in 
accounting policy previously applied and it has not been necessary to restate any comparative information:

FRS 23 The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates;
FRS 28 Corresponding amounts. 

•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
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38	Intangible	asset

        Other
        intangibles
        $m

Cost:
At 1 October 2005        15
Disposals        (15)
At 30 September 2006        –
Amortisation:
At 1 October 2005        –
Charge for the year        –
At 30 September 2006        –
Net book value:
At 30 September 2006        –
At 1 October 2005        15

39	Tangible	fixed	assets

        Plant, machinery,
        fixtures and
        equipment
        $m

Cost:
At 1 October 2005        3
Additions        –
At 30 September 2006        3
Depreciation:
At 1 October 2005        2
Charge for the year        –
At 30 September 2006        2
Net book value:
At 30 September 2006        1
At 1 October 2005        1

40	Subsidiaries

        $m

Cost:
At 1 October 2005        1,229
Additions        21
Disposals        (170)
At 30 September 2006        1,080
Provisions:
At 1 October 2005        62
Increase        19
At 30 September 2006        81
Net book value:
At 30 September 2006        999
At 1 October 2005        1,167

Notes to the Company accounts
continued
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41	Fixed	asset	investments

       Loans
      Investments receivable Total
      $m $m $m

At 1 October 2005      5 22 27
Movement in fair value      2 (3) (1)
Additions      1 – 1
At 30 September 2006      8 19 27

42	Debtors

       2006 2005
       $m $m

Amounts falling due within one year:
Amounts owed by subsidiary companies      583 343
Other debtors       – 1
Prepayments and accrued income      1 1
Loans receivable       2 1
       586 346

43	Creditors

       2006 2005
       $m $m

Amounts falling due within one year:
Amounts due to subsidiary companies      676 661
Bank loans and overdrafts – unsecured      – 1
Other creditors       10 4
Accruals       6 4
Tax payable       1 –
       693 670

       2006 2005
       $m $m

Amounts falling due after more than one year:
Loans – US$3.75% convertible bonds due 2008 – unsecured    211 210
 – other unsecured    – 246
 – derivative embedded in the convertible bond    268 41
Other creditors       4 1
       483 498

Details of the loans are shown under notes 20 and 21.

44	Contingent	liabilities

       2006 2005
       $m $m

Third party guarantees  – sale of subsidiaries      3 2 
– bank financing      – 85

Vantage Capital Investments (note 25)      20 –
       23 87

Various indemnities were given by the Company following the purchase of the additional 9.11% in Eastern Platinum Limited and 
Western Platinum Limited and the investment in Incwala Resources. Further details of these can be found in note 25 to the 
accounts.

There were no contingent liabilities in respect of litigation. 
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45	Reconciliation	of	movements	in	equity	shareholders’	funds

    Issued Share Capital
    share premium redemption Profit and
    capital account reserve loss account Total
    $m $m $m $m $m

At 30 September 2005    142 12 88 141 383
Prior year adjustmenti    – – – 72 72
At 30 September 2005 as restated   142 12 88 213 455
Adoption of FRS 25 and FRS 26ii   – – – (50) (50)
At 1 October 2005    142 12 88 163 405
Profit for the financial year    – – – 193 193
Change in fair value of available for sale financial assets  – – – 2 2
Share based payment    – – – 3 3
Actuarial losses on post retirement benefit plan  – – – (6) (6)
Shares issued on exercise of share options   1 14 – – 15
Dividends    – – – (124) (124)
At 30 September 2006    143 26 88 231 488

i The prior year adjustment of $72 million related to the adoption of FRS 17, FRS 20 and FRS 21. Details are provided in note 37.
ii The key change in accounting policy on adoption of FRS 25 and FRS 26 is the separation of the equity conversion option with the convertible bond.

The audit fee in respect of the parent company was $0.1 million (2005 – $0.1 million).

The profit of the Company for the 2006 financial year amounted to $193 million (2005 – $181 million).

Details of shares held in the employee share ownership plan (ESOP) can be found in note 27 to the accounts.

46	Pensions
The movement in the scheme surplus during the year was as follows:

       2006 2005
       $m $m

Surplus in scheme at beginning of year      12  5 
Movement in year:
Current service cost        (1) (1)
Contributions        1  1 
Past service cost       – – 
Interest        2  1 
Actuarial (loss)/gain        (6) 6 
Translation exchange        (2) –
Surplus in scheme at end of year      6  12

See note 15 for further disclosures on the Company pension scheme.

Notes to the Company accounts
continued
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47	Other	information
Employees
The total numbers of employees of the Company at 30 September 2006 was 36 (2005 – 32). Total staff costs, excluding charges for 
share options, were $11 million (2005 – $11 million).

Total directors’ emoluments were $9 million (2005 – $10 million). These emoluments were paid for their services on behalf of Lonmin 
Plc Group. No emoluments related specifically to their work in the Company.

Details of the share schemes that impact the Company are disclosed in note 27 to the Group accounts.

Related party transactions
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS 8 – Related party disclosures, not to disclose related party 
transactions between subsidiary companies

Cashflow
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS 1 – Cash flow statements and has not prepared a cash flow 
statement.

Dividends
Details of the dividends paid in the year are included in note 9 to the Group financial statements

48	Post	balance	sheet	events
Details of post balance sheet events are disclosed in note 34.
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Consolidated Group five year financial record
for the year ended 30 September

Continuing	operations	excluding	acquisitions
 

    2006 2005 2004 2003ii 2002ii

    IFRS IFRSiii UKGAAPi UKGAAPi UKGAAPi

    $m $m $m $m $m

Income statement: 
Revenue    1,855 1,128 1,030 779 697
Operating profit (excluding associate and joint venture)  842 350 304 298 333
Underlying operating profit (excluding associate and joint venture) 830 362 262 298 333
Profit before taxation    633 319 290 291 332
Underlying profit before taxation   827 339 290 269 332
Attributable profit for the year    313 158 125 74 185
Underlying attributable profit for the year   445 168 137 123 150
Basic earnings per share (cents)   219.5 111.5 88.4 52.5 121.5
Underlying earnings per share (cents)   312.1 118.5 96.9 87.2 98.5

Balance sheet:
Non-current assets – property, plant and equipment  1,463 1,339 1,370 983 887
Non-current assets – other    677 559 133 292 294
Net current assets/(liabilities)    279 40 13 79 (6)
Net debt    (458) (585) (275) (197) (155)
Equity shareholders’ funds    1,089 838 744 645 671
Equity shareholders’ funds per share (cents)   764 591 525 457 476
Cost of dividend paid    124 102 102 101 101
Dividends per share paid (cents)   87.0 72.0 72.0 72.0 72.0
Dividend in respect of the year per share (cents)  100.0 72.0 72.0 72.0 72.0

Cashflow:
Cash flow from operating activities (trading cash flow)  506 279 324 227 181
Free cash flow    290 56 100 68 (7)
Trading cash flow per share (cents)   354.9 191.2 229.2 161.0 118.9
Free cash flow per share (cents)   203.4 39.5 70.7 48.2 (4.6)

Footnotes:
i For the years ended 30 September 2002 to 2004, the information has been presented on a UK GAAP basis. The nature of the adjustments that would be required 

to restate this information on an IFRS basis are presented in note 35 to the financial statements.
ii The 2003 and 2002 figures were restated in 2004 to show the investment in the Lonmin Employee Share Ownership Plan as a deduction from equity shareholders’ 

funds.
iii The balance sheet as at 30 September 2005 has been restated following the finalisation of fair values arising on the acquisition of Southern Platinum Corporation 

as disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements.
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Corporate information

Company	Secretary	and		
Registered	Office
Rob Bellhouse BSc FCIS
Lonmin Plc
4 Grosvenor Place
London
SW1X 7YL
United Kingdom
Tel: +44 (0)20 7201 6000
Fax: +44 (0)20 7201 6100
E-mail: contact@lonmin.com
www.lonmin.com

Registered in England and Wales
Company number 103002

Investor	Relations
Alexandra Shorland-Ball
(Vice President, Investor Relations & 
Communications)

Stockbrockers
United Kingdom:
JPMorgan Cazenove Limited
20 Moorgate
London
EC2R 6DA
Tel: +44 (0)20 7588 2828
Fax: +44 (0)20 7155 9000

Citigroup Global Markets Limited
Citigroup Centre
33 Canada Square
Canary Wharf
London
E14 5LB
Tel: +44 (0)20 7986 4000
Fax: +44 (0)20 7986 2266 

South Africa:
JPMorgan Equities Limited
1 Friker Road
Illovo
Johannesburg 2196
South Africa
Tel: +27 (0)11 507 0430
Fax: +27 (0)11 507 0502

North America:
BMO Capital Markets
1 First Canadian Place
5th Floor PO Box 150
Toronto
Ontario M5X 1H3
Tel: +1 416 359 4001
Fax: +1 416 359 4417
Web: www.bmo.com 

External	Auditors
KPMG Audit Plc
PO Box 695
8 Salisbury Square
London
EC4Y 8BB
United Kingdom
Tel: +44 (0)20 7311 1000
Fax: +44 (0)20 7311 3311

Registrars
Lloyds TSB Registrars
The Causeway
Worthing
West Sussex
BN99 6DA

UK Callers:
Tel: 0870 600 3970
Fax: 0870 600 3980
International Callers:
Tel: +44 (0)121 415 7047
Fax: +44 (0)1903 833371
Web: www.shareview.co.uk

Computershare Investor Services 
2004  
Pty Limited
Postal address:
PO Box 61051
Marshalltown 2107
South Africa
Tel: +27 (0)11 370 5000
Fax: +27 (0)11 688 5217 or 7707

Physical address:
70 Marshall Street
2001 Johannesburg
South Africa

ADR	Depository
The Bank of New York
ADR Shareholder Enquiries Dept.
PO Box 11258
Church Street Station
New York
NY 10286
USA

US Callers:
Tel: 1-888-BNY-ADRS (Toll free)
International Callers:
Tel: +1 212 815 3700
E-mail: shareowners@bankofny.com

ISA	Provider
Rensburg Sheppards Investment 
Management Limited
Corporate PEP and ISA Administration
The Plaza
100 Old Hall Street
Liverpool
L3 9AB
Tel: +44 (0)151 237 2160
Fax: +44 (0)151 255 1742
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Shareholder information

Lonmin’s shares are quoted on the London and Johannesburg 
stock exchanges, and ADRs representing Lonmin shares are 
also traded in an over-the-counter market in the USA.

UK	share	register	information
All holdings of the Company’s shares are maintained on the 
Company’s UK share register, with the exception of those held 
on the South African branch register. The register is 
administered by Lloyds TSB Registrars, who offer a range of 
shareholder information online, including facilities to check 
shareholdings, update personal details and cast votes at 
general meetings as well as providing practical help on 
transferring shares at www.shareview.co.uk. Up-to-date 
information on the Company is contained in the Company’s 
website at www.lonmin.com, which also includes a link to the 
registrars’ website.

South	African	branch	register	information
The South African branch register is administered by 
Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Pty) Limited.

Contact details for both registrars can be found in Corporate 
Information on page 85.

Dividends
Currency of dividends
The Company declares dividends in US Dollars. Subject to 
shareholder approval, the final dividend of 55 cents per share 
for the year ended 30 September 2006 will be paid on 9 
February 2007 to shareholders on the registers at the close of 
business on 12 January 2007. The dividend will be paid in 
Sterling to UK shareholders (unless they elect to receive US 
Dollar dividends) calculated at the US Dollar to Sterling 
exchange rate on 19 January 2007 and in Rand to 
shareholders on the SA branch register calculated at the US 
Dollar to Rand exchange rate on 28 December 2006. The 
dividend will be paid in US Dollars to all other overseas 
shareholders (unless they elect to receive Sterling dividends or 
have mandated their dividend payments to a UK bank or 
participate in TAPS). Elections to receive an alternative currency 
(US Dollars or Sterling) should comprise a signed request to 
Lloyds TSB Registrars at the address shown on page 85 to be 
received by 5.00p.m. on 12 January 2007. No transfers will be 
permitted between the UK principal register and the SA branch 
register from the date on which the Rand dividend is 
announced until the record date, both dates inclusive (i.e., the 
last day on which transfers between registers will be permitted 
is Wednesday 27 December 2006).

Dividend payment to your bank account
The Company can pay UK registered shareholders’ dividends 
direct to their bank or building society account. This means that 
dividends will normally be in shareholders’ accounts on the 
same day as the payment is made and tax vouchers will be 
posted to the shareholders’ registered addresses. Shareholders 
wishing to adopt this method of payment should contact the 
registrars.

Transcontinental Automated Payment System (TAPS)
TAPS permits shareholders resident in certain countries to 
receive dividend payments to their local bank and in their local 
currency. All eligible shareholders have been or will be sent 
information on TAPS by Lloyds TSB Registrars.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan
A Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRIP) is available through  
which eligible shareholders may invest the whole of their cash 
dividends in additional Lonmin Plc shares. Shareholders on  
the registers on the record date for the recommended final 
dividend, 12 January 2007, may participate in the plan in 
respect of that dividend, provided their application forms are 
received by 26 January 2007. Copies of the DRIP brochure  
and application form have been sent to eligible shareholders 
on the registers up to 8 July 2006 and are being sent to those 
who are newly entered on the registers between then and 
12 January 2007. Further copies are available from the 
registrars or can be downloaded from the registrars’ website.

American	depository	receipts	(ADRs)
The Company has a sponsored Level 1 ADR programme for 
which The Bank of New York acts as the depository. Each  
ADR represents one ordinary share of the company. The ADRs 
trade in the over-the-counter (OTC) market under the symbol 
LOMNY. When dividends are paid to shareholders, the 
depository makes the equivalent payment in US Dollars to  
ADR holders.

Contact details can be found in Corporate Information on  
page 85.

Further	information	for	UK	domiciled	shareholders
Capital	Gains	Tax
For capital gains tax purposes, shareholders disposing of 
shares in either Lonmin Plc or Lonrho Africa Plc after 7 May 
1998, who held shares prior to that date, should apportion the 
base cost of their original Lonmin Plc shares between the two 
companies. Based on the closing share prices on 7 May 1998 
of Lonmin Plc and Lonrho Africa Plc, this apportionment would 
be 80.498% for Lonmin Plc and 19.502% for Lonrho Africa Plc.

The Company’s capital reduction was completed on  
22 February 2002. For the purposes of assessing any liability 
to capital gains tax, UK shareholders should apportion 13.33% 
of the base cost of their original shareholding to the capital 
reduction and the balance to their new holding of ordinary 
shares of $1 each.
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The market price of Lonmin Plc ordinary shares at 31 March 
1982 was 38.9 pence (as adjusted for subsequent 
capitalisation issues), and 155.6 pence as adjusted for the 
consolidation of the Company’s shares on 24 April 1998 and 
125.3 pence as adjusted for the de-merger of Lonrho Africa Plc 
on 7 May 1998.

Lonmin Corporate Individual Savings Accounts (ISAs)
Rensburg Sheppards Investment Management Limited offers 
the Lonmin Corporate Stocks & Shares ISA (from which 
dividend income and capital gains are completely free of UK 
tax) for investment in Lonmin Plc shares. UK registered 
shareholders may subscribe to the Lonmin Corporate ISA up 
to a maximum currently of £7,000 annually for a maxi ISA (or 
alternatively one stocks-and-shares mini ISA of £3,000), by 
direct transfer of eligible employee shares and/or by sale and 
reinvestment of existing Lonmin Plc shares. Contact details can 
be found in Corporate Information on page 85. Rensburg 
Sheppards Investment Management Limited is regulated by 
the FSA.

This is not a recommendation that shareholders should 
subscribe to the ISA. The advantages of holding shares in an 
ISA vary according to individual circumstances and 
shareholders who are in any doubt should consult their 
financial adviser.

ShareGift
Lonmin is proud to support ShareGift, an independent charity 
share donation scheme administered by the Orr Mackintosh 
Foundation (registered charity number 1052686). Those 
shareholders who hold only a small number of shares, the 
value of which make them uneconomic to sell, can donate the 
shares to ShareGift who will sell them and donate the 
proceeds to a wide range of charities. Further information 
about ShareGift can be obtained from their website at  
www.ShareGift.org and a ShareGift transfer form can be 
downloaded from the Company’s website.

Warning	to	shareholders	
A survey by the Financial Services Authority (FSA) has reported 
that an increasing number of shareholders of UK listed 
companies are being targeted by individuals purporting to be 
legitimate brokers or financial advisors. 

Shareholders are advised to be very wary of any unsolicited 
advice, offers to buy shares at a discount or offers of free 
reports on the Company. 

If you receive any unsolicited investment advice: 
make sure you get the correct name of the person and 
organisation and make a record of any other information 
they give you, e.g. telephone number, address, etc.
check that they are properly authorised by the FSA before 
getting involved. You can check at www.fsa.gov.uk/register
the FSA also maintains on its website a list of unauthorised 
overseas firms who are targeting, or have targeted, UK 
investors and any approach from such organisations should 
be reported to the FSA so that this list can be kept up to 
date and any other appropriate action can be considered.  
If you deal with any unauthorised form, you would not be 
eligible to receive payment under the Financial Services 
Compensation Scheme. The FSA can, preferably, be 
contacted by completing an on-line form at www.fsa.gov.uk/
pages/doing/regulated/law/alerts/overseas.shtml or, if you 
do not have access to the internet, on 0845 606 1234.
inform the registrars on the relevant telephone numbers 
listed on page 85. They are not able to investigate such 
incidents themselves but will record the details and pass 
them on to the FSA.

•

•

•

•
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Our mission
To grow and build our portfolio  
of high quality assets.

To deliver the requirements of the 
South African broad based socio-
economic Mining Charter and we 
welcome the opportunity to 
transform our business.

To build a value-based culture, 
which is founded on safe work, 
continuous improvement, common 
standards and procedures, 
community involvement and one  
that rewards employees for high 
performance.

Sir John Craven
Chairman

November 2004

We are Lonmin, a primary producer of Platinum 
Group Metals. We create value by the discovery, 
acquisition, development and marketing of 
minerals and metals.

We respect the communities and nations that host our 
operations and conduct business in a sustainable, 
socially and environmentally responsible way.

We are successful when
Our employees live and work  
safely and experience the personal 
satisfaction that comes with high 
performance and recognition.

Our shareholders are realising  
a superior total return on their 
investment and support our  
corporate sustainability values.

The communities in which we 
operate value our relationships.

We are meeting our commitments 
to all business partners and our 
suppliers, contractors, partners and 
customers support our Charter.

Bradford A Mills
Chief Executive

Our values
Zero Harm
We are committed to Zero Harm  
to people and the environment.

Integrity, honesty and trust
We are committed, ethical people  
who do what we say we will do.

Transparency
Open, honest communication and  
free sharing of information.

Respect for each other
Embracing our diversity enriched by 
openness, sharing, trust, teamwork 
and involvement.

High performance
Stretching our individual and team 
capabilities to achieve innovative  
and superior outcomes.

Employee self-worth
To enhance the quality of life for  
our employees and their families  
and promote self-esteem.

Lonmin Charter

www.lonmin.com89 Lonmin Plc Annual Report 2006
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